
 

UNBC Board of Governors Public Agenda – May 30, 2015   Page 1 of 2 

 

 
                  BOARD OF GOVERNORS - PUBLIC SESSION AGENDA 

  

 Saturday, May 30, 2015     

 8:30 am – 10:30 am 

UNBC Senate Chambers 
 

 

Participants: 

Andy Clough, Carolee Clyne, Eric Depenau, Kathy Lewis, John MacDonald, Shannon MacKay, Judy Mason, 

Ryan Matheson, Harry Nyce Sr., Jonathan Swainger, John Turner, Daniel Weeks, Simon Yu 

 

UNBC Representatives (Non-Voting): 

Ranjana Bird (Vice-President Research), Eileen Bray (Vice-President Administration and Finance), Jack Falk 

(Consultant, Senior Advisor to the President), William Krane (Vice-President Academic and Provost), Rob van 

Adrichem (Vice-President External Relations), Denise Nagy (EA, Board of Governors - Recording)  

 

 

1. Chair’s Remarks 

NOTE: The Board of Governors Agenda for the Public Session consists of a consent agenda and a regular agenda. The consent  

agenda contains items that are routine and non-controversial, and discussion is not necessary. The consent agenda is moved 

and approved as a group. The Chair will inquire whether there are any items that need to be removed from the consent 

agenda and if so, these items will be placed on the regular agenda. The Chair will ask for approval of the items or motions 

on the consent agenda as follows: 

Motion: That the motions on the consent agenda, except for those removed for placement on the regular agenda, 

 be approved as presented. 

 

2. Approval of Agenda – page 3 

Regular That, the Agenda for the Public Session of the May 30, 2015 meeting of the Board of Governors be  

 approved, as presented. 

      

3. Approval of Minutes 

Regular a. March 27, 2015 – page 4 

That, the Public Session Minutes of the March 27, 2015 meeting of the Board of Governors be approved, as 

presented. 

 

4. Business Arising  

 

5. Human Resources Committee – Judy Mason, Chair 

Regular a. Currently Advertised Faculty Positions (discussion) – W. Krane – page 10 

Consent b. Harassment & Discrimination Report (information) – D. Weeks – page 14 

 

6. Finance and Audit Committee – Andy Clough, Chair 

Regular a. Enrolment Report (discussion) – W. Krane – page 17 

Consent b. Capital Projects Update (information) – E. Bray – page 22 

Consent c. Agreements, Scholarships, Bursaries & Awards (information) – W. Krane – page 25 

Consent d. Routine Capital Year End Report (information) – E. Bray – page 95 

Regular e. Northern Sport Centre Ltd. Financials (information) – E. Bray – page 98 

 

 



 

UNBC Board of Governors Public Agenda – May 30, 2015   Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 

 

Consent f. Debt Schedule Report (information) – E. Bray – page 102 

Regular g. Five Year Capital Plan (approval) – E. Bray – page 104 
That, on the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee, the Board of Governors approves the role over 

of the 2015/16 to 2019/20 Five Year Capital Plan for the University of Northern British Columbia, as presented. 

 

Consent h. Endowment Investment Portfolio Update (information) – E. Bray – page 118 

Consent       i.    Northern Sport Centre Annual Report (information) – E. Bray – page 123 

Regular  j. Financial Overview and Budget Framework 2015/2016 (approval) – E. Bray – page 125 

That, on the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee, the Board of Governors approves the 

Financial Overview and Budget Framework 2015/2016 for the University of Northern British Columbia, as 

presented. 

 

Regular  k. KPMG Audit Findings Report to March 31, 2015 (discussion) – E. Bray – page 168 

Regular  l. UNBC Financial Statements to March 31, 2015 (approval) – E. Bray – page 205 
That, on the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee, the Board of Governors approves the 

University of Northern British Columbia’s Financial Statements for the year ended March 31/15. 

 

Consent  m. FTE Audit Report to March 31, 2015 (information) – E. Bray – page 231 

Consent  n. Regional Operations Report (information) – W. Krane – page 236 

 

7. Governance Committee – Ryan Matheson, Chair 

 No Agenda items. 

 

8. Office of External Relations – Rob van Adrichem  

Regular a. Office of External Relations Report (discussion) – R. van Adrichem – page 259 
(i) Fundraising Report 

(ii) Communications with Stakeholders 
(iii) Report on Government Relations 

 

9. Office of Research – Ranjana Bird 

Regular a. Office of Research Report (discussion) – R. Bird – page 263 

 

10. President’s Report 

Regular a. Report on President’s Activities (information) – D. Weeks – page 265 

 

11. Chancellor’s Report – page 266 

12. Other Business 

Regular a. Change to the 2015 Board of Governors Meeting Schedule (approval) – D. Weeks – page 267 

That, on the recommendation of the President, the Board of Governors of the University of Northern  

British Columbia approves the change of the November 20 & 21. 2015 Board of Governors meeting dates to  

November 13 & 14, 2015.     

 

 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS – PUBLIC SESSION 

Approved for Submission: 

 

________________________ 

Dr. Daniel J. Weeks 

President and Vice-Chancellor 



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 30, 2015 

Agenda Item:  2. Approval of Agenda 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     X    Public Session 

Purpose:       Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction   X    Approval 

Prepared By: Denise Nagy, Executive Assistant, UNBC Board of Governors  

Reviewed By: John Turner, Chair, UNBC Board of Governors and the President’s Executive Council 

 

 

Material:  Agenda for the Board Public Session of May 30, 2015 attached. 

 

 

 

Issue:   

 

 

 

Background: 

 

 

 

Motion:  That, the Agenda for the Public Session of the May 30, 2015 meeting of the Board of Governors be 

approved as presented 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

3



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

 

Date: May 30, 2015 

Agenda Item:  3. Approval of Minutes – Public Session March 27, 2015 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session    X   Public Session 

Purpose:       Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction  X   Approval 

Prepared By: Denise Nagy, Executive Assistant, UNBC Board of Governors 

Reviewed By:  

 

 

Material:   

 

 

 

Issue:   

 

 

 

Background:   

 

 

 

Motion:   That, the Public Session Minutes of the March 27, 2015 meeting of the Board of Governors be                            

approved as presented. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

4



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 11, 2015 

Agenda Item:  5.a. Currently Advertised Faculty Positions 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session    X     Public Session 

Purpose:       Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction  X     Approval 

Prepared By: Joan Schneider, Executive Assistant, Vice-President Academic and Provost 

Reviewed By: Bill Krane, Vice-President Academic and Provost 

 

 

Material:  Memorandum attached. 

 

 

 

Issue:   

 

 

 

Background:   

 

 

 

Motion:   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

10



11



12



13



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 30,  2015 

Agenda Item:  5. b.  Harassment & Discrimination Report 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session    X    Public Session 

Purpose:   X   Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction      Approval 

Prepared By: Denise Nagy, Executive Assistant, Board of Governors 

Reviewed By: Daniel J. Weeks, President and Vice-Chancellor 

 

 

Material:  Attached for information. 

 

 

 

Issue:   

 

 

 

Background:   

 

 

 

Motion:   

 
 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

14



15



16



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 13, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6. a. Enrolment Report 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session   X    Public Session 

Purpose:       Information  X     Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Brenda Sitter, Executive Assistant to the Vice-President Academic and Provost 

Reviewed By: Bill Krane, Vice-President Academic and Provost 

 

 

Material:  Report attached. 

 

 

Issue:   

 

 

 

Background:   

 

 

 

Motion:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

17



18



19



20



21



Page | 1 
 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 13, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6.b. Capital Project Update 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session    x Public Session 

Purpose: X   Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Shelley Rennick, Director, Facilities Management 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

The Five Year Capital Plan 2015 – 2020 includes the following projects. 

 

 1/  Allied Health Sciences Building 

 2/  Facilities Management building c/w multi-purpose lab 

 3/  Engineering Program space – Repurposing 

 4/  Sustainable Communities & Bioenergy Expansion 

 5/  Residence Renewal 

 6/  International Education and Continuing Studies Building 

 7/  Charles Jago Northern Sports Centre Expansion 

 

UPDATE 

 

1/  Allied Health Sciences Building 

 

 Status: 

A consultant has been retained to provide a report to UBC, MAVED, and UNBC.  This report 

has not yet been received. 

 

2/  Facilities Management building c/w multi-purpose lab 

 

 Status: 

  There has been no further activity on this project since the last report. 

 

22



Page | 2 
 

3/  Engineering Program space – Repurposing 

 

 Status: 

  There has been no further activity on this project since the last report. 

 

4/  Sustainable Communities and Bioenergy Expansion 

 

Status: 

 

Sustainable Communities Demonstration Project – Phase 1  

 

The design of the building connections is nearing completion, and will go for installation tender over 

the summer 2015.  The final conversion of the residence buildings and Daycare will be postponed 

until summer 2016 to coincide with the balance of the residence renovation work.  The delivery lead 

time on mechanical equipment is such that it could not be on site in time for a summer 2015 

installation.  Connection of the EFL and resumed operation of the pellet boiler is anticipated for the 

fall of 2015.  The construction contractor for the underground piping (IDL Projects) will return in the 

next few weeks to complete the landscaping and interpretive trail construction between the 

Residences and the Bioenergy Plant. 

Total costs to date are $1,108,000 from a total project budget of $2.2 million. 

 

  

5/  Residence Renewal 

 

 Status: 

See separate report titled “UNBC Residence and Food Service Project Update” submitted by 

Ancillary Services. 

 

6/  International Education and Continuing Studies Building 

 

 Status: 

  The requirement for a building to house these activities has been put on hold.   

 

 

7/  Charles Jago Northern Sports Centre Expansion 

 

 Status: 

  There has been no further activity on this project since the last report. 

 

 

OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS 

 

Wood Innovation and Design Centre Update: 

 

The fit-out of the building is basically complete: all IT infrastructure, and nearly all the furniture has 

been delivered, installed and tested.  The specialized equipment for the research lab is still arriving, 

with several large items still on order.  The dust extraction system is nearing completion with final 

connections and the external enclosure still to be installed.  The Computer Numerical Controlled 

23



Page | 3 
 

(CNC) wood processing machine is on order, and scheduled for installation in August 2015.  Of the 

original $2.7 million budget $1,086,349 was approved for carry forward from the 2014/15 fiscal year 

to 2105/16.  Total invoicing to date is $1,791,000.  

 

Timeline:  Project completion is scheduled for September 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

24



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 13, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6. c. Agreements, Scholarships, Bursaries & Awards 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     X    Public Session 

Purpose:  X     Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction        Approval 

Prepared By: Brenda Sitter, Executive Assistant to the Vice-President Academic and Provost  

Reviewed By: Bill Krane, Vice-President Academic and Provost 

 

 

Material:  Report attached. 

 

 

 

Issue:  

 

 

 

Background:   

 

In accordance with the Terms of Reference for the Finance and Audit Committee, these recommendations 

from Senate are being forwarded to that Committee for approval, and to the full Board for information. 

 

 

 

Motion:   

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

 

Date: May 13, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6.d. Routine Capital Year End Report 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     X    Public Session 

Purpose: X Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Shelley Rennick, Director, Facilities Management 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

 

Material:  Attached are 2 reports.  The first is the final report for the Annual Capital Allowance (ACA) 

funds received up to 2012.  Minor capital repair funds are now called “Routine Capital”.  This is the second 

report that is attached.  Up until 2012 there was an ability to carry forward these funds - that is no longer the 

case.  We have now expended all funds from previous years. 

 

One item of note in the Routine Capital Report - We received an additional one-time lift of $138,000 in 

“Emergent Funds” to put towards the Agora handrail project to bring it up to code prior to the Canada Winter 

Games Closing Ceremony.  

 

We have not yet received the Routine Capital funding letter for this year but understand that the funding will 

be forthcoming and that the amount will be minimal ($241,653).   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

 

95



APPENDIX A

$0

$43,428

$43,428

Current Year Expenditures: General Emergent Project Total

Safer Campus $22,648 $0 $22,648
Disabled Access $0 $0 $0
Building Maintenance (1) $0 $0 $0
Initiative to Reduce Greenhouse Gases $0 $0 $0
Technology Infrastructure $0 $0 $0
Renovations $0 $0 $0
Pre-planning/Master Site Planning $20,781 $0 $20,781
Site Works  $0 $0 $0
Other (explain)  Error Correction Prior Year $0 $0 $0
Current Year Cash Spent on Committed Projects $43,428 $0 $43,428

ACA Cash Carried Forward:  Committed (2) $0 $0 $0
ACA Cash Carried Forward:  Un-Committed $0 $0 $0

Sub-Total ACA Cash Carried Forward $0 $0 $0

Total ACA Activity for Year 
(3)

$43,428 $0 $43,428

Deferred Capital 

Contributions 

(DCC)

Deferred 

Operating 

Contributions 

(DOC)

Total Deferred 

ACA

Opening ACA Balance (4) $0 $43,428 $43,428
ACA transferred between DCCs and DOCs $0 $0 $0
ACA amortized into revenue during the current year $0 -$43,428 -$43,428
Closing Deferred ACA $0 $0 $0

Notes:
(1)  Building Maintenance should be items that maintain and extend the life of the building.
(2)  Provide project list (on following tab) for committed contracts that are to be carried forward.
(3)  Total Expenditures + the Carry Forward should equal total ACA.

Institution Name: University of Northern British Columbia

(4)  Balances related to ACA should agree to those balances recorded in the institution's audited financial statements. 
Balances will not agree to financial statement total, but will form a portion of the cumulative total balance.

Ministry of Advanced Education

Post-Secondary Finance Branch - Capital Asset Management

ANNUAL CAPITAL ALLOWANCE (ACA) REPORT

For Fiscal Year ending March 31, 2015

Cash Basis Reporting

ACA Cash Balance, beginning of year: Committed

ACA Cash Balance, beginning of year: Uncommitted

Total ACA Budget

Accrual (Accounting) Basis Reporting

96



Ministry of Advanced Education

Capital Asset Reference Guide

Version 1.2  March 31, 2014

$296,934.53

$138,000.00 

Total Minor Maintenance & Rehabilitation Allocation 434,934.53$       

Reporting

Category

(choose from 

drop-down list)

VFA

Priority

1 to 5

(choose from

drop-down list)

Ministry

Priorities 

(choose from

drop-down list)

Description

           OUTCOMES ACHIEVED

Enter 1 or more applicable outcome:

- Reduced Life Safety Risks

- Reduced Occupational Health Risk

- Reduced Environmental Risk

- Reduced High Risk FCI (Baseline FCI v/s 

Revised FCI)

- Increased Operating Efficiencies

- Supported the BC Jobs Plan (provide

  explanation in comments field)

Comments Expenditure

Life Safety Not Applicable Reduces Life Safety Risks Misc. Fire Sprinkler Repairs Reduced Life Safety Risks 5,416$                

Life Safety Not Applicable Reduces Life Safety Risks Danger Tree Removal Reduced Life Safety Risks 9,009$                

Life Safety
Priority 5 - Does Not 
Meet Current Codes/ 
Standards

Reduces Life Safety Risks Upgrade Agora Courtyard Handrails Reduced Life Safety Risks 170,662$            

Building Maintenance Priority 2 - Potentiall 
Critical Reduces Life Safety Risks High Voltage Electrical Repairs Reduced Life Safety Risks 23,130$              

Building Maintenance Priority 3 - Necessary - 
Not Yet Critical Addresses High Risk FCI Admin Bldg 1st floor renovations Increased Operating Efficiencies 48,592$              

Building Maintenance Not Applicable Reduces Life Safety Risks Library south Elevator Repairs Reduced Life Safety Risks 10,556$              

Building Maintenance
Priority 4 - 
Recommended or 
Improvements

Increases Operating 
Efficiency Mechanical Upgrades - VSD's Increased Operating Efficiencies 58,790$              

Building Maintenance Priority 3 - Necessary - 
Not Yet Critical

Increases Operating 
Efficiency Building Controls upgrades/replacements Increased Operating Efficiencies 25,685$              

Building Maintenance Not Applicable Reduces Environmental 
Risk Mechanical Repairs - Misc. Reduced Environmental Risk 20,274$              

Site Works Not Applicable Reduces Environmental 
Risk Communications Manhole Drain Reduces Environmental Risk 24,327$              

Site Works Not Applicable Reduces Environmental 
Risk Repair of DDBGS Water Service Valve Reduces Environmental Risk 13,053$              

Building Maintenance Not Applicable Reduces Environmental 
Risk

Decommission Acid Neutralization Room 
and convert to Research Lab Reduces Environmental Risk 25,440$              

Total Minor Maintenance & Rehabilitation Expenditures 434,935$            

Institutions Additional Funding

Minor Maintenance and Rehabilitation Grant

Institution:  University of Northern British Columbia

For Fiscal Year Ending:  March 31, 2015

1 of 197



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 15, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6.e. Northern Sport Centre Ltd. Financials 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     x    Public Session 

Purpose:   X   Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction      Approval 

Prepared By: William Chew, Treasury Services Manager 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

 

MATERIAL: Please see attached 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

98



99



100



101



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

 

Date: May 19, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6.f. Debt Schedule Report 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     X    Public Session 

Purpose: X Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Colleen Smith, Director Finance & Budgets 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

 

Material:  Please see attached 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

 

102



University of Northern British Columbia
Section 58 Sinking Fund Debenture Debt
March 31, 2015

Section 58 Debenture Debt - Principal and Interest Payments (2014/15)

     Annual   Principal Semi-Annual Interest
Debenture Project Issue Maturity DEBENTURE Coupon      Principal Payment     Interest Payment
Issue Date Date Amount Interest Rate Payments Date   Payments Date

UNBC-MTN-34 Housing Ph II Oct 31/1994 Jun 09/2014 4,500,000 9.63% 98,334 Jun 09 216,563 Jun 09

UNBC-MTN-26 Housing Ph I Jun 17/1994 Jun 17/2019 * 3,000,000 9.00% 65,556 Jun 17 135,000 Jun 17
135,000 Dec 17

UNBC-MTN-26 Housing Ph I Jun 17/1994 Jun 17/2019 * 65,556 270,000

Total: 7,500,000 163,890 486,563

 * Issue UNBC-MTN-26 is a 25 year debenture.  Interest payments are over 25 years and the issue has a 20 year sinking fund; final sinking payment was June 17, 2014.

The University of Northern British Columbia
Section 58 Debenture Debt Liability & Sinking Fund Asset
Balances as at March 31, 2015

Sinking Fund Return Sinking Fund Add'n S.F. Unfunded
Debenture Project DEBENTURE Accumulated On  Market Value  Market Value Debenture
Issue Amount Principal Paid Sinking Fund  Mar 31, 2015  Mar 31, 2015 Liability

UNBC-MTN-34 Housing Ph II Matured Jun 09/14 0 0 0 0 0 0
UNBC-MTN-26 Housing Ph I 3,000,000 1,311,120 1,684,243 2,995,363 0 4,637

  Total: 3,000,000 1,311,120 1,684,243 2,995,363 0 4,637

Total SF: 2,995,363

Sinking fund is reported at fair value per CICA HB Section 3855. 

103



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 13, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6.g. Five Year Capital Plan  

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session   X  Public Session 

Purpose:      Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction   x   Approval 

Prepared By: Shelley Rennick, Director, Facilities Management 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

 

UPDATE 

 

Each year at this time the normal process is to review the Five Year Capital Plan and make any changes 

necessary to meet the needs of the Academic Plan.  As a result of the Academic Planning underway and the 

fact that there is very little, if any, capital funding going to be available from the Ministry this year, it is our 

recommendation that we continue to operate under the 2015 – 2020 Five Year Capital Plan for another year.   

 

Once we are further along in the Academic Planning process, we will undertake a comprehensive capital 

planning process to update the Five Year Capital Plan. 

 

 

 

Motion: That on the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee, the Board of Governors 

approves the Five Year Capital Plan for the University of Northern British Columbia as presented. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

104



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 1 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

FIVE YEAR CAPITAL PLAN 

2015/16 to 2019/20 

105



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Executive Summary 3 

Planning Assumptions 4 

Planned Outcomes 4   

Project List 5 

  

106



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 3 

 

FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL PLAN 

2015 - 2020 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The focus of this capital plan involves a combination of new buildings and re-purposed space 
to meet the anticipated needs and goals of the University and the Province (including 
economic development, jobs, families, and health) in the next five years.  The new buildings 
include facilities for expanded Health Sciences, and a new Facilities Management building.  
The new infrastructure includes expanding our Bioenergy program to include additional 
buildings outside the ring road.  This will maximize the use and efficiency of our current 
systems in preparation for further development of the Sustainably Communities initiative, and 
reduce future capital equipment replacement needs.  The third initiative is the re-purposing of 
current space to accommodate Engineering needs. 
 
 
Our Goals 
 
The University is eager to build on the foundation already established to make UNBC the best 
among like universities.  To achieve this, we have identified the following goals: 
 

 As Canada’s Green UniversityTM, to be a leader in renewable energy. 
 To engage all of our undergraduate students in research or experiential learning. 
 To enrich the learning experience through new pedagogical models. 
 To increase the impact of our research through enhancing capacity and building 

external linkages. 
 To encourage a respectful, supportive, exciting, and friendly environment throughout 

the University. 
 To transform our communities through the contributions of our alumni. 

 
 
Our Priorities 
 
The University Plan 2010 also includes the following as areas of priority: 
 

 Health and Quality of Life 
 Northern Community Sustainability and Development 
 Innovative distributed delivery of programs 
 Environment & Natural Resources 
 First Nations and Indigenous Issues 

 
 

107



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 4 

PLANNING ASSUMPTIONS 
 
Since its inception, UNBC has been characterized by periods of intense development and 
construction, growth in student population, and expansion in areas of direct relevance to British 
Columbia and northern communities. The immediate future is expected to be characterized by 
gradual growth in overall student enrolments, and integration of renewable energy consistent 
with the branding of UNBC as Canada’s Green University. New programs in Engineering and 
Physiotherapy have also been documented as tremendous needs in the region. 
 
An update to the University Master Plan for the Prince George campus has recently been 
completed consistent with this future vision of UNBC. This plan outlines development 
opportunities for expansion around the Bioenergy Plant at the western edge of the campus, 
and strengthens language related to sustainability. As always, the Master Plan will shape our 
approach to campus development. 
 
All projects are also developed in accordance with Ministry guidelines including LEED 
requirements and the Wood First Initiative. 
 
 
PLANNED OUTCOMES 
 
Within this five-year planning horizon, UNBC will celebrate its 25th anniversary (in 2015). This 
marks an exciting opportunity to chart a course for the future. While it would be accurate to 
characterize the last decade for expansion in the health sciences (Northern Medical Program 
and 700% increase in Nursing enrolments, for example), this decade for UNBC may come to 
be defined by sustainability, particularly for the communities dependent on the resource wealth 
of the North. This would involve building on the recent bioenergy and “infrastructure loop” 
projects and adding other renewable energy sources, programs and research to foster wood 
and forest product innovation, and engineering. 
 
As UNBC approaches its 25th anniversary in 2015, there is a special opportunity to enhance 
UNBC’s role as an institution that has transformative power for its region and the province as a 
whole. Much can be achieved through targeted capital investment directed by Government’s 
priorities and aligned with the University’s mission and strategic direction.  
 

 UNBC is uniquely positioned to deliver on Government’s priorities and the needs of the 
region: engineers – a new program in re-purposed space 

 Allied health service professionals – new programming in new space 
 Sustainable communities rooted in local energy production that provides social, 

environmental, and economic benefits – building on the University’s existing 
infrastructure and bioenergy platform  

 
The intent is to be able to meet the identified programming needs with a phased-in capital 
program over the next five years.   
  

108



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 5 

Category 1:  New Priority Projects and Category 2:  Whole Asset 
Replacement and Renewal Projects 
 

1.0 Current Situation 
 
This project would entail an expansion to the current Dr. Donald Rix Northern Health 
Sciences building (NHSB).  A number of synergies can be gained by combining the 
added Health Sciences programs with the medical program space and staff.  The NHSB 
was also originally designed for expansion and therefore has mechanical and electrical 
system capacity to facilitate an expansion. 
 

2.0 Project Description 

Planning, in conjunction with UBC, has continued and further refined the space 
requirements for Allied Health Sciences programming resulting in 1,986 nasm being 
required.  “While the current assessment examined the possibility of leveraging existing 
UNBC and Northern Medical Program facilities to support the distribution of OT and PT, 
it revealed that existing infrastructure does not have sufficient capacity to host 
approximately 100 students, faculty and staff on a permanent basis” (UBC Faculty of 
Medicine Initial Assessment report).  Therefore, it is proposed that a new building be 
constructed to accommodate the programming identified. 
 

3.0  Project Objectives 

The North is a strategically vital region and one of the economic engines of BC.  
Developing a building to enable health professions education at UNBC will complement 
and reinforce the presence of the MD program, and create a true regional hub of health 
education.  Moreover, a health professions building at UNBC will honour space 
adjacencies required for effective program delivery, can serve as an education and 
research center, and will play a key role in the recruitment and retention of health 
professionals in the North.  Recent data shows that there will be a shortage of PTs and 
OTs in the north with retirements exceeding new appointments.  While it is primarily 
planned to host the OT and PT programs, it will also provide a modest footprint in the 
North for the Midwifery and SLP programs in the form of office space.  The new space 
will also enable inter-professional collaboration and achieve significant economies of 
scale through space sharing. 
 

4.0 Options Considered 
 

Institution 

University of 

Northern 

British 

Columbia 

Campus/City 

Prince George 

Project Title 

Allied Health Sciences Building 

Project 

Category 

(1 or 2) 

1 

Project 

Priority  

 

1 of 4 

 

109



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 6 

Sharing current medical education space was evaluated and deemed not viable due to 
the types of space required, the scheduling complexities of the medical program, and 
the lack of office space available. 
 
Re-purposing other space on campus was also considered however not viable with the 
re-purposing of space for Engineering that is proposed. 
 

5.0 Project Outcomes 

Capital expansion is necessary to accommodate programming in the Allied Health 
Sciences.  These professions are in short supply in the North.  UNBC’s track record is 
such that an increase in programming is a critical investment in order to produce 
graduates who have both the skills and inclination necessary to work in northern and 
rural communities. 
 

6.0 Project Cost/Funding 

Capital: 
The investment required to develop a new facility at UNBC to host distributed PT and 
OT cohorts is estimated at approximately $22 million.  A lesser amount has been 
identified in the UBC Faculty of Medicine Initial Assessment report, however, as 
identified in the report “this estimate is preliminary and has not been thoroughly vetted 
by all OT, PT, UBC, and UNBC representatives”.   Applying the functional program to 
the Ministry budget model with Prince George as the location has resulted in a Project 
Budget of just under $22 million. 
 
Operating: 
Incremental operating funding will be required to cover the increased FTE.  These 
discussions are ongoing and a submission will follow under separate cover. 
 

7.0 Key Risks  

There are always certain risks associated with building a new facility such as escalation 
in costs, and schedule delays.  There are also inherent risks in program expansion and 
clinical placement capacity for health programs.  Each of these will need to be carefully 
considered during the detailed planning stages. 

 
8.0 Project Schedule  

 

Detailed Planning 2014 

Design   2015 

Construction  July 2015- August 2016 

Occupancy  September 2016 

  

110



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 7 

 

1.0  Current Situation 

The current Maintenance Shop was built in 2003 to meet the needs of the Facilities 
Department at the time.  Since then the University’s maintenance needs have changed 
and expanded and the required facilities have not kept pace with growth.  Category 9 
(Maintenance) of the Space Inventory is currently at 68% of the BC space standard and 
has been steadily declining as the campus grows. 

In addition, recent safety reviews have identified a number of code and regulatory 
issues that require infrastructure changes and upgrades.  These include ventilation for 
welding, dust collection and management, and electronic access to WHMIS information.  
This replacement will also eliminate the VFA deferred maintenance requirements listed 
for this building (approx. $100k) during the timeframe of this plan. 

The current shop is also located on land that is adjacent to the campus ring road and is 
thus ideally situated for facilities that require student and public access.  The site has 
also been identified as a good candidate for future expansion to accommodate 
Engineering programming.   

2.0  Project Description 

The plan is to redesign, expand (from the current 352 SM) and relocate the shop(s) to 
accommodate the current Facilities Management needs; take advantage of the 
Bioenergy plant surplus heat, replacing the current propane fuel; and consolidate 
distributed staff.  The project will also build replacement shop and storage space that is 
slated for repurposing for Engineering lab space.  A detailed analysis is currently 
underway to determine the best location based on traffic requirements and 
infrastructure available. This will provide space for 35 FM staff. 

3.0 Project Objectives 

a) To meet the desired and required safety requirements of the staff. 
b) To provide the additional trades space required to meet the needs of the expanded 

campus and additional maintenance needs of the campus. 
c) To consolidate the shops and maintenance areas to gain operational efficiencies. 
d) To consolidate Facilities Management staff who are currently spread out across the 

campus in five different locations. 

Institution 

University of 

Northern 

British 

Columbia 

Campus/City 

Prince George 

Project Title 

Facilities Management Building c/w 
multi-purpose lab/shop. 
 

Project 

Category 

(1 or 2) 

2 

Project 

Priority  

 

2 of 4 

111



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 8 

e) To minimize space required and maximize its use by combining Facilities Shop 
needs with the need for Engineering lab/shop space. 

 
4.0 Options Considered 

Due to the “tin shed” type of building currently in place and the prime location for 
academic buildings, expanding or upgrading the current facility was not an option. 

Maintaining the status quo is also not an option due to the expanded operating 
requirements and safety concerns. 

5.0 Project Outcomes 

It is anticipated that this will provide increased effectiveness and efficiencies amongst 
the Facilities Management (FM) department and better serve the long term needs of the 
University. 
 
This project will also address the identified life-safety and occupational health risks. 
 
To facilitate the re-purposing of some space for the Engineering program and combine 
shop and lab space to meet the needs of both FM and the initial Engineering 
programming. 
 

6.0  Project Cost/Funding 

Capital: 
 
Due to the inability to find willing partners for a project of this type, the University is 
requesting 100% of the funding from the Ministry. 
 
A preliminary cost estimate of the required functional plan is currently being sought.  We 
expect to have this information before the end of June 2014.  
 

7.0  Key Risks 

There are always certain risks associated with building a new facility such as escalation 
in costs, schedule delays and the coordination of swing space during construction.  
These risks will be factored into the detailed planning. 

 
8.0  Project Schedule 

Planning  2014/15 
Design  2015 
Construction  2016-2017 
Occupancy  2017 

  

112



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 9 

 
1.0 Current Situation 

We do not have appropriate space to offer the planned undergraduate Engineering 
expansion in current space and are therefore proposing to repurpose space in the 
Teaching & Learning building and the Teaching Lab.   

2.0 Project Description 
 
To provide the space required for the planned Engineering school a two-phased 
approach is proposed.  Phase 1 includes re-purposing current space for expanded 
Environmental Engineering and offering Civil Engineering.  Phase 2 (proposed for 2020) 
includes a new building for the “School of Engineering” which will include Mechanical 
and Electrical Engineering as well. 
It is anticipated that this re-purposing of space will house 100 FTE (40 undergraduates 
in each of the two disciplines and 20 graduate students). 

 
3.0 Project Objectives 

 Recent labour market surveys (2008 ATEEC Report) indicates shortfalls of 
approximately 200 engineers, particularly in the North (Civil, Electrical and 
Mechanical).  They also note that should the resource extraction activity accelerate (as 
it has and will continue to do so under the BC Jobs Plan), this will be an under estimate 
of the engineers required. 

 This project aligns directly with UNBC and Governmental priorities and strategies, by 
training youth for high quality and exciting employment opportunities in the industries 
that have been identified as a driving force for BC’s economic development.   

 

4.0 Options Considered 

Offering expanded engineering offerings in the current space is not viable due to the lab 
and project room requirements. 

Building a new building immediately to house the program(s) is not currently viable. 

5.0 Project Outcomes 
 Infrastructure Improvements 
 Cost Effectiveness 
 Innovation, Strategic Alignment & Quality Education 

Institution 

University of 

Northern 

British 

Columbia 

Campus/City 

Prince George 

Project Title 

ENGINEERING PROGRAM SPACE – A 

Repurposing Project 

Project 

Category  

2 

Project 

Priority  

3 of 4 

113



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 10 

UNBC’s track record has demonstrated that students educated in the North tend to stay 
in the North, while those educated elsewhere tend to use the North as a training ground, 
and leave the North when they have experience.  This is a huge strain on our Northern 
industries, which can be alleviated by programs in the North.  Anecdotally, some local 
firms have relied on “southern” University graduates in the past, and have moved 
exclusively to UNBC graduates, as they tend to remain in the North as they gain 
experience.  UNBC annually provides more university graduates for the North than all 
other BC universities combined. 

 
6.0 Project Cost/Funding 

Major Capital Funding: 

The repurposing of this space is dependent upon the new FM building going ahead.  
Therefore, once that has been notionally approved, project costing will be undertaken 
on the Engineering space. 

Operating Funding: 

Additional FTE funding will be required.  A separate report on the details of the 
operating funding required will be forthcoming. 

 
7.0 Key Risks 

There is always a risk on the enrolment side when undertaking a new program however 
the market research information from the Engineering community supports the program. 

 
8.0 Project Schedule 

 
Planning  2014/15 
Design  2015/16 
Construction  2016 - 2017 
Occupancy  2017 

  

114



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 11 

 
1.0   Current Situation 

When UNBC installed the wood pellet system at the I.K. Barber Enhanced Forestry 
Laboratory (EFL), it was the first university in Canada to have an operating bioenergy 
system on campus. In 2011, the Bioenergy Plant opened, and the first year of operation 
saw UNBC exceed its expectations related to energy production and emissions. The 
opportunity exists to continue building on this platform to make the Prince George 
campus a model for renewable energy and its integration with teaching, research, the 
built environment, housing, food production, public education, and forest sustainability.   
 
Phase 1, a partnership between the Ministry of Advanced Education, Industry and the 
University to connect the Residences and the Daycare to a new district energy system 
is currently underway. 

 

2.0 Project Description 

Phase 2 involves the expansion of the Bioenergy Plant and the addition of facilities for 
on-campus food production. The scale and scope of these facilities will be dependent 
on the new energy system and the potential to also capture waste heat from the existing 
Bioenergy Plant. It’s likely that facilities will be built for crops, medicinal plants, and on-
land fish farming, utilizing a broad range of UNBC academic programs, the existing 
EFL, and demonstration needs for rural communities and industry.  
 
 

3.0 Project Objectives 

Objective 1: To continue developing UNBC as a model for renewable energy 
implementation, especially in rural, resource-based communities and industry. 
 
Objective 2: To strengthen UNBC’s brand as Canada’s Green University to attract 
students, employees, research funding, and public support.  
 
Objective 3: To utilize UNBC’s undeveloped lands in ways that will bring value and 
increase the University’s national reputation.  
 

  

Institution 

University of 
Northern 
British 
Columbia 

Campus/City 

Prince 
George 

Project Title 

Bioenergy Expansion and Modelling of 
a Sustainable Community 
 

Project 

Category 

(1 or 2) 

1 

Project 

Priority  

 
4 of 4 

115



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 12 

4.0 Options Considered 

A detailed analysis of the options regarding the crop and other community sustainability 
options and how they integrate with UNBC academic programming will continue to 
evolve during the planning process.  

5.0 Project Outcomes 

More than 600 communities across Canada are reliant on forests and nearly 200 burn 
diesel to generate energy. UNBC is ideally situated to be a model for them. The campus 
systems would be designed for deployment potential and students/alumni trained in 
them would be well-positioned to implement similar systems in communities and 
industrial sites.   
 

6.0 Project Cost/Funding 

Capital: 
 
Detailed costing on the capital requirements will be carried out as specific components 
are further developed. 
 
This project will have significant operating costs as well. 
 
Fundraising feasibility is currently underway with an eye to identifying potential donors 
for this project. 
 

7.0 Key Risks 

The continued low cost of on-grid energy from natural gas and electricity affects the 
business case to develop bioenergy on campus. Nevertheless, the primary purpose of 
the demonstration is rural, forest-based, off-grid communities where the cost of energy 
is often higher and insecure, the carbon footprint of generating energy is higher, and 
where job creation opportunities are paramount.  

UNBC’s unique experience with bioenergy and fuel sourcing/delivery makes the 
continued development of this opportunity of lesser risk at UNBC than elsewhere. Other 
risks will be identified and mitigated as planning progresses. 

8.0 Project Schedule 

Phase 2: 
 
 Planning  2014-2016 
 Design  2016/17 
 Construction  Dependent on funding 
 Occupancy  TBD 

  

116



 

UNBC –Five Year Capital Plan – June 2014 Page 13 

MAJOR SELF-FUNDED (>$5 MILLION) PROJECTS 

1. Residence Renewal 
 
As part of an overall review of Ancillary Services the University has undertaken a new student 
service that includes a revised Meal Plan program, a redesign of the current Food Services 
area and an upgrade to the Residence Buildings.  This major overhaul will take place over the 
next 2 to 3 years and will involve a complete renovation to the majority of the residence suites.  
This will increase revenue and address a number of VFA requirements (current FCI is 0.19 = 
poor condition) and substantial ongoing maintenance. 

2. International Education and Continuing Studies Building 

Since the last Five Year Capital Plan, UNBC did conduct initial consultations regarding an 
English Langue Studies and Continuing Studies Building (Fall 2012).  At the time, it was 
determined that we could not self-finance this building.  We have continued to review current 
and prospective space needs for International Education (a new unit that combines both our 
English Language Studies and International Student Programs and Exchanges operations), 
Continuing Studies, and Conference Services. The previous limitation all three units had in 
their ability to expand their operations continues to persist and has increased.  The 
consequence of this pressure related to an inability to utilize dedicated space directly impacts 
their ability to grow revenues.  This is further compounded because positions critical to grow 
the business cannot be added.  Therefore the ability to properly manage growth is not a 
reality.  Their presence on the UNBC campus also adds additional strains for much needed 
space by their academic colleagues.   

 Results of this work clearly illustrate that increasing specific capacities, through the creation of 
additional space and increasing human capital, of the three units, will allow for the self-
financing of a new building.  

With the approval of the Board of Governors, it is anticipated that this planning and design 
work could commence and be completed over the next two years and construction take place 
in 2018. 

3.  Dr. Charles Jago Northern Sport Centre (NSC) Expansion 

The NSC continues to build on its partnership with the City and the facilities offerings.  This 
business development has resulted in the building reaching its capacity.  The University is 
currently exploring options for NSC expansion and will provide a feasibility study that aligns 
with the City and UNBC Master Planning efforts, to the NSC Board in late 2014. 
 

117



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 15, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6. h. Endowment Investment Portfolio Update 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     x    Public Session 

Purpose:   X   Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction      Approval 

Prepared By: William Chew, Treasury Services Manager 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

 

This report is to provide some background on the UNBC Endowment Investment Portfolio and to 

update the Board on the status, performance, and any changes in investment structure or investment 

policy.  The rate of return and performance results as well as fund balance and asset mix information 

is based on information to fiscal year end March 31, 2015.   The one year return to March 31, 2015 

was 10.0% and the four year annualized return was 9.1%.  The endowment fund market value balance 

at March 31, 2015 was $72.1 million, including the Northern Medical Programs Trust (NMPT) of 

$9.6 million. 

 

 

ENDOWMENT INVESTMENT FUND 

 

The Endowment Investment Fund is a result of years of philanthropy where donors have provided 

gifts to benefit specific areas of UNBC’s activities in perpetuity.  Some of these gifts have been 

augmented by Provincial match funding.   Investment returns from the endowment are used to fund 

activities, to fund capital maintenance, and to cover management expenses.   The endowment 

composition of the major areas of activity support is as follows:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

118



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

Endowment Composition 

Endowment - Activities Market Value % 

   @ Mar 31, 2015   

Student Awards  $                            20,906,996  29.0% 
Library 2,049,585  2.8% 
Program support 3,984,461  5.5% 
Northern Medical Programs Trust 9,571,623 13.3% 
Research                               35,636,481  49.4% 
Total Endowments  $                            72,149,146  100.0% 

 

Individual endowments are governed by the terms and conditions of the donor agreement.  The 

endowment fund market value at March 31, 2014 was $64,075,718.  Donations in 2014/2015 totaled 

$2,489,558, including donations to the NMPT. 

 

 

LEGAL FRAMEWORK FOR INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT OF ENDOWMENT 

 

Under Section 57 of the University Act universities are authorized to make investments that a 

“prudent person” would make.  Investment guidelines for the University are defined in the Investment 

Policy Statement. 

 

 

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 

 

The Investment Committee is a sub-committee of the Finance and Audit Committee of the Board of 

Governors.  It is made up of four (4) internal, six (6) external, and two (2) ex-officio members.  Some 

of the functions carried out by the Committee include: 

 

1. Setting endowment objectives and policies 

2. Setting spending policy 

3. Determining asset allocation  

4. Selecting investment managers 

5. Identifying and examining risks 

6. Evaluating investment costs 

7. Examining roles and responsibilities  

 

 

INVESTMENT MANAGERS 

 

The Investment Committee had examined various asset classes, asset mixes, investment managers 

and styles in determining the investment portfolio.  Four investment managers are employed in carry 

out investing activities of the portfolio.  Gryphon Investment Counsel Inc.  and Letko Brosseau & 

Associates Inc. manage investing in bonds, Canadian and global equities with offsetting investment 

styles (growth and value) in institutional pooled balanced funds.  Wellington Financial, Trez Capital, 

and Clairvest Group manage limited partnership (LP) investments. Trez Capital also manages an 

open-ended mutual fund unit trust.  Trez Capital LP and Clairvest Group LP were added to the 

portfolio in 2015. The composition of the portfolio is designed to maximize returns given a moderate 

119



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

level of risk.  Preservation of the capital value of the endowments is one of the most important 

investment objectives. 

 

The endowment portfolio consists of the following: 

 

Investment Manager % Mandate 

Gryphon Investment Counsel Inc 42.3% Fixed income, Cdn & Global Equities 
Letko Brosseau & Associates Inc 48.4% Fixed income, Cdn & Global Equities 
Wellington Financial LP 2.4% Fixed income – Private Debt 
Trez Capital Inc & Trez Capital LP 6.6% Fixed income - Mortgages 
Clairvest LP 0.3% Global Equities – Private Equities 
Total 100.0%   

 

Daily investing activities are made by investment managers but the overall asset mix must remain 

within investment policy parameters set by the University.  The table below compares the asset mix 

allocation for the two years.  Real assets are investments such as real estate and infrastructure. 

 
Asset Class Asset Mix Asset Mix   Investment Policy 

  Mar 31/15 Mar 31/14 Min Max 

Equities - Cdn 23.3% 25.1% 10% 50% 
Equities - Global 37.1% 37.4% 10% 50% 
Fixed Income 32.6% 32.1% 30% 55% 
Real Assets 0.0% 0.0% 0% 35% 
Cash 7.0% 5.4% 0% 7% 
Total 100.0% 100.0%     

Source:  API Asset Performance Inc on Asset Mix 

 

 

 

ENDOWMENT INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE 

 

 

Annualized and annual rates of return for the Endowment Investment Portfolio are shown in tables 

below:   

 

Description 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 

Annualized Return (Mar 31) 10.0% 14.8% 13.2% 9.1% 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

120



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 

Annual Rates of Return – (Pre-fee) 

Annual Return (Mar 31) % Benchmark Median 

2015 10.0% 12.4% 11.7% 
2014 19.9% 13.8% 15.4% 
2013 10.0% 8.0% 8.5% 
2012 -2.3% 1.4% 1.0% 
2011 10.1% 10.9% 11.0% 
2010 24.3% 20.70% 21.80% 
2009 -16.7% -16.80% -15.50% 
2008 -2.3% -0.90% -1.10% 
2007 13.2% 9.70% 10.0% 
2006 15.2% 15.1% 13.9% 
2005 7.9% 7.4% 8.1% 
2004 24.3% 23.6% 23.0% 
2003 -11.6% -11.0% -9.9% 

Source:  API Asset Performance Inc. 2003 - 2015 

 

Annual rates of return fluctuate but annualized return is the key measure for the determination of 

sustainable spending.  

 

Performance measurement is provided by an independent consultant, API Asset Performance Inc., as 

to the rates-of-returns and fund performances to their respective fund universes.   Investment risk is 

also evaluated based on risk versus return.   

 

In terms of the portfolio performance among the balanced fund universe, the fund’s one year return of 

10.0% ranks 72nd percentile (ranking 72nd out of 100) and the four year annualized return of 9.1% 

ranks 55
th

 percentile.  In 2013/14, the annual return for the portfolio ranked 8
th

 percentile.  The four 

year moving annualized return of 9.1% nearly matched the median portfolio performance of 9.3% and 

outperformed the passive portfolio of 8.8%.  Long term investing is the focus.    

 

 

ENDOWMENT SPENDING 

 

Endowment spending is a function of two (2) components: 

 

 1.  Sustainable spending 

 2.  Intergenerational equity 

 

Sustainable spending: 

 

The 2014/2015 spending rate was 3.5% of the market value of the endowment based on a 3 year 

rolling average.  Long term investment returns are estimated to be between 5% - 8% and inflation 1% 

- 3%, a spending rate of 3.5% is sustainable.  In theory, the endowment’s long term returns should 

support spending of 3.5% for awards, capitalization for inflation to preserve the purchasing power of 

the endowment (capital maintenance), and 0.5% for administration expenses.   Spending may 

encroach on capital from time to time as shown on the table below (see fiscal years 2003 and 2009). 

 

121



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
 

Intergenerational equity: 

 

In setting the spending rate, a management objective is to provide intergenerational equity - balance 

current spending and future spending. If the spending rate is set above the sustainable rate, more 

value is placed on spending for current needs and there is a risk that assets will not keep up with 

inflation.  If the spending rate is set below the sustainable rate, more value is placed on future 

spending and assets will grow faster.  

 

The appropriateness of the spending rate is continuously being monitored given long term investment 

return expectations.  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

122



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

 

Date: May 15, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6. i. Northern Sport Centre Annual Report 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     x    Public Session 

Purpose:   x   Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Aaron LeBlanc, Director Ancillary Services 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

Northern Sport Centre 
The NSC is operated by UNBC on behalf of the two primary stakeholders; The City of Prince George and UNBC, through 

the NSCL. Both stakeholders provide a 300K operating grant which is critical to the sustainable operation of the NSC.  

The NSC carries a separate reserve and the financials provided are for information purposed only. 

 

Northern Sport Centre 

Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 
(000s) (000s) (000s) (000s) 

Total Revenue 1,877 1,933 1,963 1,994 

Salaries and Benefits 791 839 855 872 

Operating Expenses 1,288 1,034 914 934 

Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 

Provision for Capital and Reserves 65 77 225 219 

Transfers (268) (17) (32) (32) 

Total Expenditures 1,876 1,933 1,963 1,994 
 

 

 

 

123



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

The NSC played an important role in the Canada Winter Games and continues to see membership growth. This 

membership growth, combined with the consistent demand from user groups for space, has ensured the NSC is  

operating on a financially secure foundation that allows for continual preventative maintenance requirements in the 

facilities.  

UNBC contribution to operations provides facility access for all students, varsity practice/game times, intramural access, 

and gymnasium time for convocation.  

City of Prince George contribution ensures that user rates for local sport organizations are kept at the lowest, 

approximately 33% for similar facilities, in Western Canada.  

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Priorities for 2015/16 

Priority #1 

Currently the NSC is operating at capacity and is struggling to meet the growing demand of from all user groups. The 

Northern Sport Centre board is conducting a capacity report scheduled for completion in June 2015. Upon completion of 

the report the NSCL will present its findings to both stakeholders. 

Priority #2 

Update capital maintenance plan and address current capital maintenance needs. The field house will be experiencing 

significant upgrades in 2015/16. Turf replacement, fire stopping upgrades, and painting will be addressed during the 

summer.   

 
Apr-13 Apr-14 Apr-15 

Total Active Membership 3545 3417 3798 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

124



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

 

Date: May 30, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6.j. Financial Overview and Budget Framework 2015/2016 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     X    Public Session 

Purpose: X Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

 

Material:  Materials attached, to support presentation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

 

125



 

 

 

 
2015/16 Financial Overview & Budget 

Framework 
 

Part 1: Planning Context and Financial Overview 
Part 2: Initiatives for 2015/16  
Part 3: Budget Framework and Three Year Plan 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 1 | P a g e  



 

 
1. Table of Contents 

Part 1: Planning Context and Framework ................................................................................................. 3 

 A time of transition after 25 years ................................................................................................ 3 1.1.

 Environmental scan ....................................................................................................................... 3 1.2.

 New planning models and processes ............................................................................................ 4 1.3.

 UNBC finances ............................................................................................................................... 4 1.4.

 Concluding observations on the state of UNBC finances ............................................................. 9 1.5.

2. Part 2:  2015/16 Initiatives .................................................................................................................. 10 

 Student success ........................................................................................................................... 10 2.1.

 Innovation – in programs an d operations.................................................................................. 10 2.2.

3. Part 3: 2015/16 Budget Framework and Three Year Plan .................................................................. 13 

 Comprehensive financial operations .......................................................................................... 13 3.1.

 Resource allocation recommendation and fund information .................................................... 14 3.2.

 Consolidated general operating budget ..................................................................................... 15 3.3.

 Operating and revenue adjustment plan .................................................................................... 23 3.4.

 One time funding allocations ...................................................................................................... 25 3.5.

 Sponsored Research .................................................................................................................... 26 3.6.

 Ancillary budgets ......................................................................................................................... 28 3.7.

 Specific Purpose and Endowment Funds .................................................................................... 40 3.8.

 Conclusion ................................................................................................................................... 42 3.9.

 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 2 | P a g e  



 

1. Part 1: Planning Context and Framework 

 A time of transition after 25 years 1.1.

UNBC will celebrate its 25th anniversary in the next few weeks.  The beginning has been outstanding.  
Regarding itself as British Columbia’s university in the North, for the North, UNBC has become a vital 
part of supporting this region’s evolution as a knowledge-based, resource economy connected to the 
world.  

UNBC is Canada’s premier small, research-intensive university, with internationally recognized 
academic and research programs that prepare its graduates in select areas of high relevance to the 
peoples of our region, province, and beyond. We are proud of our history in this regard and eager to 
play an expanded role now and in the future.   

Its mission, vision, values, and many successes and current challenges are laid out in a number of 
documents: 

• The 2010 University Plan 
• UNBC Core Review - May 2014 
• 2014 Annual Report (2014 - 2017 Institutional Accountability Plan and Report) 
• The Senate SCUB Report 

 
While the UNBC mission, vision and values are very much alive, there are environmental, 
demographic and leadership realities that spell out the urgent need for a period of transition and the 
need for a “new” beginning to a great start.  President Weeks has been emphasizing and working 
towards new structures; new relationships; new academic and integrated plans; and a budget that 
aligns resources to priorities, as critical next steps. 

The purposes of this report are to: 

• Present to the Board of Governors for approval the 2015/16 Financial Overview and 
Budget Framework; 

• Recognize and address the current fiscal challenges; 
• Develop a status quo budget to “buy time” for transitions to occur; 
• Inform, explain, and introduce more transparency into finance and budget; 
• Show that status quo does not mean “standing still”;  
• Set the context for dealing with significant deficits in this three year plan; and 
• Illustrate new approaches  for future budget documents. 

 

 Environmental scan 1.2.
The following bullets set out some key elements of UNBC’s internal and external environment: 
 

• Northern BC is experiencing a consistent and dramatic decline in the number of youth. 
• This decline is contributing to discomfort about the North's preparedness for what is 

expected to be a period of significant growth and economic development in the region.   

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 3 | P a g e  



 

• Government policy and priorities are a significant external factor for UNBC.  Three areas 
of action by the Government of BC have had a profound effect on UNBC's planning and 
operations: 
  
Grant Reduction: The Government of BC reduced UNBC's operating grant for 2013/14 by 
$128,000, $512,000 in 2014/15, and a further $665,000 in 2015/16 (excluding an amount 
for new programming and funded compensation increases). 

Skills Blueprint: The Government’s promise to redirect funding to the education and 
training of "high-demand occupations" has the potential to shape UNBC's academic 
profile in significant ways.  

New Universities: The expansion of degree-completion options in southern BC has had 
the effect of eroding UNBC's ability to attract students from southern BC.  

• Significant FTE enrolment and related tuition fee revenue declines in the past few years. 
• New leadership will bring both new directions and stability. 
• Research funding has declined for many universities including UNBC.  
• The university has been working with the Faculty Association to reach a first collective 

agreement; negotiating a new collective agreement with its CUPE staff; and will be 
working with non-unionized employee groups to address terms of employment in the 
next few months. 

• The internal community has expressed a desire to have a better understanding of UNBC 
finances. 
 

 New planning models and processes 1.3.
Over the past several years, there have been attempts at updating the university plan (including an 
academic plan).  The absence of a new plan makes identifying priorities for financial change (addition 
or reduction of programs and services) difficult.  The university must renew its effort to articulate and 
implement its plans. 

Strategic planning, integrated planning, and budgeting do not only provide the basis for financial 
choices, they are critical to student success, program and service planning, and to the further 
development of the university. 

Over the next months, new planning processes will be introduced.  

 UNBC finances 1.4.
A key element of the planning context is the need to inform the university community of the state of 
our finances.  The following sections attempt to do that. 

1.4.1. Actual expenditures greater than budgeted expenditures  

The significant variance between the expenditures shown in the audited financial statements 
and in the budget documents has created the sense that the budgets are not accurate.   The 
following information helps to reconcile the major differences between these reports. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 4 | P a g e  



 

The audited financial statements include all of the following: 

• General operating expense and revenue; 
• Ancillary Services like Retail Services (includes Food Services, Copy Services and Bookstore), 

Conference & Events, Continuing Studies, Residence, Parking & Security, Northern Sport 
Centre, and English Language Studies (ELS); 

• Northern Medical Program; 
• Research expenses funded by various agencies; and 
• Certain capital expenses and related depreciation of assets. 

 
In contrast to the financial statements, the “budget documents” do not include the last two 
bulleted items.  By definition then, expenditures in the financial statements will exceed those in 
the budget documents. 

The following table provides a high-level reconciliation of the March 31, 2014 reports. 

Table 1 - A bridge between the financial statements and the budget documents for the 2013/14 
fiscal year: 

Categories Budget Actual Variance
000's 000's 000's

Revenue
Per 2013/14 audited financial statements 81,963     109,166    27,203     
Less:  Unbudgeted funds - Specific Purpose,

Sponsored Research & Capital (22,800)     (22,800)    
Total revenue - Ancillary, NMP, General Operating 81,963     86,366      4,403       

Expenses
Per 2013/14 audited financial statements 78,545     105,498    26,953     
Less:  Unbudgeted funds - Specific Purpose,

Sponsored Research & Capital (26,518)     (26,518)    
Total expenses - Ancillary, NMP, General Operating 78,545     78,980      (435)         

Total variance - Ancillary, NMP, General Operating 3,418       7,386        3,968       

 

Notes – Table 1: 

1. The above table shows a comparable actual expense to budget expense variance of $435,000 on a budget of 
$78.98 million or 0.5%.   

2. The revenue variance was greater at 5%.  However, the areas of revenue variance are cost of goods sold, gifts, 
non-government grants and contracts.  

3. To clarify Note 1, this analysis includes three areas: Operating, Ancillary, and NMP.  See below for the variance on 
the Operating fund alone. 
 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 5 | P a g e  



 

  

1.4.2. Accumulated surplus 

Table 2 - Accumulated surplus as of March 31, 2014 (see note 13 of the 2013/14 Audited 
Financial Statements http://www.unbc.ca/finance/statements)  
 
Category Notes

Investment in capital assets  $ 44,059       UNBC's equity in land, buildings and equipment

Endowments 43,719       
Donations restricted in perpetuity with investment earnings restricted to 
use in accordance with the donor requirements

University general surplus 43,337       See details below

Total accumulated surplus  $ 131,115    

University general surplus breakdown:

Departmental carry forwards
$

       5,054 
Internally restricted funds set aside under policy from operational savings 
for use at the discretion of departments

Minor capital projects, equipment 
purchases and special projects

       9,312 
Internally restricted funds set aside under approval of President's Executive 
Council for various projects

Specific Purpose      13,162 
Internally and externally restricted funds for various purposes including 
conferences, Green Fund, graduate awards, multi-year projects and reserves 
required under employee agreements

Unrestricted surplus        3,517 
Unrestricted funds available for use at the discretion of the Board of 
Governors

Total general operating surplus 31,045       

Ancillary Services 713            
Internally restricted funds set aside from Ancillary Operations to fund 
future capital and operating projects

Capital 7,184         Internally restricted funds set aside for replacement of capital assets

Professional development and internal 
research funds

4,395         
Internally restricted funds set aside pursuant to employee agreements and 
terms of employment to be used in accordance with guidelines, at the 
discretion of individual employees.

Total University general surplus $ 43,337       

March 31, 2014 Balance
000's

 
Notes – Table 2: 

1. The above sums represent the accumulation over all of the years that UNBC has been in operation. 
2. Each year, the new surpluses are allocated to various projects that are of a one-time versus ongoing nature. 
3. In describing the nature of UNBC finances, these funds provide a valuable source for “projects” but they 

themselves are not available to offset operational deficits. 
4. While the numbers for 2014/15 are not yet finalized, they are projected to be approximately $4.2 million as 

shown in the following table. 
5. The above type and quantity of accumulated surpluses are consistent with other universities. 

In addressing the state of UNBC finances, the amount of accumulated surpluses gives some 
useful information, however, the more significant factor is – where do these surpluses come from 
within the Operating fund and are those sources available to address ongoing fiscal challenges in 
future years?   

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 6 | P a g e  

http://www.unbc.ca/finance/statements


 

The following table sets out the major sources of surpluses for the past three years. 

 
Table 3 – Major sources of surpluses over past three years – Operating Fund. 

$

% of 
budget 

allocation
% of total 

surplus $
% of budget 

allocation

% of 
total 

surplus $
% of budget 

allocation
% of total 

surplus

Revenues
Interest income 398        126.2% 9.4% 321       102.0% 7.8% 458       179.6% 7.0%
Tuition and fees (1,818)   -9.5% -43.0% (530)      -2.8% -12.8% 840       4.8% 12.9%
Other revenues 77          0.2% 1.8% (86)        -0.2% -2.1% (75)        -0.2% -1.2%

(1,343)   -2.0% -31.8% (295)      -0.4% -7.2% 1,223    -2.0% 18.8%
Labour -           

Salary turnover savings 2,970     7.0% 70.3% 1,756    4.2% 42.6% 2,416    5.8% 37.1%
Employee benefit savings 952        11.5% 22.5% 603       7.3% 14.6% 915       11.0% 14.0%

3,922     7.7% 92.8% 2,359    7.7% 57.2% 3,331    6.7% 51.1%                   
Operating Expenses

Supplies 150        3.1% 3.5% 508       10.0% 12.3% 432       8.8% 6.6%
Utilities 588        26.3% 13.9% 529       23.6% 12.8% 596       26.0% 9.1%
Travel & Personnel Costs 354        21.7% 8.4% 365       21.4% 8.8% 417       23.8% 6.4%
Contingency 118        100.0% 2.8% 232       100.0% 5.6% 176       100.0% 2.7%
Other expenses (286)       -5.4% -6.8% (67)        -1.6% -1.6% 565       10.2% 8.7%

924        6.5% 21.9% 1,567    6.5% 38.0% 2,186    14.9% 33.6%

Transfers 723        22.5% 17.1% 494       22.5% 12.0% (225)      -7.2% -3.5%

Total surplus 4,226     -             100.0% 4,125    -                     100.0% 6,515    -               100.0%

2014/15* (000's) 2012/13 (000's)2013/14 (000's)

 Notes – Table 3: 

1. The largest source of surplus is from the salaries and benefit savings from vacant and turnover positions.  The % 
from that source varies from year to year between 50 and 90%. These savings are only available to address fiscal 
challenges if positions were removed from the budget.  The goal is to review that possibility when priorities are 
set during the new planning processes. Capturing positions savings (other than for one time) from those positions 
that happen to be vacant is not a strategic step (see table 4 below). 

2. The efforts of reducing utilities costs are paying off and these savings will be explored in the future to see if they 
are ongoing. 

3. This past two years have seen a significant drop in tuition revenue, demonstrating the need to be cautious on 
projecting that revenue number. 

4. There appears to be some room for recording greater interest revenue into the budget.  
 

Given the significant amount of surpluses coming from vacant positions, the following chart gives 
a snapshot of the number of vacancies at a point in time in each year. 
 

Table 4 – Total Vacant Positions as at April 1 

2013 2014 2015

Staff 22 22 21
Faculty 12 17 17

34 39 38  
 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 7 | P a g e  



 

Notes - Table 4: 
 
1. There is considerable consistency to the number of vacant positions (this is a snapshot as of April). 
2. Within these numbers, some positions happen to be open on that date and some are longer term vacancies.  
3. The planning process will assess priorities and review vacant positions along with other positions.  For the next 
budget cycle the goal is reduce the surplus from vacant positions. 
4. The current budget uses significant salary savings to balance the budget.  If the savings are reduced this will impact 
that strategy. 

 
1.4.3. Structural versus one-time source of surplus or deficit 

To understand surpluses and their value, it is not only helpful to look at which accounts 
generate the variances but also to look at the cause of the surplus, for example was it structural 
variance or a one-time variance? 

1.4.4. The need for and value of three year projections 

University expenditure and revenue patterns seldom match exactly at the year-end date of 
March 31.   As a result, in order to make effective and meaningful financial plans it is necessary 
to consider the impact of expenditures and revenues over more than one year. 

1.4.5. Primary variables that influence a financial plan over three years 

• provincial grants 
• investment revenue 
• tuition revenue 
• salaries and benefit  
• utilities costs 

 
1.4.6. Changes to financial planning presentation – A comprehensive view 

This budget presentation has been amended to: 

• show a comprehensive financial picture versus only an operating budget. 
• provide greater explanation and clarity to the financial tables. 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 8 | P a g e  



 

 

 Concluding observations on the state of UNBC finances 1.5.
 
• For 2015/16, the operating financial position has significantly deteriorated due to three 

factors: 1) declining tuition revenue; 2) declining government grants; and 3) increasing 
compensation costs (see Part 3).  

• The current unadjusted budget projection includes $833,000 in salary savings to help 
balance the budget.  When the vacant position issues are addressed this practice will be 
of concern. 

• Over the next three years, the base budget projections identify the need for a reduction 
of approximately $4.0 million or 4 - 6%.  The single biggest contributing factor is 
declining tuition revenue.   

• The university has accumulated surpluses that can be used to address strategic and 
transitional one-time costs, however, these funds are not available to address ongoing 
operating shortfalls.    

• While some non-salary savings are available to offset the cost pressures, the significant 
budget adjustments needed to address the above shortfalls will have to come primarily 
from reduced compensation costs.  That means priorities need to be set on which 
programs and services or delivery mechanisms should change. 

• Overall conclusion: there are some significant financial concerns. 
 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 9 | P a g e  



 

2. Part 2:  2015/16 Initiatives 

The 2015-16 budget does not forecast an increase in overall funding. Nevertheless, this does not mean 
that the University is failing to invest in continued improvement and success. For example, the 
University continues to invest in career development for faculty and staff and in cultivating research and 
regional engagement opportunities for our faculty and students. 
 
This section illustrates some of the initiatives that are currently being pursued; it is not an exhaustive 
list. The goal of future planning processes will be to align budgets with priorities.  The following activities 
illustrate the kinds of priorities that could influence future budgets. 
 
 

 Student success 2.1.

A key priority for UNBC is the recruitment and retention of students. Currently we attract the 
majority of the high school graduates in Northern BC who choose to attend University and in order to 
grow; UNBC must maintain its current recruitment activities in the North while expanding its reach 
into other markets.  
 

• The University is renewing a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with School District 
57 that will engage high-performing grade 12 students in university courses by providing 
dual credit.  

• New in 2015, the Spring into Transitions program provided opportunities for Northern BC 
Aboriginal students in grades 11 and 12 to become oriented to the university and gain 
three credits – by completing ARTS 101 – that can be applied to future degree 
completion.  

• UNBC has revamped its orientation program for new students to better prepare them for 
the university experience.  The University continues to invest in undergraduate research 
experiences and in enhancing student service coordination on the Prince George campus 
and in the regions. 

• A new student leadership program enhances opportunities for students to be involved in 
the campus community, developing skills in public speaking and project management.  

• The Geoffrey Weller Library is aiming to continue improving its first floor to enhance 
technical infrastructure and promoting the relationship between student engagement 
and library use. 

 

 Innovation – in programs and operations 2.2.

In order to ensure the University’s programming remains attractive to students and serves the 
evolving needs of society new academic programs are currently in development. These include: 
 

• Master of Science in Engineering and a Master of Engineering in Integrated Wood Design. 
These degrees complement ongoing plans for developing an undergraduate Engineering 
program at UNBC. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 10 | P a g e  



 

• International Northern Development stream in the IDIS MA, a joint degree program with 
University of Nordland in Norway. 
   

Activities are also underway to enhance existing programs: 
 

• The Inter-professional Education (IPE) project in health service professions to define and 
design an Inter-professional Education curriculum that fosters the linkages between the 
Northern Medical Program, Nursing, Health Sciences, Education, and Social Work. 

• The reworked Master’s program in First Nations Studies will offer classes in a format and 
schedule that more closely fits the needs of working individuals. 

• International and Global Studies have reworked its undergraduate curriculum so that it 
includes and encourages students to take the IASK program in their first year of study. 

• In addition to the MBA program at Langara College, UNBC now delivers a BSW program 
with Langara College in Vancouver. 

 
Innovation in the operations of the Prince George campus have resulted in significant fuel cost 
savings while serving as a platform for demonstrating enhanced energy security in rural and 
remote communities: 
 

• Following the establishment of two bioenergy systems on campus, the third phase – the 
Sustainable Communities Demonstration Project – is connecting the residences, daycare, 
and I.K. Barber Enhanced Forestry Laboratory to the biomass gasification and wood pellet 
systems. This will reduce fuel costs for heating the residences and demonstrate energy 
distribution infrastructure that is unique in North America 

• A campus revolving loan program is re-investing savings from energy-efficiency projects 
into additional sustainability projects at UNBC sites.  

 

 Regional engagement and advancement 2.3.

• The revamped Office of Regional Programs is reviewing and implementing various course 
delivery options to enhance the availability of Academic and Continuing Studies courses. 

• UNBC has been working with the Northern Development Initiative Trust to foster 
opportunities for internships in local government, planning, and economic development. 
Fifty interns have been selected to date, with 86% being UNBC alumni. 

• UNBC’s three research institutes – in Community Development, Natural Resources and 
Environmental Studies, and Health – are partnering in the creation of a Community and 
Cumulative Effects Research Consortium that will intersect with multiple groups and 
communities in northern British Columbia. 

• A new Research Data Centre will be based in the Library and enhance access to 
information for UNBC researchers as well as regional organizations and industries.  

• As part of regional outreach related to the 25th anniversary, UNBC is producing a unique 
“northern report” highlighting local graduates, local award-winners, local research 
projects, and local courses for northern communities and regions outside of Prince 
George. 

• The culmination of the 25th anniversary will feature a community celebration that will 
enhance relationships with donors, founders, government officials, alumni, students, 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 11 | P a g e  



 

faculty, staff, and citizens by highlighting elements in the UNBC history that have shaped 
the University’s unique culture and how the University’s future can be built on this 
foundation. 

 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 12 | P a g e  



 

3. Part 3: 2015/16 Budget Framework and Three Year Plan 

Part 3 outlines the budget framework for those areas of the university that require a Board approved 
budget.  It also sets out a financial plan for other areas of UNBC’s comprehensive financial operation.   
 
As outlined in Part 1, this is a transition year for UNBC and as such the 2015/16 budget framework is not 
based on the kind and level of consultative and integrated planning processes that are preferred. 
 

 Comprehensive financial operations 3.1.
UNBC is responsible for the financial stewardship of approximately $108 million in total annual 
revenue. To enhance accountability, budgetary control, and stewardship of resources, UNBC 
maintains separate funds for its many diverse activities: 

• Consolidated General Operating Fund – includes the general operations of the university and 
the Northern Medical Program. 

• Ancillary Services Fund – includes the operation of service areas that are considered self-
funding such as: Retail Services, Continuing Studies, Conference & Events, Residence, Parking 
& Security, and English Language Studies. 

• Specific Purpose & Endowment Funds – includes conferences, special projects, Aboriginal 
Service Plan allocations, endowed chairs, student awards, and the Northern Medical 
Programs Trust.   

• Sponsored Research Fund – includes external grants provided specifically for research.   
• Capital Fund – all minor and major capital projects funded by both internal and external 

sources, and the cost of depreciation of capital assets.  
 

For 2013/14, the total actual revenue for UNBC covering this comprehensive picture was $106.2 
million and was distributed across the above funds as follows: 

Figure 1 - Total Revenue by Fund (2013/14: $106.2 million)

$75.3M
71%

$12.2M
11%

$7.1M
7%

$11.4M
11% $0.2M

0%
General Operating

Ancillary

Specific Purpose &
Endowment
Sponsored Research

Capital

 

Note:  For the purpose of financial statement reporting, revenue that is restricted for specific purposes other than those for 
the acquisition or development of depreciable tangible capital assets are recorded as deferred contributions and recognized 
as revenue in the year in which the stipulation or restriction on the contributions have been met.  Due to application of this 
accounting principle, the revenue reported for the fiscal 2014 financial statements was $109.2 million. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 13 | P a g e  



 

Total revenue across all funds increased by $3.30 million or 3.2% from the prior year.  The majority 
was a result of growth in research funding of $2.80 million.  The Consolidated General Operating 
Fund experienced a moderate net decrease primarily due to the operating grant reduction and the 
changes in enrolment levels.  Ancillary, Specific Purpose, and Endowment Funds enjoyed increases 
mainly because of additional revenues from conferences and investment income, and from strong 
financial markets respectively.  The capital fund revenue reflects a decrease in interest revenue due 
to declining capital fund balances as a result the completion of capital projects.  The sponsored 
research revenue increase was mainly due to corporate funding for the Pacific Trail Pipelines project.   

The following chart summarizes revenue by fund over the past five years: 

Figure 2 – Total Revenue by Year (2009/10 – 2013/14) 
 

 

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

$70

$80

09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14

General Operating

Ancillary

Specific Purpose &
Endowment
Sponsored Research

Capital

 
 

 Resource allocation recommendation and fund information 3.2.
This document outlines the high-level financial plans for a three year planning cycle; however, the 
focus is on resource allocations for the 2015/16 year, and specifically requests Board of Governors’ 
approval of: 

• 2015/16 Consolidated general operating budget framework; and 
•  2015/16 Ancillary budgets.  
 
Note:  The tuition and fee revenues included in the above are based on the fees approved at the March 2015 Board of 
Governors meeting. 

Budgets for Sponsored Research Funds are individually approved by external organizations, such as 
federal and provincial granting agencies. Budgets for Specific Purpose Funds are either approved by 
external agencies (when funded externally) and/or by individual programs and internal committees 
(when funded internally).  Budgets for Endowment funds are based on projected investment income.  
The Board of Governors, prior to project commitment, approves each major capital project.   Budgets 
that are approved externally are included in this plan to provide a more complete financial picture of 
the institution. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 14 | P a g e  



 

Activities related to Sponsored Research, Capital and Specific Purpose Funds, and their impact on the 
general operating budget are estimated and reflected in the operating budget where appropriate. 
 

 Consolidated general operating budget 3.3.

3.3.1. Planning assumptions   

The 2015/16 Budget has been developed based on the following assumptions: 

• UNBC must present a balanced budget. 
• Budget allocations will allow units to maintain existing service levels and will provide time to 

enable the development and implementation of new planning processes that will establish 
future priorities.   

• There will be no government funded undergraduate FTE growth. The only Government 
funded graduate growth will be in the new Master of Engineering program. 

• Undergraduate and graduate tuition rates will increase by 2% as per the Ministry of 
Advanced Education’s Letter of Expectation and as previously approved by the Board of 
Governors.  

• A further reduction of $665,000 to the provincial operating grant (excluding the amounts 
targeted for the Master of Engineering program and compensation increases).  It is assumed 
that the province will fund 100% of salary increases which fall within the current provincial 
bargaining mandate.   

• A reduction of approximately $95,000 to the 2015/16 Federal Research Support Fund 
(formerly indirect costs of research program) compared to the budgeted level for the 
previous year. 

• The Routine Capital will remain at the 2013/14 levels of $242,000. 
• Salary savings at least equal to last year’s amount will be used to balance the budget. 
• FTE enrolment levels will remain at the same level as in 2014/15 for the three year period, 

this will result in a tuition revenue reduction of $925,000 compared to last year’s budget 
(see Figures 3 and 4). Any future changes to this forecast will be based on the new 
academic, enrolment, and faculty action plans.  

 
Figure 3 – Annualized FTE Enrolments 

 

 

0
50
100
150
200
250

2250
2500
2750
3000
3250
3500

UNBC Intl Enrolment UNBC Enrolment

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 15 | P a g e  



 

Figure 4 – Annualized FTE by fiscal year 
 

 
 

Note 1:  FTE definition 
 
Annualized FTE short definition: 
UG + Continuing studies = total semester FTE / 2 
GR = total semester FTE / 3 
PhD= total semester FTE / 3 

Semester FTE: 
Semester FTE is calculated by taking a student’s semester credit total and dividing by the standard full 
course load credit total. Generally speaking for undergraduate students this would be semester total/15. 
For graduate students if they are taking 6 or more credits they are 1FTE and if they are taking less than 6 
credits they are 0.333FTE. PhD students get 1 FTE per semester regardless of credit totals. There are some 
finer points involved with calculating FTE but for the purpose of a general description they need not be 
discussed. 

Cross College: 
Joint majors where the majors fall in both colleges (e.g., Joint Anthropology & Geography) AND undeclared 
students. 

 
 

 

  

0.0
100.0
200.0
300.0

0.0
500.0

1000.0
1500.0
2000.0

20
04

-0
5

20
05

-0
6

20
06

-0
7

20
07

-0
8

20
08

-0
9

20
09

-1
0

20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

20
13

-1
4

20
14

-1
5

Cross College

Continuing Studies

College of Arts, Social and Health Sciences

College of Science and Management

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 16 | P a g e  



 

 
3.3.2. Unadjusted three year budget projections 

Table 5 provides a financial summary of the projected operating revenues and expenses for 
2015/16, and the following two years based on the above assumptions and before making 
adjustments required to balance the budget. 

The projections indicate that, unless significant ongoing budget adjustments are made, the 
combination of decreases in tuition revenue and provincial grants and increasing costs produce 
the following deficits: 

• 2015/16: deficit of $2.24 million plus $833,000 anticipated salary savings to offset the 
budget resulting in a total deficit of $3.07 million. 

• 2016/17:  assuming no adjustments are made to reduce the 2015/16 deficit the two deficit 
numbers shown above would grow to $2.92 million and $3.75 million respectively.   

• 2017/18: assuming no adjustments are made to reduce the 2016/17 deficit the two deficit 
numbers shown above would grow to $3.47 million and $4.30 million.    

In percentage terms, in the third year, this amounts to $4.30 million over $80.86 million or 5.3%.  

Table 5 – Unadjusted Budget Projections (Revenue and Expenditures for 2014/15 to 2017/18)  

2014/15 Approved 
Operating Budget

2015/16 Proposed 
Operating Budget

2016/17 Projected 
Operating Budget

2017/18 Projected 
Operating Budget

Consolidated General Operating Fund* (000's) (000's) (000's) (000's)

Revenues
Provincial Base Operating Grant 46,787                           47,692                         48,034                             48,817                         
Provincial Grants - Capital, One-time & Other 499                                 500                               500                                   500                               
Federal Grant - Research Support Fund 1,241                             1,145                           1,145                                1,145                           
Grants from other universities 5,805                             5,805                           5,940                                6,077                           
Interest 315                                 315                               315                                   315                               
Tuition & Student Fees 19,003                           18,078                         18,423                             18,814                         
Sales & Service 480                                 450                               450                                   450                               
Miscellaneous 173                                 123                               123                                   123                               
ICR - Administrative Overhead 416                                 576                               576                                   576                               
Other Cost Recovery 360                                 571                               571                                   571                               

Total Revenues 75,079                           75,255                         76,077                             77,388                         

Expenditures
Labour (Salaries, Wages & Benefits) 53,445                           54,510                         55,538                             56,969                         
Operating Expenditures 17,947                           17,879                         18,350                             18,780                         
New allocations:

Instruction & support for new programs -                                 1,250                           1,250                                1,250                           
Strategic Priorities -                                 -                                -                                    -                                

Transfers 3,687                             3,856                           3,856                                3,856                           
Total Expenditures 75,079                           77,495                         78,994                             80,855                         

Budget Shortfall before adjustments (2,240)                          (2,917)                              (3,467)                          
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES AND 
REDUCTIONS -                                 -                                -                                    -                                

*Comprised of General Operating, Northern Medical Program, Routine Capital, Carryforward and Professional Development Funds

 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 17 | P a g e  



 

The following sections provide the details on revenue and expenditure changes in the above 
projection. 

3.3.2.1. Revenue projections (as per Table 5) 

The Consolidated General Operating Fund is supported by revenues from three main 
sources: 

 
• Federal and Provincial government grants, which account for 66% of revenues in 

2015/16;  
• Grants from other universities which account for 8% of revenues in 2015/16; and 
• Student tuition and fees which account for 24% of revenues in 2015/16. 

 
Figure 5 - 2015/16 Consolidated General Operating Revenue 

 
The total Consolidated General Operating Fund revenue for 2015/16 is projected at $75.26   
million.  The major changes are by area as follows: 

 
Provincial Base Operating Grant ($47.69 million) has been adjusted from the 2014/15 
approved budget to reflect final confirmation of the 2014/15 amount, the grant reduction 
for 2015/16, funding for salary increases included within the provincial mandate, and the 
base funding for the Master of Engineering program.   
 

Table 6 – Adjustments to 2014/15 

Adjustments (000's)
2014/2015 approved amount $ 46,787         
Confirmation of 2014/15 grant (37)                
2014/15 confirmed (adjusted) amount 46,750         

2015/16 grant reduction (665.00)
M.Eng program funding 1,200            
Mandate funding 407               
2015/16 budgeted amount $ 47,692          

63.4% 

1.5% 

0.7% 

24.0% 

7.7% 2.7% Provincial Base Operating Grant

Federal Grant - Research
Support Fund

Provincial Grants - Capital, One-
time & Other

Tuition & Student Fees

Grants from Other Universities

Other

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 18 | P a g e  



 

 
Tuition & Student Fees ($18.08 million) represent fees paid by students (undergraduate and 
graduate, domestic and international) including application fees, course fees, student 
service fees, and other mandatory fees. The University is currently reviewing the policy on 
international student fees.  The total tuition fees budgeted for 2015/16 is based on: 
 

• 2% increase to the actual tuition revenue of 2014/15; and 
• an amount for projected tuition fees from the new Master of Engineering Program. 

 
Despite the above increases, the overall projected tuition is still $925,000 less than the total 
budgeted for last year.  This represents a significant decrease in total revenue compared to 
the 2014/15 budget. 
 
For planning purposes, a 2% tuition increase is also used for 2016/17 and 2017/18.  Student 
fees have been held constant.  The following graph illustrates the proportionate share of 
tuition revenue budgeted for each student group. 
 

Figure 6 – 2015/16 Tuition by student group 
 

 
Provincial Grants – Capital, One-time & Other ($500,000) are grants received for specific 
items such as funding for a province-wide computer network infrastructure (ORAN), a 
portion of the annual program delivery costs for Wilp Wilxo’oskwhl Nisga’a, the University’s 
grant-in-lieu of taxes, and routine capital. 
 
Other Revenue - ($8.99 million) comprises a variety of different sources.  Interest is from 
university cash balances invested in short term investments such as money market and 
bond funds.  Sales & Service includes items such as administrative fees, rent charged to 
external groups, and sales of a variety of goods and services.  Miscellaneous includes non-
research grants and donations.  Internal Cost Recovery – Administrative Overhead 
represents a percentage of gross sales charged to Ancillary operations and the MBA 
program for administrative and operational services.  Other Cost Recovery includes inter-
departmental chargebacks for items such as postage, long distance, lab supplies, and 
personnel services. 
 

61.9% 
17.3% 

18.4% 
2.4% 

Domestic -
Undergraduate
Domestic - Graduate

International -
Undergraduate
International - Graduate

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 19 | P a g e  



 

Revenue Change Summary - The following table summarizes all of the above changes to 
revenue in this budget framework. 

 
Table 7 – 2015/16 Revenue Plan Changes 

 
(000's)

Provincial grant reduction / confirmation adj. $ (702)         
Additional FTE funding (M.Eng) 1,200       
Mandate funding 407          
Federal research support fund reduction (96)           
Tuition increase (2%) 318          
Estimated tuition for new program 50             
Enrolment adjustment (1,293)      
ICR – Administrative Overhead 161          
Other Revenue 131          
     Total revenue increase 2015/16 $ 176          

 
 
3.3.2.2. Expenditure projections (details of Table 5)   

The expenditures of the Consolidated General Operating Fund fall in to four main 
categories: 
 

• Labour which accounts for 70% of all expenditures; 
• Operating & Minor Capital Expenditures which account for 23%; 
• Instruction & Support which accounts for 2%; and 
• Transfers which account for 5% of the total. 

 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 20 | P a g e  



 

Figure 7 – 2015/16 Consolidated General Operating Expenditures by Function 

  

Figure 8 – 2015/16 Consolidated General Operating Expenditures by Category 

 

The total Consolidated General Operating Fund expenditures are projected at $77.50 million 
before adjustments.   

  
Labour ($54.51 million) has been increased by $1.07 million to reflect benefit changes 
resulting from current collective agreements, collective bargaining or statutory obligations. 

 
Operating Expenditures ($17.88 million) are comprised of all non-salary expenses required 
to support programs and services including supplies, utilities, travel, and maintenance.  The 
total has declined slightly from 2014/15 ($68,000) due primarily to changes in the 
accounting treatment of certain items resulting in corresponding changes in revenues or 
transfers. 

 
Instruction & Support ($1.25 million) is new funding for the Masters of Engineering 
program; the detailed allocation of this funding is not yet complete.  

Academic 
Programs 

51.6% 

Academic 
Services 
13.7% 

Student 
Engagement 

4.1% 

Research 
1.4% 

President's 
Office / 

Executive 
Services 

0.9% 

External 
Relations 

1.7% 

Administrative 
Services 

8.5% 

University 
Operations 

18.1% 

70.3% 

23.1% 
1.6% 5.0% 

Labour (Salaries, Wages &
Benefits)
Operating & Minor Capital
Expenditures
Instruction & Support for
New Programs
Transfers

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 21 | P a g e  



 

  
Transfers ($3.86 million) represent the exchange of funds to and from other areas of the 
comprehensive financial operation.  For example, transfers to scholarships and bursaries, 
and transfers from Endowments for program support.  Total net transfers have increased by 
$169,000 primarily due to the expiry of some CRC Chairs and the change in accounting 
treatment in expenditures noted above.  

 
Expenditure Change Summary – The following table summarizes all of the above changes to 
expenditures in this budget framework. 

 
Table 8 – 2015/16 Expenditure Plan Changes 

 
Expenditures (000's)
Labour (salaries, wages, and benefits) $ 1,065
Operating expenditures (68)
Instruction & support for new programs 1,250
Transfers 169
Total $ 2,416               

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 22 | P a g e  



 

 
 Operating and revenue adjustment plan  3.4.

The previous sections identify the revenue and expenditures prior to the adjustments required to 
balance the 2015/16 budget. This section outlines the adjustments proposed to balance the budget 
(totaling $2.24 million): 

Table 9 – Budget adjustments 

 (000’s) 
  

• 2015/16 Deficit prior to following adjustments (2,240) 
o One time elimination of allocation to reserves with 

sufficient accumulated balances to maintain activities 
at the same level as prior years: 
 Scholarships & Awards 
 Faculty Recruitment and Retention Awards 
 Faculty Travel and Publication Awards 
 Miscellaneous Transfers 

 
 
 

707 
93 
83 
84 

o One time elimination of allocation to Capital Equipment 
Replacement Reserve (CERR); timing of CERR purchases 
can be postponed to accommodate funding available  

800 

o Temporary increase to investment income based on 
prior years’ experience 200 

o Temporary increase to estimated salary savings.  A more 
complete analysis will be conducted during the new 
planning processes.  

200 

o Temporary decrease to the utilities budget based on last 
year’s results 173 

o Creating of a strategic priority pool to provide some 
degree of flexibility to address emergent issues during 
the transition to the new planning processes (Note 1) 

(100) 

• 2015/16 revised surplus/(deficit) after adjustments $        0 
 

Note 1:  
The first $25,000 allocation from these funds will be to support the annual costs of new research software.  
 

3.4.1. 2015/2016 proposed budget and two year projections 

Based on the initial budget in Table 5, combined with the adjustments in Table 9, the following 
Table 10 represents the Consolidated Operating Budget for 2015/16 and the projections for 
2016/17 and 2017/18. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 23 | P a g e  



 

Table 10 – 2015/16 Proposed Budget and Two Year Projection
 

2014/15 Approved 
Operating Budget

2015/16 Proposed 
Operating Budget

2016/17 Projected 
Operating Budget

2017/18 Projected 
Operating Budget

Consolidated General Operating Fund* (000's) (000's) (000's) (000's)

Revenues
Provincial Base Operating Grant 46,787                               47,692                                   48,034                                      48,817                                     
Provincial Grants - Capital, One-time & Other 499                                     500                                         500                                            500                                           
Federal Grant - Research Support Fund 1,241                                 1,145                                      1,145                                        1,145                                       
Grants from other universities 5,805                                 5,805                                      5,940                                        6,077                                       
Interest 315                                     515                                         315                                            315                                           
Tuition & Student Fees 19,003                               18,078                                   18,423                                      18,814                                     
Sales & Service 480                                     450                                         450                                            450                                           
Miscellaneous 173                                     123                                         123                                            123                                           
ICR - Administrative Overhead 416                                     576                                         576                                            576                                           
Other Cost Recovery 360                                     571                                         571                                            571                                           

Total Revenues 75,079                               75,455                                   76,077                                      77,388                                     

Expenditures
Labour (Salaries, Wages & Benefits) 53,445                               54,310                                   55,538                                      56,969                                     
Operating Expenditures 17,947                               17,706                                   18,228                                      18,587                                     
New allocations:

Instruction & support for new programs -                                      1,250                                      1,350                                        1,400                                       
Strategic Priorities -                                      100                                         100                                            100                                           

Transfers 3,687                                 2,089                                      3,856                                        3,856                                       
Total Expenditures 75,079                               75,455                                   79,072                                      80,912                                     

Budget Shortfall before adjustments -                                          (2,995)                                       (3,524)                                     
TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENDITURES AND REDUCTIONS -                                      -                                          -                                             -                                           

*Comprised of General Operating, Northern Medical Program, Routine Capital, Carryforward and Professional Development Funds

 
Note 1:  2016/17: projected deficit of $2,995 plus $833,000 anticipated salary savings built into the budget results in a 
total deficit of $3.828 million. 
Note 2:  2017/18: projected deficit of $3,524 plus $833,000 anticipated salary savings built into the budget results in a 
total deficit of $4.36 million. 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 24 | P a g e  



 

 One time funding allocations 3.5.
There are many strategic and operational one-time expenditures required to keep UNBC in 
operation.  Each year the savings from the past year are included in the “accumulated surplus 
account” and allocated to such uses.  As outlined in Part I, accumulated surpluses are one-time funds 
(savings) and these funds are not available to address ongoing operational requirements. 
 
Over the past several years the following kinds of one-time allocations have been made from these 
funds:  
 

• CERR reserve funds 
• Tall Wood Chair 
• Classroom furniture 
• Campus wireless 
• Research software 
• Emergency Notification System 
• 25th Anniversary  
• Capital Campaign costs  
• Video Conferencing 
• Records Management 
• Canada Winter Games tuition waiver 
• Smart Loop capital project 
• Provost and VPAF offices to allocate to various activities 

 
The projected new funds available for such purposes total approximately $2.20 million. 
 
Given this is a transition year the following will be used to allocate the funds during this next budget 
year: 
 

1. Urgent university wide allocations known at budget time - off the top. 
2. Transitional costs associated with the budget deficit plans for 2016/17 - allocate 40% 

total minus [Item 1]. 
3. Hold for University wide allocations during the year - 30% of total minus [Item 1]. 
4. Balance to be allocated to the Provost (70% of balance) and VPFA (30% of balance). 

 

Future allocation process: 
The allocation of future one time funds will be done consistent with the new integrated budget 
process. 

 

 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 25 | P a g e  



 

 Sponsored Research  3.6.
As one of BC’s research universities, research is an integral part of the mission of UNBC.  There are 
five major categories of sponsored research funds:  

• Competitively adjudicated funding from the Tri-Agencies; 
• Research Support Fund from the Tri-Agencies; 
• Canada Research Chairs program; 
• Competitively awarded major research infrastructure support from the Canada Foundation 

for Innovation (CFI), the BC Knowledge Development Fund (BCKDF), and  
• Other sources including research agreements with governments, foundations and industry as 

shown in the Table below. 

The University of Northern British Columbia was established as a Research University in British 
Columbia, approximately 25 years ago.  The total research revenue received by a Research University 
is used as a major indicator of both research success and research intensity/competitiveness by 
external assessors of University Performance.  Research Competitiveness is measured as the ability of 
the researchers to attract external and peer reviewed funding.   

In 2014/15, UNBC received $12.0 million in external research funding.  As outlined in the table below, 
the university has seen a decline in total research funding over the last 5 years.  

Table 11 - Research revenue by category and year 

11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15

Source
 Total Awards  Total Awards  Total Awards  Total Awards 

NSERC 1,175,488 1,087,638 1,177,481 1,135,011

SSHRC 449,511 309,552 491,267 541,488

CIHR 562,978 549,035 453,127 514,848

CRC 875,000 925,000 1,100,000 975,000

Research Support Fund 1,733,284 1,563,503 1,365,666 1,239,661

Other 6,929,044 5,246,242 7,179,314 6,611,639

BCKDF 67,757 166,309 81,257 315,354

CFI 175,393 221,083 382,508 32,986

Endowment Allocations to Research 598,804 537,191 637,862 641,288

Total Research Funds 12,567,259 10,605,553 12,868,482 12,007,275  

The total research grant and contract revenues increased in 2013/14 and 2014/15; whether or not 
we have reversed the declining trend noted between 2011/12 and 2012/13, by securing external 
funding, remains to be seen. The annual fluctuation in the number of CRCs occupying the allocated 
Chairs and the CFI and/or BCKDF funding represents a portion of the changes in the total annual 
revenue reported. The loss of three Tier 2 CRCs in 2013 (see below) has reduced annual research 
revenue by $300,000; this reduction will impact total revenue for 2015 and onward.   Revenue 
generated by UNBC Research includes overhead charged to research grants and research contracts, 
Research Support funding from the Federal Tri-agency and institutional operating funds provided by 
Canada Foundation for Innovation. UNBC has a combined $30.0 million endowed research fund; 
about $1.0 million is generated annually which covers various research expenses including items such 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 26 | P a g e  



 

as salaries of endowed chairs, operations of the Quesnel River Research Centre and various ongoing 
research projects.  

The declining Tri-Council funding resulted in a reduction of three Tier 2 CRCs at UNBC in 2013. It is 
important to note that UNBC was able to sustain the number of CRCs in 2015 following the 
reallocation exercise by the Canada Research Chair Secretariat.  

A strong UNBC research ethos is critical to our future research successes.  It will influence external 
factors and assist in making UNBC a more attractive option to external partners and funders, to our 
students, and to our community and other stakeholders.   

 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 27 | P a g e  



 

 Ancillary budgets 3.7.
These units produce a significant service to UNBC students and to the overall mission of the 
university.   

This section outlines the budget framework for three ancillary areas: 

• Ancillary units including Residence; Retail Services; Continuing Studies; and Conference & 
Events 

• Parking and Security 
• English Language Studies 

An ancillary operation is a unit or department within the university that is required to be financially 
self-sufficient. That is, each operation must generate sufficient revenue to not only cover its annual 
operating costs, including utilities and maintenance, but also provide for the renovation and 
replacement of its physical assets including any required debt servicing costs.  

Total Revenues from all three areas from Ancillary Operations in 2014/15 totaled $10.10 million. The 
chart below shows the different departments or units that contribute to this total. 

Figure 9 – Ancillary Revenue for 2014/15 

 

English Language Studies (ELS) and Parking/Security (PS), although an ancillary operation, reports 
through International Education and Parking/Security, respectively, while all other units report 
through the Director of Ancillary Services. 

Each section outlines the proposed budgets for 2015/16 along with the corresponding fee increases 
that require board approval. 

3.7.1. Ancillary departments 

3.7.1.1. Residence  

UNBC Residence Services provide on-campus accommodations for students and visitors. In 
all, UNBC has two buildings, organized into 129 - four bedroom and 14 - two bedroom 
apartments, which provide 544 total beds for students and visitors.  The table below 
summarizes the proposed Residence Budget for the next three years.  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 28 | P a g e  



 

Table 12 – 3 year proposed Residence budget  

Residence 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 
Total Revenue 2,375 2,531 2,678 2,826 
Salaries and Benefits 1 521 301 303 303 
Operating Expenses 652 834 844 844 
Debt Servicing 2 1,601 947 844 1,205 
Provision for Capital and Reserves (427) 0 0 0 
Transfers 3 28 449 474 474 
Total Expenditures 2,375 2,531 2,678 2,826 

 
The approved rates proposed for rooms to support the proposed budget for the fiscal year 
April 1, 2014 to March 31, 2015, represent a 2.5% increase for four and two bedroom suites. 
This is required to cover inflationary pressures, address deferred maintenance, and planned 
capital projects.  

Ancillary Services will partner with UNBC Student Services to provide one-year term funding 
for counselling, academic, and nutrition services in residences for students living on campus. 
The pilot services will be in effect for one year to assess the long-term viability.  

2014/15 saw the second, of three, debentures paid in full. Residence is now in a position to 
complete the much needed preventative maintenance and renovations over the next 2-3 
years.  Costs will be covered by a combination of Board of Governors’ approved funding and 
provisions for capital (noted above) for an estimated residence renovation budget of $14.80 
million. Payback of Board of Governors’ approved funding will be approximately eight years 
from completion of the project. 

UNBC Facilities department expedited an extensive review of all UNBC buildings. The report 
provides guidance on all preventive maintenance that we need to address in both residence 
buildings. 

Despite declining enrolment, UNBC Residence has been operating at over 90% occupancy 
for the last two years. Declining vacancy rates in Prince George have contributed to the 
occupancy pressures on campus. UNBC Residence will be conducting a phased approach for 
addressing future housing requirements on campus. 

Phase 1 will address deferred maintenance in both buildings starting in the summer of 2016. 
Modifications to existing suite configurations in Building 1 (Neyoh) will add an additional 40 
beds. Building 2 (Keyoh) will not be having current suite layouts reconfigured, however, 
significant upgrades will be completed during this project.  

1 Salaries to support Student Services moved to expenses starting in 2015/2016 
2 Debt Servicing includes: 1) $200,000 Annual Payment, for 10 years, to UNBC Central for payback on operating deficit from 
financing debentures. 2) $270,000 represents payment on final outstanding debenture. 3) Remaining total to pay back $13.0 
million BOG approved residence renovations. 
3 $200,000 to Ancillary Central, $80,000 to One Card, $27,000 to CES for Facility Position, $125,000 to Conference and Events 
Services, $32,000 to ITS, -$15,000 for General Wage Increase. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 29 | P a g e  

                                                           



 

Phase 2 will start with extensive campus consultation during the 2015/16 school year. 
Gathering ideas to increase bed counts on campus and to be used in the development of a 
long-term housing strategic plan for UNBC is a significant priority for Residence Services in 
2015/16. 

Decreasing occupancy in Prince George poses a significant risk for UNBC moving forward, 
however, the inability to provide beds to future students will have a significant impact on 
UNBC’s reputation. 

3.7.1.2. Food Services  

UNBC Food Services is comprised of student operated, self-operated, and contracted 
services located at a variety of locations on campus. Student run locations are comprised of 
the Thirsty Moose Pub and two Degree Coffee locations. Business activities conducted in 
these locations are not reflected in the financial summary below.  Ancillary Services covered 
expenses associated with equipment and renovations for the new student operated 
location. 

Table 13 – 3 year proposed Food Services budget  

Food Services 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 

Total Revenue 170 435 468 507 

Salaries and Benefits 0 0 0 0 

Operating Expenses 110 133 133 133 

Debt Servicing 4 0 100 100 100 

Provision for Capital and Reserves 4 67 57 133 

Transfers 5 56 135 179 140 

Total Expenditures 170 435 468 507 
 

2014/15 was the first year of operations for the new dining hall on campus.  2014/15 
projections of 200 meal plans was achieved (total of 209 meal plans sold). 2015/16 
projections include the sale of 350 meal plans. Revenues (above) are generated from 
commissions paid on revenues (below) to UNBC Food Services by Chartwells.  

  

4 This total represents the contribution towards Food Service/Renovation Budget. 
5 $60,000 to Ancillary Services, $40,000 to One Card, $35,000 to Conference and Event Services. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 30 | P a g e  

                                                           



 

Table 14 – 3 year average Food Services revenue sales 

Location 
Revenues 

Previous 3 year average 2014/15 
 (000’s) (000’s) 
Retail Outlets (Stackers, Tim’s, and C-Store) 515 444 
Agora Dining Hall – Meal Plan 68 810 
Agora Dining Hall – Non Meal Plan 346 297 
Catering – Internal 110 195 
Catering – External 177 244 
Other 40 27 
Total Sales Revenues 1,256 2,017 

 

UNBC Food Services provides the following support for student services on campus: 

• $10,000 Annual Scholarship awarded through External Relations; 
• $30,000 in Annual Bursaries for students displaying financial need for meal plans; 

and 
• $30,000 in Annual Support for a various Student Service Events. 

 
Although food services on campus improved tremendously over the previous year, Ancillary 
Services is committed to working with Chartwells to ensure that overall food quality and 
variety are a high priority in the upcoming year.  Ancillary Services will be launching a secret 
shopper program that will monitor food quality on campus. 

3.7.1.3. Continuing Studies 

Continuing Studies provides a variety of courses ranging from industry-specific training to 
credit programming through partnerships with participating Colleges within UNBC. The 
financial statement below captures the overall activity of UNBC Continuing Studies. 

Table 15 – 3 year proposed Continuing Studies budget  

Continuing Studies 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 
Total Revenue 1,927 3,002 4,219 5,117 
Salaries and Benefits 574 899 1,251 1,397 
Operating Expenses 1,805 1,836 2,415 3,031 
Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 
Provision for Capital and Reserves6 (332) 15 350 494 
Transfers 7 (120) 251 202 195 
Total Expenditures 1,927 3,002 4,219 5,117 

 
 

6 332K draw from reserve to cover investment into Online Development. 
7 200K to Ancillary Services, 75K to CES for room rentals, -24K for General Wage Increase. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 31 | P a g e  

                                                           



 

An assumption is that the investment made into developing an on demand, video based, 
asynchronous online platform to support industry-training needs will result in a significant 
increase in revenue for 2015/16. Furthermore, the increase in salary and benefits represents 
an increase in positions needed to support this growth. Positions will not be added unless 
target revenues are achieved.  

Key dates for the online launch are as follows: 

• Environmental Monitoring Certificate June 15th, 2015 
• Fitness Leadership Certificate August 7th, 2015 
• Occupational Health and Safety December, 2015 

 
Focusing on industry training has allowed Continuing Studies to grow revenues from 
$800,000 in 2011/12, to over $1.90 million in 2014/15. Future revenue growth will focus on 
the following strategic priorities over the next 3 years: 

 
Priority #1: Successfully launch and leverage the new Online 
Learning Management System. 

Continuing Studies has invested in a new framework that 
will increase the flexibility of course delivery options. 
Environmental Monitoring Certificate (image right) will be 
the first video-based certificate offered early this summer.  

Fitness Leadership, and Occupational Health and Safety will 
follow.  

Priority #2: Establish partnerships with the academic 
colleges at UNBC to develop unique programming. 

BC Hydro Partnership ACS secured funding to partner with BC Hydro to provide 
Environmental Training for aboriginal students in the North West.  

Priority #3:  Identify, develop, and offer new high-demand programming that is 
appropriately resourced to provide a net return. 

Continuing Studies has grown from a staff of three in 2012 to eleven in 2015. Staffing 
projections for 2017/18 is twenty-two full-time and one to five part-time staff members. It is 
imperative for Continuing Studies to create a space plan in 2015/16. 

3.7.1.4. Conference and Event Services 

Conference and Event Services provides internal and external services ranging from simple 
bookings to full conference management. The table below is a financial summary for the unit: 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 32 | P a g e  



 

Table 16 – 3 year proposed Conference & Event Services budget 

Conference and Event Services 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 

Total Revenue 975 314 314 314 

Salaries and Benefits8 306 344 349 358 

Operating Expenses 575 241 282 282 

Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 

Provision for Capital and Reserves 171 0 9 10 

Transfers 9 (77) (270) (326) (336) 

Total Expenditures 975 314 314 314 
 

Conference and Event Services, a highly cyclical unit, experienced an abnormally high 
volume of business due to the large events hosted on campus in 2014/15. Surpluses from 
this year will be moved to the reserve to cover off operations in slower years. 

Conference and Event Services is primarily base funded by contributions from other 
Ancillary Units. This provides financial stability for the unit to provide internal and external 
activities for UNBC. 

Internal Services - In 2014/15 Conference and Event Services booked a total of 39,421 
spaces. 85% (33,735) of those spaces were for internal/non-revenue generating clients. On 
average Conference and Event Services facilitates twenty internal bookings each day. 
Furthermore, internal customers (Faculty and Staff) accounted for 10% ($100,000) of overall 
revenue for the unit.  

External Services - External events hosted on UNBC campus accounted for 87% ($845,000) 
of all revenue.  Large one-time events were mainly responsible for this incredible year. On 
average the unit will realize approximately $350,000 in revenue per year. 

Future Growth - Conference and Events Services will work closely with Residence to list our 
guest accommodations during the summer months with Hotels.com/Expedia.  

Currently guest accommodations are operating at approximately 6% of capacity in the 
summer months.  Focusing on creating and communicating the value of our guest services 
during the summer months will represent a significant growth opportunity for Conference 
and Event Services.  

Conference and Event Services (CES) and the Northern Sport Centre (NSC) played a critical 
role in successfully implementing the Canada Winter Games. Deb Van Adrichem (Manager 
CES), Kevin Nowottnick (Manager NSC), Jennifer Studney (CES) and the entire complement 

8 Starting 2015/16 CES will be paying for the Facility Role found within the unit. 
9 $35,000 from Food Services, $125,000 from Residence, $75,000 from Continuing Studies, $25,000 from NSC, $54,000 from 
Res/NSC, $50,000 to Ancillary Services, $7,000 for General Wage Increase. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 33 | P a g e  

                                                           



 

of staff from both CES and the NSC should be recognized for the incredible work they did 
during this important event for UNBC. 

3.7.1.5. Retail Services 

Retail Services consists of Bookstore, Print Services, Vending, and One Card. Financial 
statements for each unit are provided below.   

3.7.1.5.1. Bookstore 

Table 17 – 3 year proposed Bookstore budget  

Retail Services 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 
Total Revenue 2,030 2,049 2,014 1,979 
Salaries and Benefits 454 449 456 468 
Operating Expenses 1,750 1,665 1,624 1,623 
Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 
Provision for Capital and Reserves10 (138) 27 31 (19) 
Transfers 11 (36) (92) (97) (92) 
Total Expenditures 2,030 2,049 2,014 1,979 

 

The Bookstore receives revenues through the sale of textbooks, books, and general 
merchandise. Shedding operations that were not sustainable was critical to establishing 
a stable operation in light of a continual decline in text book sales.  

Figure 10 – Percentage of sales revenue 

 

Sales deriving from textbooks have declined by 24% since 2010, an average rate of 7% 
per annum.  2013/14 to 2014/15 marked the largest dip in textbook sales in a single 
year at 10%. 

Continued decreases in UNBC enrolment, a move away from traditional textbook sales, 
an interruption to retail traffic during the Canada Winter Games, and the UNBC Faculty 
Job Action had a negative impact on revenues in 2014/15. 

10 $138,000 draw on Ancillary Reserve to cover deficit for 2014/15. 
11 $30,000 from One Card, $25,000 from Print Services, $37,000 for General Wage Increase. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 34 | P a g e  

                                                           



 

Conducting market research and raising awareness about online options will be high 
priorities for this unit in 2015/16. Until new lines of revenue are identified, the 
bookstore operation will maintain a conservative outlook moving forward. 

3.7.1.5.2. Copy Services 

Copy Services consists of the Copy Centre and the multi-functional device fleet for 
Students, Faculty, and Staff. UNBC Copy Services aims to provide affordable print 
services for the campus. 

Table 18 – 3 year proposed Copy Services budget 

Copy Services 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 

Total Revenue 409 475 475 480 
Salaries and Benefits 1 0 0 0 
Operating Expenses 469 418 409 408 
Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 
Provision for Capital and Reserves 12 (61) 8 16 23 
Transfers 0 50 50 50 
Total Expenditures 409 475 475 480 

 
3.7.1.5.3. Vending Services 

Commissions are payable from Ryan Vending for providing vending services on campus. 

Table 19 – 3 year proposed Vending Services budget 

Vending 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 
Total Revenue 7 7 7 7 
Salaries and Benefits 0 0 0 0 
Operating Expenses 0 0 0 0 
Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 
Provision for Capital and Reserves 7 7 7 7 
Transfers 0 0 0 0 
Total Expenditures 7 7 7 7 

  

12 $61,000 draw from Ancillary Reserve to cover transition costs associated with replacement of UNBC MFD fleet. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 35 | P a g e  

                                                           



 

3.7.1.5.4. One Card 

Table 20 – 3 year proposed One Card budget 

One Card 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 

Total Revenue 25 50 62 74 
Salaries and Benefits 0 0 55 55 
Operating Expenses 8 60 60 60 
Debt Servicing 13 0 25 35 35 
Provision for Capital and Reserves 17 0 12 24 
Transfers 14 0 (35) (100) (100) 
Total Expenditures 25 50 62 74 

 
In initiating this project, Ancillary Services is seeking to provide automated identification 
services of a single personalized contactless smart card that can be used for all 
monetary and non-monetary transactions and activities associated with day-to-day life 
on campus.  

The system will be capable of supporting a variety of applications including but not 
limited to: declining balance applications such as laundry, photocopying, printing, meal 
plans/food service, vending, and third party point of sale systems (i.e., bookstore and 
print shop); integration/coexistence with building access control systems, card 
production, and web interfaces for users. 

One of the primary benefits will be to provide Ancillary Services with the ability to audit 
sales activity to match commissions received from vendors. Currently this is not possible 
and is a risk for UNBC. 

3.7.1.6.  Central Services 

Ancillary Central Services (ACS) provides the business needs for the entire Ancillary 
Division except for English Language Studies (ELS) and Parking & Security (PS). Overall 
leadership, business development, project management, and marketing for the Ancillary 
Services Division are provided by this unit.   

All revenues to support this unit come from contributions from other ancillary units.  

  

13 Represents payback towards the project investment: See One Card Project. 
14 $30,000 to Bookstore, $40,000 from Food Services, $80,000 from Residence, and $55,000 to Ancillary Services. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 36 | P a g e  

                                                           



 

Table 21 – Proposed 3 year Central Services budget 

Ancillary Central 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 
Total Revenue 0 0 0 0 
Salaries and Benefits 397 367 403 403 
Operating Expenses 373 413 463 513 
Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 
Provision for Capital and Reserves 0 3 32 107 
Transfers 15 (770) (783) (898) (1,023) 

Total Expenditures 0 0 0 0 
 

ACS successfully attracted, secured funding, and continues to work with industry to 
provide programming opportunities for Continuing Studies (CS).  

TransCanada Funding ACS secured over $80,000 in funding from TransCanada to 
provide Occupational Health and Safety training opportunities for students in Northern 
BC. This funding allowed CS to provide this opportunity to its students in the fall of 
2014. 

ACS facilitates financial contributions (see below) from the entire Ancillary Division 
(excluding ELS and Parking/Security) for UNBC General Operations. 

 

  

15 Starting in 2015/16 contributions, from other Ancillary units, will be reported as interdivisional transfers not revenues. 
$50,000 from CES, $200,000 from CS, $25,000 from Print, $60,000 from Food, $200,000 from Residence, $200,000 from NSC, 
$55,000 from One Card. 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 37 | P a g e  

                                                           



 

Figure 11 – 2015/16 Ancillary Contribution (000s) 

 
 

Overhead and Admin are net contributions made to the UNBC General Operations from 
Ancillary Services.  
 
Internal Staff Support contributions consist of a combination of Student Service and 
Administrative (59% and 41%) that are located outside of the Ancillary Division. 
 

3.7.2. Northern Sport Centre 

The NSC is operated by UNBC on behalf of the two primary stakeholders, City of Prince George 
and UNBC. Both stakeholders provide a $300K operating grant which is critical to the sustainable 
operation of the NSC.  The NSC carries a separate reserve and the financials are provided for 
information purposes only. 

Table 22 – 3 year proposed Northern Sport Centre budget 

Northern Sport Centre 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 

Total Revenue 1942 1,933 1,963 1,994 
Salaries and Benefits 831 839 855 872 
Operating Expenses 1,347 1,034 914 934 
Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 
Provision for Capital and Reserves 32 77 225 219 
Transfers (268) (17) (32) (32) 
Total Expenditures 1,942 1,933 1,963 1,994 

 
UNBC contributes to the operations of the facility by providing access for all students (e.g., 
varsity practice/game times, gymnasium time, Convocation). City of Prince George contributes 
to user rates for local sport organizations ensuring that they remain at the lowest rates possible, 
approximately 33% of similar facilities in Western Canada.  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 38 | P a g e  



 

The NSC has grown revenues to create a stable operation that provides consistent contributions 
to the NSC Reserve. This has ensured the unit has the essential funds to cover future capital 
needs. Please see Appendix B for NSC Capital Information.  

Currently the NSC is operating at capacity and is struggling to meet the growing demand from all 
user groups. The Northern Sport Centre board is conducting a capacity report scheduled for 
completion in June 2015.  

3.7.3. Parking and Security 

Parking and Security operate as a combined Ancillary unit. Revenue for the unit is comprised of 
parking fees together with security service fees charged to the University and to Ancillary Units. 

Table 23 – 3 year proposed Parking & Security budget 

Parking and Security 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 

Total Revenue 992 1125 1148 1,170 

Salaries and Benefits 882 864 880 898 

Operating Expenses 136 190 194 198 

Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 

Provision for Capital and Reserves (10) 90 93 93 

Transfers (16) (19) (19) (19) 

Total Expenditures 992 1,125 1,148 1,170 
 

In fiscal 2015/16, revenue from parking fees is budgeted at $400,000 while $725,000 is the 
projected amount to be received from the University and other Ancillary units for security staff 
services. 

In 2014/15, parking fee revenue was adversely impacted by the parking meters being out of 
order.  For 2015/16, budgeted Parking revenue has been increased to reflect the new parking 
system and meters which is expected to be fully operational by the end of May 2015. The 
projected revenue from Ancillary has also been increased to reflect the full cost of the services 
provided.  The salaries expense budget has been increased to ensure appropriate staff levels are 
in place to meet service requirements and to limit overtime costs through more efficient use of 
resources. A 2% inflationary adjustment has been made to revenue and expenses for the 
2016/17 and 2017/18. 

3.7.4. English Language Studies 

UNBC International Education is a unit comprised of two segments of operations – the English 
Language Studies (ELS) that is required to be financially self-sufficient and International Student 
Engagement that is funded centrally as part of the general operating fund. The ELS operation 
must generate sufficient revenue to not only cover its direct operating costs but also contribute 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 39 | P a g e  



 

two (2%) percent of its gross revenue to UNBC as administrative overhead charge each fiscal 
year.   

 
Revenues from the ELS operation in 2014/15 totaled $1.1M. This revenue comes from a variety 
of areas including ELS tuition fees, course fees, student fees and application fees. The majority 
of revenue for the ELS operation comes from tuition fees. For 2014/15, this source of revenue 
accounted for about 99% of total International Education revenue. The following table outlines 
the proposed ELS budgets for 2015/16 to 2017/18.  
 
Table 24 – 3 year proposed ELS budget 

 

English Language Studies 
Actual Proposed Proposed Proposed 

Year End Budget Budget Budget 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) (000’s) 

Total Revenue 1,110 1,110 2,080 2,080 

Salaries and Benefits 801 801 1,200 1,320 

Operating Expenses 178 178 700 770 

Debt Servicing 0 0 0 0 

Provision for Capital and Reserves 141 141 190 500 

Transfers (10) (10) (10) (10) 

Total Expenditures 1,110 1,110 2,080 2,080 
 

The proposed budgets for 2016/17 (60 MAPP students) and 2017/18 (90 MAPP students) are 
based on an assumption of successful inception of the Masters Academic Preparation Program 
(MAPP) in 2016. Therefore, the projected revenues and expenses after 2015/16 are expected to 
increase significantly.  

 
 

 Specific Purpose and Endowment Funds 3.8.
The specific purpose and endowment funds comprise two separate series of funds: 

• Specific Purpose - these consist of project funds that are externally restricted (e.g., 
Aboriginal Service Plan) or internally restricted (e.g., student awards, library fines and 
reserves), as well as expendable funds that are externally restricted (e.g., various student 
awards) and chiefly supported by donations to the University.  External donations and 
internal transfers to expendable funds can be used to directly support project-related 
expenses.  The majority of specific purpose fund revenue is generally non-recurring in 
nature. 

 
• Endowments – these consist of funds that are externally restricted and supported by 

donations to the university and interest earned on same (e.g., student scholarships, library 
endowments, and endowed chairs.)  Donations to endowment funds cannot be spent 
directly; rather they are held for the purpose of generating interest (investment) income 

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 40 | P a g e  



 

which in turn is used to support project-related expenses in perpetuity.  Revenues in these 
funds are cyclical by nature and therefore fluctuate, sometimes significantly, from year to 
year. 

The majority of revenue in the specific purpose and endowment funds is usually from investment 
income and donations.  In fiscal 2013/14, these two revenue categories respectively made up 51% 
and 25% of total revenue with the majority of donations revenue realized in the specific purpose 
funds, and almost all of the investment income realized in the endowment funds. 

Given the unpredictable nature of revenue within this fund, it can vary considerably from year to 
year.  For example, total revenue in the specific purpose and endowment funds was $4.0 million in 
2010/11, $6.9 million in 2011/12, $6.5 million in 2012/13, and $7.1 million in 2013/14.   

The endowment funds receive donations which are invested for endowment purposes.  As of March 
31, 2015, there were a total of 284 funds with a market value of $72.1 million.  This is the result of 
years of philanthropy and investment. 

All specific purpose and endowment funds are “restricted”, meaning they can only be used for the 
purposes stated in the donor funding agreements and cannot be allocated to support any other 
activity such as offsetting deficits or addressing budgetary pressures within the general operating 
budget. 

Spending in the specific purpose funds is limited to available fund balances in any given year and may 
be governed by donor agreements or internal restrictions. 

The Investment Committee, a sub-committee of the Board of Governors, sets the university’s 
endowment objectives, policies, spending policy, and other related parameters with the aim of 
empowering its investment managers to generate investment income sufficient to support specific 
areas of the university’s activities as set out in the terms and conditions of the various donor 
agreements.  In addition to the Investment Committee, spending from the Northern Medical 
Program Trust (NMPT) is determined by the NMPT Society which is composed of representatives 
from the participating communities.   

On an annual basis, the various budget holders – as shown in the chart below – are allocated their 
distribution income (budget) from the endowment funds.  For 2013/14 and 2014/15, the total 
available distribution of endowment funds was $1.8 million and $1.9 million respectively, allocated as 
follows: 

  

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 41 | P a g e  



 

Figure 12 – 2013/14 and 2014/15 Endowment Budget 

 

To ensure sustainability, the spending rate for the endowment funds is currently set at 3.5% of the 
three-year rolling average of the market value of the endowment portfolio.  The spending rate is 
reviewed annually by the Investment Committee. 
 
 

 Conclusion 3.9.
 
The budgets and financial information in the preceding pages present a comprehensive financial 
picture of UNBC.  The budgets are balanced and in the case of the operating budget the context has 
been set for some urgent fixes in the months to come.  The Ancillary units continue to demonstrate 
sound financial growth and provide a significant contribution to UNBC. 
 
Presenting the financial data related to research and specific purpose areas is intended to 
demonstrate that these broader activities make significant contributions to the mission of UNBC. 

 
 
 
 
 

28% 

3% 

6% 

14% 

49% 

Student Awards

Library

Program support

Northern Medical
Programs Trust
Research

2015/16 Financial Overview and Budget Framework v.6.2 42 | P a g e  



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

 

Date: May 19, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6. k. KPMG Audit Findings Report to March 31, 2015 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     X    Public Session 

Purpose:    Information  x    Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Colleen Smith, Director of Finance and Budgets 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

 

Material:  Material Attached. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

 

168



AUDIT 

University of 
Northern British 
Columbia 

 

Audit Findings Report  
For the year ended March 31, 2015 
 

 
 
Presented at the Finance and Audit Committee 
Meeting on May 26, 2015 
 
 

169



 1 
 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 

 

 

  
Table of Contents 
Executive summary 2 

Areas of Audit Focus 5 

Audit Adjustments and differences 11 

Significant qualitative aspects of accounting policies and practices 13 

Control observations 15 

Appendices 17 

Appendix 1: Required communications 18 

Appendix 2: Draft auditors’ report 19 

Appendix 3: Management representation letter 20 

Appendix 4: Management letter 21 

Appendix 5: Audit Quality  and Risk Management 22 

Appendix 6: Current developments 23 

 

The contacts at KPMG in 

connection with this report are: 

Corey S. Naphtali, CPA, CA 
Lead Audit Engagement Partner  

Tel: (250) 614-4067 

cnaphtali@kpmg.ca 

Archie G. Johnston, FCA, 
MBA, CIA 
Quality Control Review Partner 

Tel: (604) 527 - 3757  

agjohnston@kpmg.ca 

Colleen G. Ballantyne, CPA, 
CMA 
Engagement Senior Manager 

Tel:  (250) 614-4001 

cgballantyne@kpmg.ca 

Chris N. Calder, CPA, CA 
Engagement Manager 

Tel:  (250) 614-4064 

cncalder@kpmg.ca 

 

 

170



 2 
 

 

This Audit Findings Report should not be used for any other purpose or by anyone other than the Financial Sustainability and Audit Committee. KPMG shall have no responsibility or liability for loss or 
damages or claims, if any, to or by any third party as this Audit Planning Report has not been prepared for, and is not intended for, and should not be used by, any third party or for any other purpose. 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 

Executive summary 
Overview 
The purpose of this Audit Findings Report is to assist you, as a member of the Finance and Audit Committee, in your review of the results of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the University of Northern British Columbia as at and for the year ended March 31, 2015. 

We appreciate the assistance of management and staff in conducting our audit. We hope this audit findings report is of assistance to you for the purpose 
above, and we look forward to discussing our findings and answering your questions. 

 

Finalizing the audit  
As of the date of this report, we have completed the audit of the consolidated financial statements, with the exception of certain remaining procedures, 
which include amongst others: 

 completing our discussions with the Finance and Audit Committee; 

 obtaining evidence of the Board of Governor’s approval of the financial statements. 

 completion of subsequent events procedures to the date of the approval of the financial statements 

 receipt of legal confirmations 

 obtaining the signed management representation letter 

Please refer to Appendix 2 for our draft auditor’s report. 

We will update you on significant matters, if any arising from the completion of the audit, including the completion of the above procedures. Our auditors’ 
report will be dated upon the completion of any remaining procedures.  

171



 3 
 

 

This Audit Findings Report should not be used for any other purpose or by anyone other than the Financial Sustainability and Audit Committee. KPMG shall have no responsibility or liability for loss or 
damages or claims, if any, to or by any third party as this Audit Planning Report has not been prepared for, and is not intended for, and should not be used by, any third party or for any other purpose. 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 

Executive summary (continued) 
 

Areas of Audit Focus 
We have highlighted significant areas of audit focus related to management’s judgment, estimates and accounting treatments that we would like to bring 
to your attention. These include revenue and deferred contributions, financial instruments, endowments and employee future benefits. We are satisfied 
that our audit work has appropriately dealt with these audit areas. 

See pages 5 - 10 for more details 

 

Audit Adjustments and Differences 
No material misstatements have come to our attention. 

See pages 11 - 12 for more details 

 

Significant qualitative aspects of accounting policies and practices. 
Overall we are satisfied with the reasonability of the significant accounting policies, critical accounting estimates, and critical disclosures and financial 
statement presentation taken.  

See page 13 - 14 for more details 

 
 

 

 

 

172



 

* This Audit Findings Report should not be used for any other purpose or by anyone other than the Financial Sustainability and Audit Committee. KPMG shall have no responsibility or liability for loss or 
damages or claims, if any, to or by any third party as this Audit Planning Report has not been prepared for, and is not intended for, and should not be used by, any third party or for any other purpose. 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015  | 4 

Executive summary (continued)
 

Control observations  
No significant deficiencies have come to our attention. 

See pages 15 - 16 for more details 

 

Confirmation of Independence 
We confirm that we are independent with respect to the Entity (and its related entities) within the meaning of the relevant professional bodies in Canada 
and any applicable legislation or regulation from April 1, 2014 up to the date of this report. 

 

 

 

  

173



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015  | 5 

Areas of Audit Focus 
Changes from the Audit Plan 
There have been no changes from the Audit Planning Report previously presented to you. 

We have highlighted below significant matters related to management’s judgment, estimates and accounting treatments we would like to bring to your 
attention:

 Revenue and deferred contributions 

 The types and sources of revenue to fund programs are varied and the accounting complex, impacting revenue, deferred revenue/contributions 
and accounts receivable. 

KPMG comments 

 KPMG noted that management’s analysis over the recognition or deferral of revenue/contributions and related receivables is rigorous and robust. 

Misstatements 

 No misstatements were identified in these areas. 

 

Financial instruments 

 The University holds a portfolio of investments which includes term deposits, MFA funds, fixed income, mortgages, equities and private debt. 

KPMG comments 

 KPMG reviewed management’s process for recording and monitoring process its investments and sent third party external confirmations to verify 
the balances. 

Misstatements 

 No misstatements were identified in these areas. 

 

  

174



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 6 

 

 

Endowments 

 The University receives endowment contributions from the donors which are required to be recorded separately as revenue of the endowment 
fund. Investment earnings from the endowment are also restricted to be used for specific purposes. 

KPMG comments 

 KPMG reviewed management’s process for handling endowments and confirmed the balances held in endowment investment accounts. 

Misstatements 

 No misstatements were identified in these areas. 

 

 

Employee future benefits 

 The University’s employee future benefits is comprised of contributions to a defined contribution pension plan, sick time and vacation accruals. 

KPMG comments 

 KPMG reviewed the pension plan contributions made during the year and the related disclosure in the financial statements to ensure that they are 
in accordance with public sector standards. Vacation and sick time accruals were also reviewed as part of the payroll testing performed during the 
audit. 

Misstatements 

 No misstatements were identified in these areas. 

  

175



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 7 

 

 

Other matters 
We have highlighted below other significant matters that we would like to bring to your attention:  

Faculty Association Strike 

 From March 5th to March 20th, 2015, UNBC’s faculty association was on strike cancelling classes at the University. Support staff with CUPE 3799 
did not cross picket lines during the strike. A strike may have many financial impacts on the University’s operations including changes to payroll, 
funding and accounts receivable and accounts payable.  

KPMG comments  

 KPMG had discussions with the University’s management team to develop an understanding of the impact of the strike. Any accruals or changes 
made with respect to the accounts affected by the strike were reviewed to ensure that management’s approach was reasonable. 

 No misstatements were identified in these areas. 

 

Commodity Tax Recovery 

 In a prior year, KPMG worked with University finance personnel to review its commodity tax situation. The review noted that as a result of claiming 
commercial status on a percentage of the total University land base, which includes all the unused forested land, a reduced Input Tax Credit (“ITC”) 
was available.  By partitioning the land into two parcels, the campus itself and the surrounding forested land, a much higher commercial activity 
percentage becomes available. Canada Revenue Agency has agreed with this position. 

 As a result of that review it was anticipated that the University will receive a net refund of previously paid GST in the amount of approximately 
$305,000 although a reduction by CRA in the assessment of commercial property may result in a lower retroactive ITC recovery. 

 The University was initially considering re-titling the property to put the forest reserve on its own title, in which case the estimated recovery will 
increase beyond the net $305,000 to approximately net $700,000. 

 In the 2013 fiscal year the University decided to appeal the assessment to accomplish the full recovery without re-titling the property.  The option 
of re-titling will be pursued only if the appeal is not accepted. 

 In a prior year (March 31, 2012), the University had claimed and received an amount of approximately $155,000.  As a result there is a further 
$150,000 still to come. 

 The University has not accrued the remaining balance and as a result the refund will be credited to income when received. 

176



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 8 

KPMG comments  

 Technically the remaining $150,000 should be recorded as a receivable at year end.  Accordingly, this immaterial difference has been reported on 
our schedule of unadjusted items.  

 As the decision to re-title the property has not yet been made, any further recovery is considered contingent and therefore no additional amount 
would be recorded in the financial statements.  Once a decision is made, and based upon discussions with Canada Revenue Agency as to their 
concurrence with the approach, the additional net recovery would be recorded. 

 UNBC is currently awaiting a tax court decision with respect to commodity tax recoveries at other institutions prior to proceeding with this matter. 

 

Investment Portfolio 

 At year end the University’s investment portfolio had an unrealized gain of approximately $15.0 million included in the total portfolio value of $67.2 
million.  At the end of the prior year the unrealized gain represented approximately $12.8 million of the total portfolio value of $67.2 million.  Overall 
there has been no change in the total value from the prior year. 

 During the year, the university established an investment trust and corporation to hold certain types of investments to ensure the income is 
generated on a tax-free basis. 

KPMG comments  

 We reviewed the accounting treatment relating to valuation of the investment portfolio and agree with management’s approach. 

 KPMG has prepared and filed the trust income tax return for the University’s investment trust. 

 

 

Northern Medical Programs Trust 

 At year end, the University is holding approximately $9.8 million on behalf of the Northern Medical Programs Trust. The funds form part of the 
overall investment portfolio of the University, although for financial statement purposes this amount is excluded from the University financial 
statements. 

 We are not aware of a formal trust agreement between the Northern Medical Programs Trust and the University documenting the trust relationship 
and the nature of services to be provided by the University. 

 The University does not have control over the funds of the Northern Medical Programs Trust and therefore these funds are not included in the 
assets and liabilities of the University. 

KPMG comments  

 We recommend that the University review the documentation related to the relationship between itself and the Trust. 

  

177



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 9 

 

Northern Sports Centre 

 The Northern Sports Centre Limited is the umbrella organization established to operate the Northern Sports Centre.  The Northern Sports Centre 
itself is a physical asset of the University and is included in the University’s capital assets. 

 Accounting for operations at the Northern Sports Centre is on the basis that UNBC has been “contracted” by Northern Sports Centre Limited to 
manage and operate the Northern Sports Centre facility. 

 Operations of the Northern Sports Centre are recorded in the accounts of the University as a separate division and included in the year end 
statement of operations. 

 At year end there is a cumulative excess of revenues over expenditures from operations of the Northern Sports Centre in the amount of $1,124,000 
(2014 - $1,078,000).  This amount has been included in deferred contributions on the basis that it is externally restricted by the Northern Sports 
Centre Limited (i.e. the Board of Northern Sports Centre Limited can direct the University as to how these excess funds are utilized).  The excess 
of revenues over expenses does not form part of the University’s surplus. 

KPMG comments  

 As described above, management has treated operations of the Sports Centre as part of the University, except that any excess of revenues over 
expenses has been treated as a deferred contribution instead of as part of the University’s surplus. 

 We reviewed the accounting for the Northern Sports Centre and agree with management’s approach. 

 
  

178



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 10 

 

 

Northern Sports Centre Limited - Tax returns 

 The Northern Sports Centre Limited is a separate legal entity operating as a not-for-profit organization. The University has representation on the 
Board of Directors of this entity and is therefore associated with its activities. As a legal entity incorporated under the BC Business Corporations 
Act it is required to file annual income tax returns.  We understand that income tax returns have not been filed for this entity. 

 A not-for-profit entity is required to file a T1044 Information Return.  In addition, we recommend that a nil T2 Corporation Income Tax Return be 
filed as well in order to “start the clock” on the statute-barred period in the event a taxation issue arises in the future.  For example, in general 
terms if an entity files a tax return Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) has three years from the date of assessment to reassess that tax return.  
Once the three year period has gone by CRA cannot go back and re-open prior years for review.  If an entity does not file a tax return the “statute-
barred” three year clock does not start and therefore all years are open to further scrutiny by CRA. 

 While we do not anticipate any issues in the future, we believe it is prudent to ensure tax returns are filed on a timely basis even for not-for-profit 
entities. 

 While there is a maximum $2,500 annual penalty for non-filing, we have not seen the local CRA office assess this penalty. 

KPMG comments  

 The University has worked with KPMG and has developed a work plan to ensure that the T2 filings are completed by March 31, 2016. 

 
Internally Restricted Surplus 

 At the end of the year the University has an amount of approximately $37.7 million that has been appropriated for specific purposes (a decrease of 
$2.1 million over the prior year) and an unrestricted surplus of $3.5 million (unchanged from prior year). 

 This amount has been set aside by the Board and can be changed at any time by the Board.  It represents additional surplus of the University. As 
a result, between unrestricted net assets and the amount appropriated for specific purposes the University has an “effective” surplus of 
approximately $41.2 million. 

KPMG comments  

 This is purely informational for the Finance and Audit Committee and has no impact on the year-end financial statements. 

 

  

179



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 11 

Audit Adjustments and differences 
Misstatements identified during the audit have been categorized as follows: 

Corrected misstatements 

The corrected audit misstatements are as follows: 

  Income effect Financial position 

Description 
F/J
/P 

(Decrease) 
Increase 

Assets 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Liabilities 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Equity 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

To record WIP for the renovations of the 

University’s residences 

F $ nil $ 236,613 $  236,613 $ nil 

Total corrected misstatements  $ nil $ 236,613 $  236,613 $ nil 

 

Uncorrected misstatements 

Professional standards require that we request of management and those charged with governance that all uncorrected misstatements be corrected. 
However, due to the nature of the remaining uncorrected misstatements, management has decided not to correct these misstatements and represented 
to us that the uncorrected misstatements—individually and in the aggregate—are, in their judgement, not material to the financial statements. 

We concur with management’s representation. Accordingly, the uncorrected misstatements have no effect on our audit report. 

Refer to Management's representation and the Summary of Uncorrected Audit Misstatements in the Appendices for all uncorrected audit misstatements. 

We highlight, however, the following uncorrected misstatements that we have previously discussed in the section “Significant audit, accounting and 
reporting matters”: 

180



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 12 

  Income effect Financial position 

Description 
F/J
/P 

(Decrease) 
Increase 

Assets 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Liabilities 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Equity 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

To record the additional commodity tax recovery 

amount 

F 
$105,000 $150,000 $45,000 $105,000 

Total uncorrected misstatements  $ 105,000 $ 150,000 $ 45,000 $ 105,000 

F (Factual); J (Judgmental); P (Projected) 

Uncorrected changes in presentation and disclosure 

 The University is required under public sector accounting standards to prepare a statement of remeasurement gain and loss. Management has 
determined that the total accumulated remeasurement gain/loss as at March 31, 2015 is not a material amount and has represented to us that the 
omission of this statement is not material to the users of the financial statements.  

Corrected changes in presentation and disclosure 

 We provided minor suggestions concerning presentation and disclosure that management has incorporated in the consolidated financial statements. 
  

181



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 13 

Significant qualitative aspects of accounting 
policies and practices 
Our professional standards require that we communicate our views regarding the matters below, which represent judgments about significant qualitative 
aspects of accounting policies and practices. Judgments about quality cannot be measured solely against standards or objective criteria. These judgments 
are inherently those of individuals making the assessment: the engagement partner. However, although judgments about quality are those of the 
engagement partner, the views discussed are not contrary to positions KPMG has taken. 

The following are the matters we plan to discuss with you: 

Significant 
accounting policies 

Significant accounting policies or practices are disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. 

 There has been no change in the University’s significant accounting policies in the current year. 

 During the year, the University adopted PS 3260, Liability for Contaminated Sites. The University has disclosed 
this in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, no adjustments were required as a result of applying 
this standard. 

Significant 
accounting 
estimates 
 

Overview: 

 Management's identification of accounting estimates. 

 Management's process for making accounting estimates. 

 Indicators of possible management bias. 

 Disclosure of estimation uncertainty in the consolidated financial statements. 

 Factors affecting the University’s asset and liability carrying values. 

 

Commitments and Contingencies: 

 Management makes estimates regarding the determination of the outcome of material outstanding lawsuits 
and material contingency provisions requiring adjustment and disclosure. 

 

  

182



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 14 

Significant 
disclosures and 
financial statement 
presentation 
 

Overview: 

 Issues involved, and related judgments made, in formulating particularly sensitive financial statement disclosures.  

 Overall neutrality, consistency, and clarity of the disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. 

 Potential effect on the financial statements of significant risks, exposures and uncertainties. 

 
Financial risk management 
 See note 12 to the financial statements for significant disclosures required for the University’s financial 

instruments and financial risk management. 

 

 

  

183



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 15 

Control observations  
Background and professional standards 

Internal control over financial reporting 

As your auditors, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting (ICFR) relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness 
of internal control.  

Our understanding of ICFR was for the limited purpose described above and was not designed to identify all control deficiencies that might be significant 
deficiencies and therefore, there can be no assurance that all significant deficiencies and other control deficiencies have been identified. Our awareness of 
control deficiencies varies with each audit and is influenced by the nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures performed, as well as other factors. 

Identification 

We did not identify any control deficiencies we determined to be significant deficiencies in ICFR.  

Documents containing or referring to the audited financial statements  

We are required by our professional standards to read only documents containing or referring to audited financial statements and our related auditors’ report 
that are available through to the date of our auditors’ report. The objective of reading these documents through to the date of our auditors’ report is to 
identify material inconsistencies, if any, between the audited financial statements and the other information. We also have certain responsibilities, if on 
reading the other information for the purpose of identifying material inconsistencies, we become aware of an apparent material misstatement of fact. 

We are also required by our professional standards when the financial statements are translated into another language to consider whether each version, 
available through to the date of our auditors’ report, contains the same information and carries the same meaning. 

 

184



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 16 

Control observations (continued) 
Consenting to the use of the auditors’ report  

When specifically engaged in the engagement letter, we will provide our consent, in writing, to the use of our auditors’ report, once we have completed all 
of the procedures required under professional standards and no unresolved matter exist. 

If there are any unresolved matters arising from the performance of the above procedures, we will inform the Finance and Audit Committee of such matters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

185



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 17 

Appendices 
Appendix 1: Required communications 

Appendix 2: Draft auditor’s report 

Appendix 3: Management representation letter 

Appendix 4: Management letter  

Appendix 5: Audit Quality and Risk Management  

Appendix 6: Current developments  

  

186



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 18 

Appendix 1: Required communications  
In accordance with professional standards, there are a number of communications that are required during the course of and upon completion of our 
audit. These include: 

 Engagement letter – the objectives of the audit, our responsibilities 
in carrying out our audit, as well as management’s responsibilities, 
are set out in the engagement letter and any subsequent 
amendment letters provided to management. The engagement letter 
was provided to management on January 29, 2015. 

 Fraud related inquiries – professional standards required that 
during the planning of our audit we obtain your views on risk of 
fraud. We have made similar inquiries to management as part of our 
planning process; responses to these have assisted us in planning 
our overall audit strategy and audit approach accordingly. 

 Audit findings report – as attached. 

 Auditors’ report – the conclusion of our audit is set out in our draft 
auditors’ report Attached as Appendix 2 of this report. 

 Management representation letter – we will obtain from 
management at the completion of the annual audit. In accordance 
with professional standards, copies of the representation letter will 
be provided to the Audit Committee. Attached as Appendix 3 of this 
report.

  

187



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 19 

 

Appendix 2: Draft auditors’ report 

188



KPMG LLP Telephone   (250) 563-7151 
Chartered Accountants Telefax    (250) 563-5693 
400 - 177 Victoria Street Internet        www.kpmg.ca 
Prince George BC V2L 5R8 

KPMG LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm  
of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Members of the Board of Governors of the University of Northern British Columbia 

To the Minister of Advanced Education, Province of British Columbia 

We  have  audited  the  accompanying  consolidated  financial  statements  of  the  University  of 
Northern British Columbia (“University”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at March 31, 2015, the consolidated statements of operations, changes  in net debt 
and  cash  flows  for  the  year  then  ended,  and  notes,  comprising  a  summary  of  significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management  is  responsible  for  the preparation of  these  consolidated  financial  statements  in 
accordance with  the  financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of  the Budget Transparency 
and  Accountability  Act  of  the  Province  of  British  Columbia,  and  for  such  internal  control  as 
management  determines  is  necessary  to  enable  the  preparation  of  consolidated  financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our  audit. We  conducted  our  audit  in  accordance with Canadian  generally  accepted  auditing 
standards.    Those  standards  require  that we  comply with  ethical  requirements  and plan  and 
perform  the  audit  to  obtain  reasonable  assurance  about whether  the  consolidated  financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An  audit  involves  performing  procedures  to  obtain  audit  evidence  about  the  amounts  and 
disclosures  in  the consolidated  financial  statements.   The procedures  selected depend on our 
judgment,  including  the assessment of  the  risks of material misstatement of  the consolidated 
financial  statements, whether  due  to  fraud  or  error.    In making  those  risk  assessments, we 
consider  internal  control  relevant  to  the University’s preparation and  fair presentation of  the 
consolidated  financial  statements  in order  to design audit procedures  that are appropriate  in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
University’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  in our audit  is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

DRAFT

189



 
 
 
Opinion 
 
In  our  opinion,  the  consolidated  financial  statements  of  the  University  of  Northern  British 
Columbia  as  at March  31,  2015  and  for  the  year  then  ended  are  prepared,  in  all material 
aspects,  in  accordance with  the  financial  reporting  provisions  of  Section  23.1  of  the  Budget 
Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention  to Note 2  (a) of  the consolidated  financial 
statements, which describes  the basis of accounting and  significant differences between  such 
basis of accounting and Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 

 
 
Chartered Accountants 
 
May 30, 2015 
 
Prince George, Canada 

DRAFT

190



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 20 

Appendix 3: Management representation letter 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
191



University of Northern British Columbia 
3333 University Way 

Prince George, BC   V2N 4Z9 

 

KPMG LLP 
#400 – 177 Victoria Street 
Prince George, BC V2L 5R8 

May 30, 2015 

Dear Sirs: 

We are writing at your request to confirm our understanding that your audit was for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial statements (hereinafter referred to as “financial 
statements”) of the University of Northern British Columbia (“the University”), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2015, the consolidated statement of 
operations and accumulated surplus, changes in net debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
These financial statements were prepared in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of 
Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British 
Columbia.  

We confirm that the representations we make in this letter are in accordance with the definitions as 
set out in Attachment I to this letter.  
We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

GENERAL: 

1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement letter 
dated January 29, 2015, for: 

a) the preparation and presentation of the financial statements and believe that these 
financial statements have been prepared and present fairly in accordance in compliance 
with the relevant financial reporting framework 

b) providing you with all relevant information, such as all financial records and related data 
and complete minutes of meetings, or summaries of actions of recent meetings for which 
minutes have not yet been prepared, of the Board of Governors and committees of the 
Board of Governors that may affect the financial statements, and access to such relevant 
information 

c) such internal control as management determined is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error  

d) ensuring that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are 
reflected in the financial statements.  

192



 2 

 

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING: 

2) We have communicated to you all deficiencies in the design and implementation or 
maintenance of internal control over financial reporting of which management is aware.  

FRAUD & NON-COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS: 

3) We have disclosed to you: 

a) the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially 
misstated as a result of fraud.  

b) all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects 
the University and involves: management, employees who have significant roles in 
internal control, or others, where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial 
statements.  

c) all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 
University’s financial statements, communicated by employees, former employees, 
analysts, regulators, or others.  

d) all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and 
regulations, including all aspects of contractual agreements, whose effects should be 
considered when preparing financial statements. 

e) all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements.  

COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES: 

4) There are no: 

a) other liabilities that are required to be recognized and no other contingent assets or 
contingent liabilities that are required to be disclosed in the financial statements in 
accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, including liabilities or 
contingent liabilities arising from illegal acts or possible illegal acts, or possible 
violations of human rights legislation  

b) other environmental matters that may have an impact on the financial statements 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS: 

5) All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the relevant 
financial reporting framework requires adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements 
have been adjusted or disclosed.  

RELATED PARTIES: 

6) We have disclosed to you the identity of the University’s related parties and all the related 
party relationships and transactions of which we are aware and all related party relationships 
and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the 
relevant financial reporting framework. 

193



 3 

ESTIMATES: 

7) Measurement methods and significant assumptions used by us in making accounting 
estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.  

8) Significant estimates, which could change materially within the near term, and all areas of 
measurement uncertainty have been properly recorded or disclosed in the financial 
statements.  

NON-SEC REGISTRANTS OR NON-REPORTING ISSUERS: 

9) We confirm that the University is not a Canadian reporting issuer (as defined under any 
applicable Canadian securities act) and is not a United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) Issuer (as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002). We also 
confirm that the financial statements of the University will not be included in the consolidated 
financial statements of a Canadian reporting issuer audited by KPMG or an SEC Issuer 
audited by any member of the KPMG organization. 

MISSTATEMENTS: 

10) We approve the corrected and uncorrected misstatements identified by you during the audit 
described in Attachment II.  

ACCOUNTING POLICIES: 

11) The accounting policies selected and applied are appropriate in the circumstances. 

POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS, COMPENSATED ABSENCES, TERMINATION BENEFITS AND 
RETIREMENT BENEFITS: 

12) We confirm that the University has no post employment benefits, compensated absences, 
termination benefits and retirement benefit costs, assets and obligations that have not been 
disclosed to you. 

ASSETS & LIABILITIES - GENERAL: 

13) The University has satisfactory title to all owned assets. 

14) We have no knowledge of any liens or encumbrances on assets and/or assets that have been 
pledged or assigned as security for liabilities, performance of contracts, etc., not disclosed in 
the financial statements. 

15) We have no knowledge of any plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying 
value or classification of assets and liabilities. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS: 

16) The University has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a 
material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance including violations 
or default of the covenants of the University’s debt agreements. 

194



 4 

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS: 

17) The University has appropriately recognized, measured and disclosed environmental matters 
in the financial statements. 

CONTAMINATED SITES: 

18) We confirm that the University has no properties on which a contaminated sites liability 
exists that have not been disclosed to you. 

19) We have no knowledge of any sites that are not in productive use by the University that may 
create a contaminated sites liability under PS 3260, Liability for Contaminated Sites. 

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS: 

20) All legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets have been 
recognized, including those under the doctrine of promissory estoppel. The obligations were 
recognized when incurred using management's best estimate of fair value. 

Yours very truly, 

______________________________________________ 
Dr. Daniel Weeks, President and Vice-Chancellor 

______________________________________________ 
Mrs. Colleen Smith, Director of Finance & Budgets 

 

195



 5 

Attachment I – Definitions 

MATERIALITY 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. 
Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the 
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the financial statements. Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding 
circumstances, and are affected by the size or nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both.  

FRAUD & ERROR 

Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of amounts or 
disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users.  

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of a University’s assets. It is often accompanied by 
false or misleading records or documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing or 
have been pledged without proper authorization.  

An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an 
amount or a disclosure.  

RELATED PARTIES 

In accordance with PS 4260 of Public Sector Accounting Standards related party is defined as: 

 one party that has the ability to exercise, directly or indirectly, control, joint control or 
significant influence over the other. Two or more parties are related when they are subject to 
common control, joint control or common significant influence. Two not-for-profit 
organizations are related parties if one has an economic interest in the other. Related parties also 
include management and immediate family members. 

 
In accordance with PS 4260 of Public Sector Accounting Standards a related party transaction is 
defined as: 
 
 a transfer of economic resources or obligations between related parties, or the provision of 

services by one party to a related party, regardless of whether any consideration is exchanged. 
The parties to the transaction are related prior to the transaction. When the relationship arises as 
a result of the transaction, the transaction is not one between related parties.

196



 6 

Attachment II – Misstatements 

Uncorrected Misstatements 

 
Income 
effect 

Financial 
position 

 

Description 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Assets 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Liabilities 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Equity 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

1) To record the additional 
commodity tax recovery 
amount. 

 

$ 105,000 

 

$ 150,000 

 

$  45,000 

 

$ 105,000 

 

Total uncorrected misstatements $ 105,000 $ 150,000 $ 45,000 $ 105,000 

  

Corrected Misstatements 

 
Income 
effect 

Financial 
position 

 

Description 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Assets 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Liabilities 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

Equity 
(Decrease) 
Increase 

1) To record WIP for the 
renovations of the University’s 
residences 

 

$ nil 

 

$ 236,613 

 

$  236,613 

 

$ nil 

 

Total corrected misstatements $ nil $ 236,613 $ 236,613 $ nil 

 

197



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 21 

Appendix 4: Management letter 

 
 

  

198



 
  

 KPMG LLP Telephone   (250) 563-7151 
 Chartered Accountants Telefax        (250) 563-5693 
 400 - 177 Victoria Street Internet        www.kpmg.ca 
 Prince George BC V2L 5R8 

 
 

KPMG LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm  
of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

University of Northern British Columbia 
3333 University Way 
Prince George, BC   V2N 4Z9 
 
Attention: Colleen Smith, Director of Finance & Budgets 
 
 
May 30, 2015 
 
 
Dear Colleen: 
 
We have expressed an opinion on the consolidated financial statements (hereinafter referred to as 
"annual financial statements") of the University of Northern British Columbia ("the Entity") as at 
and for the period ended March 31, 2015 and have issued our audit report thereon dated May 30, 
2015. 
 
As indicated in our engagement letter dated January 29, 2015: 
 
 In planning and performing our audit in accordance with professional standards we have 

obtained an understanding of the Entity's internal control over financial reporting to identify 
types of potential misstatements, consider factors that affect the risks of material 
misstatement, and design the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures. This 
understanding will not be sufficient to enable us to render an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting. We have not considered internal control over 
financial reporting since the date of our audit report. 
 

 Management is responsible for the Entity's internal control, including the design, 
implementation and operation of internal control over financial reporting to prevent and 
detect fraud and error, including internal controls over the financial reporting process and the 
accuracy of period-end adjusting journal entries. Management is also responsible for 
disclosing to us any known control deficiencies in the design and implementation or operation 
of internal control over financial reporting. 

 
 Auditors conducting an audit in accordance with professional standards obtain reasonable 

assurance that the annual financial statements taken as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. It is important to recognize that auditors 
cannot obtain absolute assurance that material misstatements in the annual financial 
statements will be detected, because of factors such as: the use of judgment; the use of testing 
of the data underlying the annual financial statements; the inherent limitations of internal 
control over financial reporting; and the fact that much of the audit evidence available to the 
auditor is persuasive rather than conclusive in nature. Furthermore, because of the nature of 
fraud, including attempts at concealment through collusion and forgery, an audit designed and 
executed in accordance with professional standards may not detect a material fraud. While 
effective internal control over financial reporting reduces the likelihood that misstatements 
will occur and remain undetected, it does not eliminate that possibility. For these reasons, we 
cannot guarantee that fraud, error or illegal acts, if present, will be detected when conducting 
an audit in accordance with professional standards. 

 
199



 
 
Since the purpose of the audit is to express an opinion on the annual financial statements, we did 
not plan and perform the audit with a view to identify all control deficiencies that might exist. We 
have not performed audit procedures to obtain reasonable assurance, and are not providing any 
assurance on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Had we performed 
audit procedures on internal control over financial reporting, we might have identified more 
control deficiencies to be reported, or concluded that some of the reported control deficiencies 
need not, in fact, have been reported. 
 
This letter is a by-product of the audit and is therefore a derivative communication. This letter is 
intended solely for the purposes of management and those charged with governance and is not 
suitable for any other purposes. KPMG shall have no responsibility or liability for loss or 
damages or claims, if any, to or by any third party as this letter has not been prepared for, and is 
not intended for, any other purposes. 
 
Definitions 
 
A control deficiency is a deficiency in the design or effective operation of internal control. A 
deficiency in design exists when (a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is missing 
or (b) an existing control is not properly designed so that, even if the control operates as designed, 
the control objective is not always met. A deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed 
control does not operate as designed, or when the person performing the control does not possess 
the necessary authority or qualifications to perform the control effectively. 
 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
 
A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over 
financial reporting such that a material misstatement of the entity's annual financial statements is 
not likely to be prevented or detected. 
 
Professional Standards 
 
Professional standards require us to communicate material weaknesses identified during the audit 
to management and those charged with governance 
 
Material weaknesses 
 
During the audit, we did not identify any control deficiencies that, individually or in the 
aggregate, we consider to be material weaknesses as defined above. 
 
Yours very truly, 
 

 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Prince George, Canada 

/hm 
cc: Audit Committee 
 

200



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 22 

Appendix 5: Audit Quality 
and Risk Management  

KPMG maintains a system of quality control designed to reflect our drive 
and determination to deliver independent, unbiased advice and opinions, 
and also meet the requirements of Canadian professional standards.  

Quality control is fundamental to our business and is the responsibility of 
every partner and employee.  The following diagram summarises the six 
key elements of our quality control systems.  

Visit http://www.kpmg.com/Ca/en/services/Audit/Pages/Audit-Quality-Resources.aspx for more information. 

 

 

  

 Other controls include: 
– Before the firm issues its 

audit report, Engagement 
Quality Control Reviewer 
reviews the 
appropriateness of key 
elements. 

– Technical department and 
specialist resources 
provide real-time  
support to audit  
teams in the field. 

 

 We conduct regular reviews of 
engagements and partners.  
Review teams are independent 
and the work of every audit 
partner is reviewed at least 
once every three years. 

 All KPMG partners and staff are 
required to act with integrity and 
objectivity and comply with applicable 
laws, regulations and professional 
standards at all times. 

 We do not offer services that would 
impair our independence. 

 
 The processes we employ to help 

retain and develop people include: 
– Assignment based on skills and 

experience;  
– Rotation of partners; 
– Performance evaluation;  
– Development and training; and 
– Appropriate supervision and 

coaching. 
 

 We have policies and procedures for 
deciding whether to accept or continue 
a client relationship or to perform a 
specific engagement for that client. 

 Existing audit relationships are 
reviewed annually and evaluated to 
identify instances where we should 
discontinue our professional 
association with the client. 

 

• We have policies and guidance to ensure that 
work performed by engagement personnel 
meets applicable professional standards, 
regulatory requirements and the firm’s 
standards of quality. 

Independence, 
integrity, ethics 
and objectivity

Personnel 
management

Acceptance & 
continuance of 

clients / 
engagements 

Engagement 
performance 

standards

Independent 
monitoring

Other risk 
management 

quality controls

201



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 23 

Appendix 6: Current developments  
The following is a summary of the current developments that are relevant to the University:  

Related Party Transactions and Inter-entity Transactions 
 Two new Handbook sections were approved in December 2014, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2017.    
 Related parties include entities that control or are controlled by a reporting entity, entities that are under common control and entities that have shared 

control over or that are subject to shared control of a reporting entity.   
 Individuals that are members of key management personnel and close members of their family are related parties. Disclosure of key management 

personnel compensation arrangements, expense allowances and other similar payments routinely paid in exchange for services rendered is not required. 
 Determining which related party transactions to disclose is a matter of judgment based on assessment of: 

 the terms and conditions underlying the transactions; 
 the financial significance of the transactions; 
 the relevance of the information; and 
 the need for the information to enable users’ understanding of the financial statements and for making comparisons. 

 A related party transaction, with the exception of contributed goods and services, should normally be recognized by both a provider organization and a 
recipient organization on a gross basis. 

 Related party transactions, if recognized, should be recorded at the exchange amount. A public sector entity’s policy, budget practices or accountability 
structures may dictate that the exchange amount is the carrying amount, consideration paid or received or fair value. 

 
Assets, Contingent Assets and Contractual Rights 
 Three new Handbook sections were approved in March 2015, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2017.    
 The intended outcome of the three new Handbook Sections is improved consistency and comparability. 
 The standard includes enhanced guidance on the definition of assets and disclosure of assets to provide users with better information about the types 

of resources available to the public sector entity. 
 Disclosure of contingent assets and contractual rights is required to provide users with information about the nature, extent and timing of future assets 

and potential assets and revenues available to the public sector entity when the terms of those contracts are met. 

 
Restructurings 
 A new Handbook section was approved in March 2015, effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2018.    
 A restructuring transaction is a transfer of an integrated set of assets and/or liabilities, together with related responsibilities for program delivery or 

administrative operations, that does not involve a payment or other consideration that approximates the fair value of what is transferred. 

202



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 24 

 The new standard requires the transferor remove the assets and liabilities transferred from its books at their carrying amount at the restructuring date. 
The recipient would recognize the assets and liabilities received at their carrying amount with applicable adjustments at the restructuring date. Both the 
transferor and the recipient would recognize the net effect of the transfer and any compensation involved as revenue or an expense. 

 Restructuring-related costs are recognized as expenses when incurred.  
 Financial information prior to the restructuring date would not be restated. 

 
Revenue 
 PSAB is proposing a single framework to categorize revenues to enhance the consistency of revenue recognition and its measurement.  A Statement 

of Principles was issued in 2013 and comments are currently under deliberation.   
 A request for information is under development and expected for release in 2015.  Adoption of these principles would result in a need to assess current 

accounting policies.  
 In the case of revenues arising from an exchange, a public sector entity must ensure the recognition of revenue aligns with the satisfaction of related 

performance obligations.  
 For unilateral revenues, recognition occurs when there is authority to record the revenue and an event has happened that gives the public sector entity 

the right to the revenue. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

203



 

 

University of Northern British Columbia Audit Findings Report for the year ended March 31, 2015 | 25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

kpmg.ca 
 
KPMG LLP, an Audit, Tax and Advisory firm (kpmg.ca) and a Canadian limited liability partnership established under the laws of Ontario, is the Canadian member firm of KPMG International 
Cooperative (“KPMG International”). KPMG member firms around the world have 155,000 professionals, in 155 countries. 

The independent member firms of the KPMG network are affiliated with KPMG International, a Swiss entity. Each KPMG firm is a legally distinct and separate entity, and describes itself as 
such. 

© 2014 KPMG LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity. All rights reserved.  

The KPMG name, logo and “cutting through complexity” are registered trademarks or trademarks of KPMG International. 

204



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 19, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6.l. UNBC Financial Statements to March 31, 2015 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     X    Public Session 

Purpose:     Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction   x    Approval 

Prepared By: Colleen Smith, Director of Finance and Budgets 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

 

Material:  Materials Attached. 

 

 

 

Motion:  That, on the recommendation of the Finance and Audit Committee, the Board of Governors 

approves the University of Northern British Columbia’s Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 

2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

 

205



  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Consolidated Financial Statements 
Year Ended March 31, 2015 
  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

206



University of Northern British Columbia 
 

Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

Table of Contents 
 
 

 
 
STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY      1 
 
REPORT OF THE AUDITOR                2 - 3 
 
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position       4 
 
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus    5 

 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt      6 
 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows        7 
 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements           8 - 23 

  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

207



UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA 
 

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY 
 

The University of Northern British Columbia is responsible for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements and has prepared them in accordance with Section 23.1 
of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia and 
the Restricted Contribution Regulation 198/2011 issued pursuant to it.  The regulations 
require financial statements to be prepared in accordance with the standards of the 
Canadian Public Sector Accounting Board except that the contributions received or 
receivable by the University for the purpose of acquisition of tangible capital assets are 
accounted for as deferred capital contributions as described in note 2a of the consolidated 
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements present the financial position of 
the University as at March 31, 2015 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the year ended March 31, 2015. 

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems, the 
University has developed and maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that University assets are safeguarded from loss and that the 
accounting records are a reliable basis for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements. 

The Board of Governors carries out its responsibility for review of the consolidated financial 
statements and oversight of Management's performance of its financial reporting 
responsibilities principally through its Finance and Audit Committee. With the exception of 
employee group representatives, members of the Finance and Audit Committee are neither 
officers nor employees of the University. 

The Committee meets with Management and the external auditors to discuss the results of 
audit examinations and financial reporting matters. The external auditors have full access to 
the Finance and Audit Committee, with and without the presence of Management. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2015 have been 
reported on by KPMG LLP. The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the 
examination and provides the firm’s opinion on the fairness of presentation of the 
information in the statements. 

 

 
 
Dr. Daniel Weeks   
President & Vice-Chancellor 

Colleen Smith, CA 
Director, Finance & Budgets 

 
 
 
May 20, 2015 DRAFT FOR A

PPROVAL

208



KPMG LLP Telephone   (250) 563-7151 
Chartered Accountants Telefax    (250) 563-5693 
400 - 177 Victoria Street Internet        www.kpmg.ca 
Prince George BC V2L 5R8 

KPMG LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm  
of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Members of the Board of Governors of the University of Northern British Columbia 

To the Minister of Advanced Education, Province of British Columbia 

We  have  audited  the  accompanying  consolidated  financial  statements  of  the  University  of 
Northern British Columbia (“University”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at March 31, 2015, the consolidated statements of operations, changes  in net debt 
and  cash  flows  for  the  year  then  ended,  and  notes,  comprising  a  summary  of  significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management  is  responsible  for  the preparation of  these  consolidated  financial  statements  in 
accordance with  the  financial reporting provisions of Section 23.1 of  the Budget Transparency 
and  Accountability  Act  of  the  Province  of  British  Columbia,  and  for  such  internal  control  as 
management  determines  is  necessary  to  enable  the  preparation  of  consolidated  financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our  audit. We  conducted  our  audit  in  accordance with Canadian  generally  accepted  auditing 
standards.    Those  standards  require  that we  comply with  ethical  requirements  and plan  and 
perform  the  audit  to  obtain  reasonable  assurance  about whether  the  consolidated  financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An  audit  involves  performing  procedures  to  obtain  audit  evidence  about  the  amounts  and 
disclosures  in  the consolidated  financial  statements.   The procedures  selected depend on our 
judgment,  including  the assessment of  the  risks of material misstatement of  the consolidated 
financial  statements, whether  due  to  fraud  or  error.    In making  those  risk  assessments, we 
consider  internal  control  relevant  to  the University’s preparation and  fair presentation of  the 
consolidated  financial  statements  in order  to design audit procedures  that are appropriate  in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
University’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  in our audit  is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

DRAFT

209



 
 
 
Opinion 
 
In  our  opinion,  the  consolidated  financial  statements  of  the  University  of  Northern  British 
Columbia  as  at March  31,  2015  and  for  the  year  then  ended  are  prepared,  in  all material 
aspects,  in  accordance with  the  financial  reporting  provisions  of  Section  23.1  of  the  Budget 
Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention  to Note 2  (a) of  the consolidated  financial 
statements, which describes  the basis of accounting and  significant differences between  such 
basis of accounting and Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 

 
 
Chartered Accountants 
 
May 30, 2015 
 
Prince George, Canada 

DRAFT

210



UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2015, with comparative figures for 2014 (in thousands of dollars)

2015 2014

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,456           $ 23,757       
Short-term investments (Note 4) 24,513           26,193       
Accounts receivable 3,216             2,170         
Inventories for resale 728                763            
Portfolio investments (Note 5) 19,851           23,514       

79,764           76,397       

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) 9,448             7,756         
Deferred revenue 855                586            
Deferred contributions (Note 8) 30,197           26,099       
Deferred capital contributions (Note 9) 169,914         172,816     
Long-term debt, net of sinking fund (Note 10) 5                    1,374         

210,419         208,631     

Net debt (130,655)        (132,234)    

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 11) 216,474         218,249     
Inventories held for use 92                  98              
Endowment investments (Notes 5 and 14) 47,382           43,719       
Prepaid expenses 1,822             1,283         

265,770         263,349     

Accumulated surplus (Note 13) $ 135,115         $ 131,115     

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

On behalf of the Board of Governors:

Chair, Board of Governors PresidentDRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

211



UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

Year ended March 31, 2015, with comparative figures for 2014 (in thousands of dollars)

Budget 2015 2014
(Note 17)

Revenue:
Government grants

Provincial government $ 47,045   $ 48,818   $ 49,348   
Federal government 1,241     5,307     7,586     

Tuition fees 19,387   18,822   18,935   
Other fees 1,228     1,343     1,402     
Sales of goods and services 6,060     9,678     9,892     
Gifts, bequests, non-government grants and contracts 5,652     11,640   11,904   
Investment income 315        2,635     3,032     
External cost recovery and other income 400        550        497        
Revenue recognized from deferred capital contributions -             6,589     6,570     

81,328   105,382 109,166 

Expenses: 
Ancillary operations 6,533     7,814     9,391     
Facility operations and maintenance 2,045     12,519   11,507   
Instruction 40,390   40,107   40,138   
Institutional support 28,901   31,346   30,314   
Sponsored research -             6,941     7,813     
Specific purpose -             6,318     6,335     

77,869   105,045 105,498 

Annual operating surplus before restricted contributions 3,459     337        3,668     

Net restricted endowment contributions -             3,663     1,783     

Annual surplus 3,459     4,000     5,451     

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 131,115 131,115 125,664 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 134,574 $ 135,115 $ 131,115 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

212



UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Debt

Year ended March 31, 2015, with comparative figures for 2014 (in thousands of dollars)

2015 2014
Budget Total Total 

(Note 17)

Annual surplus $ 3,459        $ 4,000        $ 5,451        

Acquisition of tangible capital assets -                (7,113)       (3,332)       
Write down of tangible capital asstes -                -                239           
Amortization of tangible capital assets -                8,888        8,834        

-                1,775        5,741        

Consumption of inventories held for use -                98             89             
Acquisition of inventories held for use (92)            (98)            
Consumption of prepaid expenses -                1,283        1,587        
Acquisition of prepaid expenses -                (1,822)       (1,283)       
Acquisition of endowment investments -                (3,663)       (1,798)       

-                (4,196)       (1,503)       
3,459        1,579        9,689        

Decrease in net debt 3,459        1,579        9,689        

Net debt, beginning of year (132,234)   (132,234)   (141,923)   

Net debt, end of year $ (128,775)   $ (130,655)   $ (132,234)   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

213



UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended March 31, 2015, with comparative figures for 2014 (in thousands of dollars)

2015 2014

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities:
Annual surplus $ 4,000      $ 5,451     
Items not involving cash:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,888      8,834     
Revenue recognized from deferred capital contributions (6,589)     (6,570)    

Change in non-cash operating working capital:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable (1,046)     934        
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses (539)        304        
Decrease (increase) in inventories held for use 6             (9)           
Decrease (increase) in inventories held for sale 35           (72)         
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable

and accrued liabilities 1,692      (1,011)    
Decrease in deferred revenue 269         (199)       

Net change in cash from operating activities 6,716      7,662     

Capital activities:
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (7,114)     (3,332)    
Net change in cash from capital activities (7,114)     (3,332)    

Financing activities:
Cash used (restricted) for repayment of long-term debt 3,132      1,107     
Repayment of long-term debt (4,500)     (2,761)    
Net change in cash from financing activities (1,368)     (1,654)    

Investing activities:
Capital contributions 3,687      692        
(Increase) decrease in short-term investments 1,680      384        
Deferred contributions 4,098      6,070     
Increase in endowment investments (3,663)     (1,798)    
Purchase of portfolio investments 3,663      (13,526)  
Net change in cash from financing activities 9,465      (8,178)    

Net change in cash 7,699      (5,502)    

Cash, beginning of year 23,757    29,259   

Cash, end of year $ 31,456    $ 23,757   

Cash is comprised of cash and cash equivalents

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

214



1. Authority and Purpose 

The University of Northern British Columbia (UNBC or the University) operates under the 
authority of the University Act of British Columbia. UNBC is a comprehensive research university 
dedicated to improving the quality of life in its region, and beyond, by attaining the highest 
standards of undergraduate and graduate teaching, learning, and research. The University is 
governed by a 15 member Board of Governors, eight of whom are appointed by the Government 
of British Columbia, including two on the recommendation of the UNBC Alumni Association.  The 
academic governance of the University is vested in the Senate.  UNBC is a registered charity and 
is therefore exempt from taxes under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act.  The University receives 
a significant portion of its revenues from the Province of British Columbia. 

 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The consolidated financial statements of the University are prepared by management in 
accordance with the basis of accounting described below. Significant accounting policies of the 
University are as follows:  

(a) Basis of accounting: 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 23.1 
of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia 
supplemented by Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011 issued by the Province of British 
Columbia Treasury Board.   
   
The Budget Transparency and Accountability Act requires that the consolidated financial 
statements be prepared in accordance with the set of standards and guidelines that comprise 
generally accepted accounting principles for senior governments in Canada, or if the 
Treasury Board makes a regulation, the set of standards and guidelines that comprise 
generally accepted accounting principles for senior governments in Canada as modified by 
the alternate standard or guideline or part thereof adopted in the regulation.   
 
Regulation 257/2010 requires all tax-payer supported organizations in the Schools, 
Universities, Colleges and Hospitals sectors to adopt Canadian public sector accounting 
standards without any PS4200 elections effective their first fiscal year commencing after 
January 1, 2012.   

Regulation 198/2011 requires that restricted contributions received or receivable are to be 
reported as revenue depending on the nature of the restrictions on the use of the funds by 
the contributors as follows: 

  DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

215



2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(i) Contributions for the purpose of acquiring or developing a depreciable tangible capital 
asset or contributions in the form of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded 
and, referred to as deferred capital contributions and recognized in revenue at the same 
rate that amortization of the related tangible capital asset is recorded. The reduction of 
the deferred capital contributions and the recognition of the revenue are accounted for in 
the fiscal period during which the tangible capital asset is used to provide services. 

(ii) Contributions restricted for specific purposes other than those for the acquisition or 
development of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as deferred 
contributions and recognized in revenue in the year in which the stipulation or restriction 
on the contributions have been met.  

For British Columbia tax-payer supported organizations, these contributions include 
government transfers and externally restricted contributions. 
 
The accounting policy requirements under Regulation 198/2011 are significantly different 
from the requirements of Canadian public sector accounting standards which requires that:  

• government transfers, which do not contain a stipulation that creates a liability, be 
recognized as revenue by the recipient  when approved by the transferor and the 
eligibility criteria have been met in accordance with public sector accounting standard 
PS3410; and 

• externally restricted contributions be recognized as revenue in the period in which the 
resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified in accordance with public 
sector accounting standard PS3100.   

As a result, revenue recognized in the statement of operations and certain related deferred 
capital contributions would be recorded differently under Canadian Public Sector Accounting 
Standards. 

(b) Basis of consolidation 

(i) Consolidated entities 

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses of organizations which are controlled by UNBC.  UNBC Investment Trust is a 
for-profit entity controlled by the University, whose primary purpose is to manage certain  
investment assets of the endowment fund; it is included in the financial statements on a 
fully consolidated basis. 

(ii) Trusts under administration 

Trusts administered by the University as directed by agreement or statute for certain 
beneficiaries are not included in the University’s consolidated financial statements. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, money-market securities and investments with 
terms to maturity of three months or less at date of purchase and are cashable on demand.  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

216



2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Short-term investments 

Short-term investments consist of highly liquid money-market and bond securities and other 
investments with terms to maturity of four months to one year at date of purchase. 

(e) Financial instruments 

Financial instruments are classified into two categories: fair value or cost.  

Fair value category: Portfolio instruments that are quoted in an active market and derivative 
instruments are reflected at fair value as at the reporting date. Other financial instruments 
which the University has designated to be recorded at fair value include cash, cash 
equivalents and short term investments. Sales and purchases of investments are recorded on 
the trade date. Transaction costs related to the acquisition of investments are recorded as an 
expense. Unrealized gains and losses on financial assets are recognized in the Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses until such time that the financial asset is derecognized 
due to disposal or impairment. At the time of derecognition, the related realized gains and 
losses are recognized in the Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus and related 
balances reversed from the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. Unrealized 
gains and losses on endowment investments where earnings are restricted as to use are 
recorded as deferred contributions and recognized in revenue when disposed and when the 
related expenses are incurred. 

Cost category: Realized gains, losses and interest expense are recognized in the Statement 
of Operations and Accumulated Surplus when the financial asset is derecognized due to 
disposal or impairment. Amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are 
measured at cost.  Any gains, losses or expense is recorded in the annual surplus (deficit) 
depending on the nature of the financial asset or liability that gave rise to the gain, loss or 
expense. Valuation allowances are made when collection is in doubt. Interest is accrued on 
amounts receivable to the extent it is deemed collectible. 

(f) Inventories for resale 

Inventories held for resale, including books, clothing, office and paper supplies, food and 
other items for retail sale are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost 
includes the original purchase cost, plus shipping and applicable duties. Net realizable value 
is the estimated selling price less any costs to sell. 

(g) Non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in 
the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are 
not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(i) Tangible capital assets 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly 
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. Interest 
is not capitalized whenever external debt is issued to finance the construction of tangible  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

217



2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

capital assets. Donated assets are recorded at fair value at the date of transfer.  In 
unusual circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, the tangible 
capital asset would be recognized at nominal value.  The cost of the tangible capital 
assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful 
lives shown below. Land is not amortized as it is deemed to have a permanent value: 
 
Asset   Rate 
Buildings and site services  50 years 
Capital renovations  20 years  
Library materials   10 years 
Equipment and furnishings     8 years 
Computers     3 years 
 
Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for productive 
use.  Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no 
longer contribute to the University’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the 
value of future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than 
their net book value.  

(ii) Works of art and historic assets 

Works of art and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these financial statements. 

(iii) Inventories held for use 

Inventories held for use such as office, stationery and lab supplies distributed to various 
departments are recorded at cost. 

Cost includes the original purchase cost, plus shipping and applicable duties. 

(g) Revenue recognition 

Tuition and student fees and sales of goods and services are reported as revenue in the 
period to which they apply and when the liability to refund has expired.  

Unrestricted donations and grants are recorded as revenue when receivable if the amounts 
can be estimated and collection is reasonably assured. Pledges from donors are recorded as 
revenue when payment is received by or the transfer of property is completed. 

Restricted donations and grants are reported as revenue depending on the nature of the 
restrictions on the use of the funds by the contributors as follows: 

(i) Contributions for the purpose of acquiring or developing a depreciable tangible capital 
asset or in the form of a depreciable tangible capital asset, in each case for use in 
providing services are recorded and referred to as deferred capital contributions and 
recognized in revenue at the same rate that amortization of the tangible capital asset is 
recorded. The reduction of the deferred capital contributions and the recognition of the 
revenue are accounted for in the fiscal period during which the tangible capital asset is 
used to provide services. 

  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

218



2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(ii) Contributions restricted for specific purposes other than for those to be held in perpetuity 
or the acquisition or development of a depreciable tangible capital asset are recorded as 
deferred contributions and recognized in revenue in the year in which the stipulation or 
restriction on the contribution have been met.  

(iii) Contributions restricted to be retained in perpetuity, allowing only the investment income 
earned thereon to be spent are recorded as endowment contributions on the statement 
of operations for the portion to be held in perpetuity and as deferred contributions for 
any restricted investment income earned thereon. 

Investment income includes interest recorded on an accrual basis and dividends recorded as 
declared, realized gains and losses on the sale of investments, and writedowns on 
investments where the loss in value is determined to be other-than-temporary. 

(h) Use of estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions. 
These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and 
related disclosures. Key areas where management has made estimates and assumptions 
include those related to the determination of fair value of financial instruments, the useful life 
of tangible capital assets for amortization and the related amortization of deferred capital 
contributions. Where actual results differ from these estimates and assumptions, the impact 
will be recorded in future periods when the difference becomes known. 

(i) Foreign currency translation 

The University’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar. Transactions in foreign currencies 
are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the transaction date. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and non-monetary assets 
and liabilities which were designated in the fair value category under the financial instrument 
standard are reflected in the financial statements in equivalent Canadian dollars at the 
exchange rate in effect on the date of the statement of financial position. Any gain or loss 
resulting from a change in rates between the transaction date and the settlement date or date 
of the statement of financial position is recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains 
and losses. In the period of settlement, the related cumulative remeasurement gain/loss 
isreversed in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and the exchange gain or 
loss in relation to the exchange rate at the date of the item’s initial recognition is recognized 
in the statement of operations and accumulated surplus.  

(j) Budget figures 

Budget figures are provided for the operating and ancillary funds only.  They have been 
provided for comparative purposes in Note 17 and have been derived from the 2014/15 
General Operating and Ancillary Fund budgets approved by the Board of Governors of UNBC 
on March 29, 2014. 

 

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

219



3. Change in accounting policy 

The University adopted Public Sector Accounting Board Standard PS 3260 Liability for 
Contaminated Sites effective April 1, 2014.  Under PS 3260, contaminated sites are defined as 
the result of contamination being introduced in air, soil, water or sediment of a chemical, organic, 
or radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an environmental standard.  This Standard 
relates to sites that are not in productive use and sites in productive use where an unexpected 
event resulted in contamination.   The University adopted this standard on a retroactive basis; 
however, there were no adjustments as a result of the adoption of this standard. 

 
4. Short-term investments 

 

  2015   2014 

     Term Deposits, GIC, T-bills $ 10,820 $ 12,850 

Municipal Financing Authority - bond fund  8,138  7,843 

Municipal Financing Authority - money market fund  5,555  5,500 

 $ 24,513 $ 26,193 
 
 
 
5. Financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are comprised of the following:  Money 
market, fixed income and equity amounts are managed in pooled balanced funds by Letko 
Brosseau & Associates Inc. and Gryphon Investment Counsel Inc.  Mortgages are held in an 
open-ended mutual fund unit trust as well as Trez Capital Fund V and managed by Trez Capital 
Inc.; private equities are held in a limited partnership, Clairvest Equity Partners V, managed by 
Clairvest Group Inc.; and private debt is held in a limited partnership, Wellington Financial Fund 
IV, managed by Wellington Financial. 

 

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

220



5. Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

6. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

  2015   2014 

     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 5,821 $  4,821  
Salaries and benefits payable  2,930   2,326  
Accrued vacation pay  697    609  

 $ 9,448 $  7,756 
  

Fair Value
Financial assets: Hierarchy 2015 2014

Portfolio investments, quoted at fair value - operating:
Mortgages Level 2 $         -   $    5,000 
Private debt Level 3         -      1,643 

        -      6,643 
Restricted Portfolio investments, quoted at fair value:

Money market Level 1    1,390       911 
Fixed income Level 1    4,707    5,416 
Equity Level 1  11,918  10,544 
Mortgages Level 2    1,293         -   
Private equity Level 3        72         -   
Private debt Level 3       471         -   

 19,851  16,871 

Total portfolio investments  19,851  23,514 

Non-financial assets:
Restricted endowment investments, quoted at fair value:

Money market Level 1    3,316    2,345 
Fixed income Level 1  11,240    1,394 
Equity Level 1  28,446  39,981 
Mortgages Level 2    3,084         -   
Private equity Level 3       173         -   
Private debt Level 3    1,123         -   

 47,382  43,719 

Total financial instruments $  67,233 $  67,233 

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

221



7. Pension plan 

The University has a defined contribution pension plan covering all permanent employees of the 
University.  The pension plan is a separate legal entity with its own Board of Trustees. Sun Life of 
Canada was appointed to provide custodial services for plan members.  Investment management 
services are provided by several fund managers including Phillips, Hager & North Investment 
Management Ltd., Sun Life Assurance, Beutel Goodman, BlackRock Asset Management Canada 
Ltd., Connor Clark & Lunn Investment Management Ltd., McLean Budden, Hexavest Inc. and CI 
Investments Inc. Plan members individually select their investment vehicles from those available 
which include bond, balanced, money market, equity and global funds, and guaranteed term 
deposits (1, 3, and 5 year). 

The University expenses the contribution amounts made to the plan in each year.  During the 
year, the University contributed $3,495 (2014 - $3,568) to the plan. 

8. Deferred contributions 

Deferred contributions are comprised of funds restricted for research, capital acquisitions and 
other specific purposes.  Changes in deferred contributions balances are as follows: 

 

9. Deferred capital contributions 

Contributions that are restricted for capital are referred to as deferred capital contributions. 
Amounts are recognized into revenue as the liability is extinguished over the useful life of the 
asset. Treasury Board provided direction on accounting treatment as disclosed in note 2. 
Changes in the deferred capital contributions balance are as follows: 

 

  2015   2014 
     
Balance, beginning of year $ 172,816 $ 178,931 
Contributions received during the year 

 
3,687 

 
455 

Revenue recognized from deferred capital contributions 
 

(6,589) 
 

(6,570) 

Balance, end of year $ 169,914 $ 172,816 

              2015   2014 

   Capital   Research   
Specific 
Purpose  Total  Total 

Balance, beginning of year $ 
                  

729  $ 
               

6,887  $ 
       

18,483   $  
           

26,099 $ 
       

20,029  

Contributions received during the year    
                  

10,028   
            

5,713   
             

15,741   
       

30,768  
Revenue recognized from deferred 
contributions  

                  
(99)  (8,623) 

 
(1,616)  

                
(10,338)  

      
(24,007) 

           
Transfers to deferred capital 
contributions       (1,151)   (154)    (1,305)           (691) 

Balance, end of year $ 630  $ 7,141                $ 
       

19,477  $  
           

30,197 $ 
       

26,099  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

222



10. Long-term debt 

Long-term debt reported on the statement of financial position is measured at amortized cost and 
is as follows: 

  2015   2014 

     Province of British Columbia (Section 58 of the University Act), 
bearing interest at 9%, maturing June 2019 $   3,000               $ 7,500 
Sinking fund asset  (2,995)  (6,126) 

Balance, end of year $ 5 $ 1,374                    

 
  2015   2014 

Interest expense for the year on outstanding debt $ 487 $ 1,013 

During the year, $4,500 of debt was retired, utilizing accumulated sinking funds in the amount of 
$3,550. 

Sinking fund instalments 

The debt is a 25 year debenture with a 20 year sinking fund; obligations for sinking fund 
instalments were completely fulfilled during the year. 

11. Tangible capital assets 
 

 
 
 

2015  Balance at  Balance at 
Cost March 31, 2014 Additions Disposals March 31, 2015

Land $ 6,656                 $ -             $ -                   $ 6,656                 
Buildings and site improvements 272,924             2,139         -                   275,063             
Furniture and equipment 45,223               3,634         48,857               
Computers 35,520               748            36,268               
Library holdings 26,290               222            -                   26,512               
Assets under construction -                     370            370                    
Total $ 386,613             $ 7,113         $ -                   $ 393,726             

2015 Accumulated  Balance at Amortization  Balance at 
amortization March 31, 2014 Disposals expense March 31, 2015

Land $ -                     $ -             $ -                   $ -                     
Buildings and site improvements (72,774)             (5,499)              (78,273)             
Furniture and equipment (38,765)             -             (1,577)              (40,342)             
Computers (33,777)             -             (1,014)              (34,791)             
Library holdings (23,048)             -             (798)                 (23,846)             
Assets under construction -                     -             -                   -                     
Total $ (168,364)           $ -             $ (8,888)              $ (177,252)           DRAFT FOR A

PPROVAL

223



11. Tangible capital assets (continued)  

 

 
  

 Net book value  Net book value 
March 31, 2014 March 31, 2015

Land $ 6,656                 $ 6,656                 
Buildings and site improvements 200,150             196,790             
Furniture and equipment 6,458                 8,515                 
Computers 1,743                 1,477                 
Library holdings 3,242                 2,666                 
Assets under construction -                     370                    
Total $ 218,249             $ 216,474             

2014  Balance at  Balance at 
Cost March 31, 2013 Additions Disposals March 31, 2014

Land $ 6,656                 $ -             $ -                      $ 6,656                 
Buildings and site improvements 272,924             -             -                      272,924             
Furniture and equipment 43,541               1,682         -                      45,223               
Computers 34,142               1,380         (2)                        35,520               
Library holdings 26,020               270            -                      26,290               
Assets under construction 237                    -             (237)                    -                     
Total $ 383,520             $ 3,332         $ (239)                    $ 386,613             

2014 Accumulated  Balance at Amortization  Balance at 
amortization March 31, 2013 Disposals expense March 31, 2014

Land $ -                     $ -             $ -                      $ -                     
Buildings and site improvements (67,314)             (5,460)                (72,774)             
Furniture and equipment (37,306)             -             (1,459)                (38,765)             
Computers (32,788)             -             (989)                    (33,777)             
Library holdings (22,122)             -             (926)                    (23,048)             
Assets under construction -                     -             -                      -                     
Total $ (159,530)           $ -             $ (8,834)                $ (168,364)           

 Net book value  Net book value 
March 31, 2013 March 31, 2014

Land $ 6,656                 $ 6,656                 
Buildings and site improvements 205,610             200,150             
Furniture and equipment 6,235                 6,458                 
Computers 1,354                 1,743                 
Library holdings 3,898                 3,242                 
Assets under construction 237                    -                     
Total $ 223,990             $ 218,249             DRAFT FOR A

PPROVAL

224



11. Tangible capital assets (continued)  

(a) Assets under construction 

Assets under construction having a value of $370 (2014 - $NIL) are not amortized. 
Amortization of these assets commences when the asset is put into service; if it is determined 
that the costs no longer represent cost of an ongoing project, they are expensed in the 
statement of operations. 

(b) Works of art and historical treasures 

The University manages and controls various works of art and non-operational historical 
cultural assets including artifacts, paintings and sculptures located at University sites and 
public display areas. These assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets and are not 
amortized. 

12. Financial risk management 

UNBC has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, market risk 
and liquidity risk.  The Board of Governors, through management, ensures that the University has 
processes in place to identify and monitor major risks. 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the University if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Such risks arise principally from 
certain financial assets held by the University consisting of cash, short-term investments, 
amounts receivable and investments.  

Unless otherwise disclosed in these consolidated financial statements, the University is not 
subject to significant credit risk associated with its financial instruments. The maximum credit 
risk for the University’s financial assets is the carrying value of the asset. 

(b) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the 
University’s income. The objective of market risk management is to control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates. 

It is management's opinion that the University is not exposed to significant market or interest 
rate risk arising from its financial instruments. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the University will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they become due.  

The University manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and forecasted cash 
flows from operations and anticipated investing and financing activities to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

225



12. Financial risk management (continued) 

normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the University’s reputation.  

(d) Fair value of financial instruments 

Generally accepted accounting principles define the fair value of a financial instrument as the 
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing 
parties. The University uses the following methods and assumptions to estimate the fair value 
of each class of financial instruments for which the carrying amounts are included in the 
Statement of Financial Position under the following captions: 
(i) Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are measured in the statement of 

financial position at fair value. Their carrying values approximate fair value due to the 
relatively short term to maturity of these instruments. 

(ii) The financial instruments measured at fair value held within each investment are 
classified according to a hierarchy which includes three levels, reflecting the reliability of 
the inputs involved in the fair value determination. The different levels are defined as 
follows:  
• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices) 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

The classification of the University’s instruments is indicated in Note 5. 

13. Accumulated surplus 

Accumulated surplus is comprised of the following: 

 

  2015   2014 

     
Accumulated operating surplus $ 87,733 $ 87,396 
Endowments   47,382 

 
43,719 

 $ 135,115 $ 131,115 

 
  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

226



13. Accumulated surplus (continued) 

Accumulated operating surplus consists of the following individual fund surpluses: 
 

  2015   2014 
Invested in tangible capital assets     

Capital assets $ 216,474 $ 218,249 
Amounts financed by deferred capital contributions  (169,941)  (172,816) 

Amount financed by long term debt (net of sinking fund)  (5)  (1,374) 
  46,528  44,059 
     
Appropriated for specific purposes     

General Operating     
Departmental carryforwards  5,891  5,054 
Minor capital projects, equipment purchases and 
special projects 

 
8,573 

 
9,312 

Professional development and internal research 
funds 

 
4,926 

 
4,395 

  19,390  18,761 
Ancillary Services  1,176  713 
Capital  5,410  7,184 
Specific Purpose  11,712  13,162 

  37,688  39,820 
     
Unrestricted surplus  3,517  3,517 

Total accumulated operating surplus $ 87,733 $ 87,396 

General Operating appropriations are comprised of departmental amounts calculated under a 
policy which allows them to carry forward unspent amounts to future periods, as well as an 
allocation of unspent salary allocations under the authority of the Provost and the Vice President, 
Administration and Finance.  It also includes allocations for one time projects, minor capital 
projects and new equipment purchases and funds set aside for individuals covered under various 
employment handbooks for professional development and research. 
 
Ancillary Services represents accumulated funds held for the ongoing operations of ancillaries 
such as the Bookstore, Conference Services, Continuing Education and Vending. 
 
Capital represents funds held for specific capital projects and the Capital Equipment 
Replacement Reserve. 
 
Specific Purpose are funds that are restricted internally for specific activities and use, such as 
conference fees, library fines and reserves. 

  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

227



14. Endowments 

Endowment contributions form part of accumulated surplus. Changes to the endowment balances 
are as follows: 

  2015   2014 

  
 

  
Balance, beginning of year $ 43,719 $ 41,921 
Contributions received during the year  2,454   385  
Capitalized interest  874   850  
Transfers from specific purpose funds  335   
Income reserve gain (loss) not adjusted to individual 
endowment principal balances  - 

 
 563 

      
Balance, end of year $ 47,382 $  43,719  

The balance shown does not include endowment principal with fair value of $1,991 (2014 - 
$1,803) and book value of $1,681 (2014 - $1,681) held by the Vancouver Foundation.  The 
excluded principal is not owned or controlled by the University, but income from it is paid to the 
University to be used for specific purposes. 

15. Expenses by object 
 
The following is a summary of expenses by object: 

  2015   2014 

Salaries and wages $         52,585  $  51,844  
Benefits 

 
          9,738  

 
 9,702  

Travel and personnel costs 
 

          3,276  
 

 3,372  
Operational supplies and expenses 

 
        10,653  

 
 10,298  

Equipment, furnishings and rent 
 

          1,877  
 

 1,192  
Professional and contracted services 

 
          6,681  

 
 8,013  

Scholarships, fellowships and bursaries 
 

          3,240  
 

 2,916  
Renovations, alterations and maintenance 

 
          2,722  

 
 3,250  

Cost of goods sold 
 

          2,333  
 

 2,414  
Interest 

 
             354  

 
 955  

Utilities 
 

          2,698  
 

 2,708  
Amortization of tangible capital assets 

 
          8,888     8,834  

 $ 105,045  $  105,498  
 
  

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

228



16. Trust funds 

At March 31, 2015 the University held funds in trust on behalf of the Northern Medical Programs 
Trust which are not included in these consolidated financial statements.  Trust fund balances, 
having a book value of $7,562 (2014 - $7,559) and fair value of $9,827 (2014 - $9,005) are 
administered by the University. 
 

17. Budget 

The University administers each of its types of funds from a financial perspective in a manner 
relevant to the nature of the operations of the fund. 

• The Operating Fund, consisting of the General Operating Fund, including the Northern 
Medical Program, is managed pursuant to an annual operating budget approved by the 
Board of Governors.  The budget included for the Northern Medical Program is part of the 
overall Medical Program Expansion budget approved by the Distributed Program 
Planning Committee, of which UNBC is a member. 

• The Capital Fund is financially managed based on a project by project basis, with funding 
derived from various sources.  Projects are approved individually and may span several 
reporting periods; therefore, capital budget figures are not available for inclusion on the 
Statement of Net Debt. 

• Externally funded Specific Purpose and Sponsored Research funds are financially 
managed on an individual basis based on the contract or agreement in place relating to 
the revenue. 

• Ancillary Funds are financially managed pursuant to annual operating budgets approved 
by the Board of Governors. 

The 2014/15 budgets for the Operating and Ancillary Funds were approved by the Board of 
Governors on March 29, 2014.  These budgets, prepared on internal accounting basis, have been 
adjusted to more closely conform to PSAS standards in the table below. 

  As 
Approved 

Total revenue $ 81,328 

Total expenses  77,869 

Total capital expenditures  321 

Total interfund transfers  3,138 

  81,328 

Budgeted annual surplus  - 

Eliminate interfund transfers  (3,138) 

Eliminate capital expenditures and debt payments  (321) 

Annual surplus for Operating Commitments $ 3,459 

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

229



18. Comparative figures 
 

Certain of the prior year comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current 
year’s presentation. 

DRAFT FOR A
PPROVAL

230



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 19, 2015 

Agenda Item:  6.m. FTE Audit Report to March 31, 2015 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session     X    Public Session 

Purpose:  x   Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Colleen Smith, Director of Finance and Budgets 

Reviewed By: Jack Falk, Senior Advisor to the President 

 

 

Material:  Please see attached 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

 

231



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Student Full Time Equivalent (FTE) Enrollment Report of 

 

UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN  
BRITISH COLUMBIA  

 

Year ended March 31, 2015 
 

232



 
 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
 (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

 

 
 

 KPMG LLP Telephone  (250) 563-7151 

 Chartered Accountants Fax (250) 563-5693 

 400-177 Victoria Street Internet www.kpmg.ca 

 Prince George BC V2L 5R8   

 Canada   

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Board of Governors of the University of Northern British Columbia 

 

We have audited the student Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Enrollment Report of the University of 
Northern British Columbia (the “University”) for the year ended March 31, 2015, in accordance with 
the British Columbia Ministry of Advanced Education Student FTE Enrollment Reporting Manual.  
This report is the responsibility of the University's management.  Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on this report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards for assurance engagements established by 
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants.  Those standards require that we plan 
and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the report is free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the report.  An audit also includes assessing the procedures by which the enrolment 
report was prepared and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall 
report presentation. 

In our opinion, the Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Enrollment Report presents fairly, in all material 
respects, the full-time equivalent enrollment at the University for the year ended March 31, 2015, in 
accordance with the British Columbia Ministry of Advanced Education Student FTE Enrollment 
Manual referred to above. 

 

 

Chartered Accountants 
 
Prince George, Canada 
May 15, 2015 
 
 
 
 

233



Institutional Research 2014‐15 Annualized FTE Audit Report‐ MAVED ‐ MAVED

2014/15 Final FTE Report AUDITED Ministry of Advanced Education
University of Northern British Columbia Post-Secondary Finance

Institution Contact:  Dr. Daniel Weeks, President and Vice‐Chancellor                    Phone Number: 250‐960‐5601                              Email:  daniel.weeks@unbc.ca

Ministry Code CIP Code 1
Skills Gap Plan 

Baseline
14/15 Skills 
Gap Plan

Total 
Target 

Funded

Base 
Funded 
Target

Total 
Target

Skills Gap 
Plan Baseline 

Final
14/15 Skills 

Gap Plan Final
Base Funded 

Final Total Actuals Comments
NURS 51.3801 Bachelor of Science in Nursing 237                   237           41             278          224                  224                  
NURS 51.3805 Nurse Practitioner 30                     30             -            30            26                    26                    
NURS 51.3801 Masters in Nursing 10                     10             -            10            10                    10                    
NURS 51.3811 Rural Nursing with Remote Certification 24                     24             -            24            20                    20                    
HLTH 51.0000 Other Graduate Level Health Science -            21             21            26                    26                    
UNGR 5201 Bachelor of Commerce (Major in Accounting) 9                  9               9              9                      91                    100                  
UNGR 1408 Bachelor of Applied Science in Enviro. Engineering 10                10             10            10                    80                    90                    
UNGR 4407 Bachelor of Social Work 21                21             21            21                    99                    120                  
UNGR 4201 BSc  in Psychology 7                  7               7              7                      93                    100                  
UNGR 2601 Bachelor of Health Science 6                  6               6              6                      113                  119                  
UNGR 2601 BSc in Biochemistry & Molecular Biology 6                  6               6              6                      134                  140                  
UNGR 4201 10                10             10            10                    23                    33                    

GRAD 0302 Natural Resources & Environmental Studies (PhD) 4                  4               4              4                      31                    35                    
GRAD 0502 Master of Arts in First Nations Studies 5                  5               5              5                      7                      12                    
GRAD 5100 Health Sciences (PhD) 6                  6               6              6                      14                    20                    
UNGR Multiple AVED Undergraduate Balance Not Targeted -            2,629        2,629       1,090               1,090               
GRAD Multiple AVED Graduate Balance 126                   126           253           379          148                  266                  414                  

Undesignated Target -            -           76                    76                    continuing studies FTE
AVED SubTotal 427                 84              511         2,944      3,455     427                84                   2,142             2,653             

Supplementary FTE Information
  Health Program FTEs 

Multiple Health Programs Funded by AVED 325                  all above programs with CIP code 51.xxxx
Multiple Health Programs Funded by Other Sources (please list programs)

  International FTEs
     Reported in FTE Report (Domestic Tuition)

Multiple Undergraduate 25                    
Multiple Graduate 104                  

     Not Reported in FTE Report (International and Full-cost Tuition)
Multiple Undergraduate 170                  
Multiple Graduate

1 All CIP 51 programs have been updated to CIP Canada 2011 Codes, where applicable.

SUMMARY FTEs FTEs
Target Actual Utilization Target Actual Utilization

NURS 342               279                     81.5% Base Funded 2,944           2,142        72.8%
HLTH 21                 26                       123.8% SGP Baseline 427              427           100.0%
UNGR 2,698            1,791                  66.4% 2014-15 SGP 84              84           100.0%
GRAD 394               481                     122.2% Total 3,455         2,653      76.8%
UNDES. -               76                       0.0%
TOTAL 3,455            2,653                  76.8%

All Health 363               305                     84.0%

Undergrad 3,000            2,034                  67.8%
Grad 455               543                     119.3%
Undesignated -               76                       0.0%
TOTAL 3,455            2,653                  76.8%

Target Funded FTEs  Actual FTEs

Program Name

BSc in Natural Resources Management (Major in Forest 
Ecology and Management)

University of Northern British Columbia April 2013    printed: 5/15/2015 page 1 of 1234



 
 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 
 (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.  
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA 
Notes to the Student Full Time Equivalent (FTE) Enrollment Report 
Year ended March 31, 2015 
 
 

1. International Enrolments 

This report includes enrolments for International Students.  These enrolments, calculated 
based on course credits or class hours, are shown separately as they are not counted 
towards the target established by the Ministry. 

 

235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



Page 1 of 4 

 

    Board of Governors 
University of Northern British Columbia 

       3333 University Way, Prince George, BC, V2N 4Z9

     

 

 

BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 15, 2015 
Agenda Item / 
Prepared For: 

8. (a) External Relations  – Public Session 

Purpose: ____  Information __X__ Discussion 
 ____ Seeking Direction ____ Decision/Approval 
Prepared by: Katherine Scouten, Development Manager 

Christine Dillabaugh, EA to Vice President External 
Relations 

Reviewed by: Robert van Adrichem, Vice-President External Relations 
 

 
1. Institutional Fundraising Report: 

 

Distribution of 
Donations 

April 2013 – March 2014 April 2014 – March 2015 

Total Giving Donor Count  Total Giving Donor Count 

Student Awards $428,857 386 $433,281 274 
General $412,319 160 $358,749 198 
Athletics  $118,300 160 $160,486 272 

Northern Medical 
Program Trust $302,703 448 $299,959 637 

First Nations $24,725 6 $21,605 7 
Library $15,305 24 $44,235 26 

Green Initiatives $5,780 9 $402,131 10 
 General 

Research $91,389 14 $85,285 9 

Area of Greatest 
Need $67,131 157 $41,956 120 

Gift in Kind $156,094 54 $83,166 61 
Office of Research $329,197 3 $28,661 1 

     

Total $1,951,800 1421   $1,959,514 1615 

 

 

259



Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 

 

 The past fiscal year illustrates that UNBC is continuing to experience an increase in 
donors year over year. This is largely due to donations from those attending fundraising 
events such as the Athletics Legacy Breakfast and the Dr. Bob Ewert Memorial Lecture 
and dinner. The Athletics breakfast attracted 400 attendees, and 1000 (a sell-out for 
the second straight year) attended the Bob Ewert event. Each event raised more than 
$50,000.  

 Major projects advanced through fundraising in F2015 included the Field Education 
Centre (Aleza Lake Research Forest), the Sustainable Communities Development 
Project (campus heating project), and UNBC Athletics. 

 Donor Appreciation to be held on June 20, 2015 coinciding with the 25 th Anniversary 
Community Celebration: The Founding and the Future 

 The Spring solicitation appeal was made by President Weeks 

Giving by 
Constituency 

April 2013 –   March 2014 April 2014 –   March 2015 

Total Giving Donor Count Total Giving Donor Count 

Association / 
Organization $62,574 47 $94,960 44 

Business / 
Corporation $944,503 203 $1,038,644 215 

Foundations $346,729 12 $301,534 11 

Government $112,460 11 $26,613 10 

Individuals (non-
UNBC) $342,570 644 $356,751 854 

UNBC Individuals $67,792 154 $85,372 134 

Alumni $75,172 214 $55,640 186 

     

Total $1,951,800 1285   $1,959,514 1454 

     

Government of BC 
funding for the 

Sustainable 
Communities 

Demonstration 
Project 

  $1.1 million  

260



Page 3 of 4 

 

 A donation of real property in Prince George will be completed June 1, after which the 
property will proceed to sale.  This is the first completed donation of property for the 
University in many years. 

 
2. Communication with Stakeholders: 
 

a. R. van Adrichem participated in a branding and marketing session for Northern 
Development Initiatives Trust   

b. Various UNBCers attended the annual Council of Forest Industries convention in early 
April and presented a tour of the WIDC building for the COFI management committee.  

c. Campus tours were provided to officials from the First Nations Energy and Mining 
Council and the University of Norland. 

d. Alumni Relations is liaising with external organizations (NDIT, NCLGA, Northern Health, 
Initiatives Prince George, and the Chamber of Commerce) related to the launch of the 
results from the 2015 alumni survey. 

e.  Communications is leading the production of publications that will be distributed 
around Northern BC and profile local graduates and award-winners, local research, and 
local course offerings. A revised design will enable the inclusion of a President’s 
message and other broad university developments over the past year. 

f. Media relations conducted in May on behalf of the researchers studying the effects of 
the Mt Polley tailings pond breach resulted in news coverage from more than 16 
individual media outlets, including the Globe and Mail, Vancouver Sun, and national 
CBC. 
 

 

3. Government and Political Relations: 
 

a. Municipal Government 
- A letter of support was sent to the City of Prince George for upgrades to 

Masich Place Stadium which would include the installation of a turf soccer 
field. This would be of benefit to UNBC’s varsity soccer teams. 

- The annual North Central Local Governments Association (NCLGA) 
convention took place in Prince George in early May. UNBC was involved in 
several events including a pre-conference tour of PG’s energy systems, a 
luncheon in UNBC’s cafeteria, and the opening reception.  

- The Northern Medical Programs Trust AGM was held in conjunction with 
NCLGA. The AGM included the completion of a review of the Northern 
Medical Programs Trust. 

- Prince George Mayor Lyn Hall provided an editorial for the back cover of 
Update magazine that highlights the importance of a UNBC-City 
relationship. 

 
 

b. Provincial Government 
- Campus tours and conversations were held with MLA Kathy Corrigan 

(NDP opposition advocate for advanced education, April 20) and MLA 
Mike Bernier (Parliamentary Secretary for Energy Literacy, March 28). 

261



Page 4 of 4 

 

-  Advanced Education Minister Andrew Wilkinson and Deputy Minister 
Sandra Carroll visited UNBC on May 15. 

- All ten Northern MLAs have been invited to the 25th anniversary events 
at the end of June. 
 

c. Federal Government 
- President Weeks and Mayor Lyn Hall have invited the BC caucus of MPs 

to host one of its meetings at UNBC to mark the city’s centennial and 
the University’s 25th anniversary 

- All Northern BC MPs has been invited to the 25th anniversary 
community celebration on June 20. 

 
 

4. UNBC’s 25th Anniversary 
The primary remaining events are Convocation, the 25th anniversary community 

celebration, and a faculty-staff appreciation and barbeque: 
 
Convocation: the Prince George events will feature the 25th anniversary visual 

identity in the program and décor, as well as a special tasel for all graduating students. 
For the regional graduation celebrations, extra invitiations are being extended to 
alumni, donors, and founders. The regional events will also feature a ceremonial tree-
planting and remarks from a local person who is one of “the 16,000” members of the 
Interior University Society. 

 
25th anniversary Community Celebration: The Founding and the Future: This event 

will be held on the afternoon of June 20th and feature a program that reflects on aspects 
of our history that have shaped our ethos and serve as a platform for imagining the 
University’s future. The event will also feature an unveiling of all 16,000 names on 
campus, a reception/reunion, and the annual donor appreciation. 

 
Faculty and staff appreciation: A barbeque for all current faculty and staff will be 

held on June 22, the exact day of UNBC’s 25th anniversary. It’s also anticipated that a 
reception will be held that morning for current employees who are also founding 
employees (that is, those who started with UNBC before Dec 31, 1994). 

 
Invitations for the Community Celebration have been issued to Northern BC 

government officials, Board and Senate, regional advisory committee members, 
President’s Council, students, alumni, current faculty and staff, some founding faculty 
and staff, donors, members of founding governing bodies, and members of the 16,000 
for whom we have contact information. 

  
 
 

 
Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

262



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 12, 2015 

Agenda Item:  9.a. Office of Research Report 

Prepared For:      In-Camera Session   X  Public Session 

Purpose:   X   Information     Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Dr. Ranjana Bird, Vice-President Research 

Reviewed By:  

 

 

Material:  Attached 

 

 

 

Issue:   

 

 

 

Background:   

 

 

 

 

Motion:   

 

 
 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

263



 

1 | P a g e  
 

VICE-PRESIDENT, RESEARCH BOARD REPORT – MAY 2015 

ACTIVITIES DURING THE PAST TWO MONTHS 

Coffee Chats with Faculty: On March 23 & 26 I hosted four “coffee chats” to reconnect with the 
researchers, post-docs, and research managers following the suspension of Job Action. This was an 
important venue to discuss important issues and matters needing urgent attention.    

Attended the CUFA Awards Dinner: Dr. Antonia Mills received the Paz Buttedahl Career Achievement 
Award. Antonia discussed her journey as a researcher and her passion for the First Nation’s culture and 
research needs. 

Roundtable – ADM Science & Innovation (Industry Canada, Federal Government) Sector with 
Lawrence Hanson: Mr. Hanson requested a meeting with the VPRs of the BC Universities to discuss a 
few issues related to funding and any obstacles we may be facing. As the new ADM his trip to Vancouver 
was to familiarize himself with the Research Universities. 

Visit to Alberta for meetings at Lakeland College: This visit was to learn about the Integrated 
Renewable Energy System they have. This system combines the geothermal, wind and solar energy to 
heat the buildings. The lab is set up for education and research. They have worked with Alberta Innovate 
on bioenergy. The Industry Liaison Officer, and the Deans of Agriculture and Environment made time to 
see us. They expressed interest in connecting with UNBC.  

Premier’s Innovation and Excellence Award Judging Panel: As one of the judges I attended the 
adjudication meeting held on April 16. I used this trip to connect with the two Deputy Ministers to brief 
them about UNBC’s research interest and the current activities. The two Deputy Ministers were Mr. Wes 
Shoemaker, Deputy Minister Environment and Mr. Tom Ethier, Deputy Minister of Forest, Lands and 
Natural Resources. This was the first time I met the two Deputy Ministers.  

Social Sciences and Humanities Networking Workshop: The ex-VP Research of SSHRC, Giesel Yasmeen 
came to the campus to discuss research environment and key points to consider while applying for 
research funding in social sciences and humanities research in Canada. There were 15 individuals who 
attended workshop. It was a successful event. The attendees also connected with each other. The 
audience found it useful and requested additional networking events to be organized. 

Prince George Pipeline Environmental Effects Monitoring Workshop: Northern Gateway Pipeline held 
an event in Prince George. I attended the workshop to keep abreast with the new development with the 
pipeline construction. The organization has to meet a number of conditions (more than 200) before they 
will be allowed to begin construction. 

Meeting with Mr. Rick Mowles, Development of Community Paramedicine: Mr. Rick Mowles came to 
discuss the new program they are embarking on and their research needs.  

UNBC is currently engaged in two searches for Research Chairs. The search committees are established 
and the process is underway. The Chairs are the Tall Wood (Wood engineering) and Growth & Yield 
(Forestry). The VP Research’s office is administering both searches and are Chaired by the VP Research. 

 

264



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 30, 2015 

Agenda Item:  10. President’s Report  

Prepared For:          In-Camera Session      X    Public Session 

Purpose:    X    Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Daniel Weeks, President  

Reviewed By:  

 

 

Material:  Verbal Report.  

 

 

 

Issue:   

 

 

 

Background:   

 

 

 

 

Motion:   

 

 
 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

265



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

 
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

 

 

Date: May 30, 2015 

Agenda Item:  11. Chancellor’s Report 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session    X     Public Session 

Purpose:  X   Information       Discussion       Seeking Direction       Approval 

Prepared By: Dr. John MacDonald, UNBC Chancellor 

Reviewed By:  

 

 

Material:  Verbal Report. 

 

 

 

Issue:   

 

 

 

Background:   

 

 

 

Motion:   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

266



UNBC Board of Governors – Agenda Item Briefing Note 

  
                              BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
AGENDA ITEM BRIEFING NOTE 
 

Date: May 30, 2015 

Agenda Item:  12. a. Change to 2015 Board Meeting Schedule 

Prepared For:       In-Camera Session    X     Public Session 

Purpose:       Information        Discussion       Seeking Direction  X     Approval 

Prepared By: Denise Nagy, Executive Assistant, UNBC Board of Governors 

Reviewed By: Daniel Weeks, President 

 

 

Material:   

 

 

 

Issue:   

 

 

 

Background:  To accommodate scheduling commitments of the President in November & December and to 

ensure the President’s availability to attend the Board Meeting, this change is requested.  

 

 

Motion: 
That, on the recommendation of the President, the Board of Governors of the University of Northern  

British Columbia approves the change of the November 20 & 21. 2015 Board of Governors meeting dates to  

November 13 & 14, 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation Approved:       Not Approved:       Date:  

 

Remarks/Next Steps:  

267


	6.f. Debt Schedule Report.pdf
	Schedule

	6.f. Debt Schedule Report.pdf
	Schedule

	6. l. UNBC draft fs for approval (2).pdf
	Cover Page 15 v2
	University of Northern British Columbia
	Consolidated Financial Statements
	Table of Contents



	2015-05-30- Auditor's report- FINAL DRAFT
	UNBC PSAB format March 31 2015 v 5.pdf
	Financial Position
	Operations
	Net Assets
	Cash Flows

	UNBC Notes Mar 2015 v2.pdf
	(a) Basis of accounting:

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	6. j . 2015 2016 Financial Overview and Budget Framework 6 2 Board of Governors.pdf
	1.1. A time of transition after 25 years
	1.2. Environmental scan
	1.3. New planning models and processes
	1.4. UNBC finances
	1.4.1. Actual expenditures greater than budgeted expenditures
	1.4.2. Accumulated surplus
	1.4.3. Structural versus one-time source of surplus or deficit
	1.4.4. The need for and value of three year projections
	1.4.5. Primary variables that influence a financial plan over three years
	1.4.6. Changes to financial planning presentation – A comprehensive view

	1.5. Concluding observations on the state of UNBC finances
	2. Part 2:  2015/16 Initiatives
	2.1. Student success
	2.2. Innovation – in programs and operations

	3. Part 3: 2015/16 Budget Framework and Three Year Plan
	3.1. Comprehensive financial operations
	3.2. Resource allocation recommendation and fund information
	3.3. Consolidated general operating budget
	3.3.1. Planning assumptions
	3.3.2. Unadjusted three year budget projections
	3.3.2.1. Revenue projections (as per Table 5)
	3.3.2.2. Expenditure projections (details of Table 5)


	3.4. Operating and revenue adjustment plan
	3.4.1. 2015/2016 proposed budget and two year projections

	3.5. One time funding allocations
	3.6. Sponsored Research
	3.7. Ancillary budgets
	3.7.1. Ancillary departments
	3.7.1.1. Residence
	3.7.1.5. Retail Services
	3.7.1.6.  Central Services

	3.7.2. Northern Sport Centre
	3.7.3. Parking and Security
	3.7.4. English Language Studies

	3.8. Specific Purpose and Endowment Funds
	3.9. Conclusion





